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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS B BB =

Changes
2023 2%
HK$'m %
B &8 =
Loss for the Year Attributable to KAalEBEANEEER
Owners of the Company &5 18 (756.7) (947 .4) (20.1%)
Net Assets FEE 2,634.8 3,486.4 (24.4%)
Total Assets BEBE 7,059.2 7,771 (9.2%)
Equity Attributable to Owners of the  ANA R B A FE(G A% 42
Company 2,323.6 3,119.8 (25.5%)
Cash and Bank Balances R RIRTTHER 4.9 57.3 (91.4%)
Changes
2024 2023 2%
Key Performance and Liquidity FEHEBEREAR HK$ HK$ %
Indicators B EARRIER B BT Bt
Basic Loss Per Share (Note 1) EBlRENEEBFT1) (0.3283) (0.4111) (20.1%)
Net Assets Per Share (Note 1) BREEFEMN L) 1.01 1.35 (25.5%)
Return on Capital Employed (Note 2)  RAN[EI 3R K (f/:£2) (32.57%) (30.37%) 7.2%
Return on Total Assets (Note 3) BEERNRE (KiF3) (10.72%) (12.19%) (12.1%)
Gearing Ratio (Note 4) BELLE (fazt4) 148.30% 113.85% 30.3%
Adjusted Gearing Ratio (Note 5) KRR EEL R (KE5) 148.08% 112.01% 32.2%
Current Ratio (Note 6) mENL X (it 6) 0.67x 0.81x (17.3%)
Interest Coverage (Note 7) FMEBRNEBZ7) (0.76x) (1.81x) (58.0%)

Notes:

Hret

1.

Based on 2,304,849,611 shares issued and fully paid as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 2,304,849,611 shares) and the market
closing price as at 31 December 2024 of HK$0.088 (2023:
HK$0.138) per share. Net assets per share is calculated as net
assets attributable to owners of the Company over number of
shares issued and fully paid.

2. Calculated as loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company over equity attributable to owners of the Company.

3. Calculated as loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company over total assets.

4. Calculated as total borrowings over equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

5. Calculated as net borrowings (Total borrowings net of cash and
bank balances) over equity attributable to owners of the Company.

6. Calculated as current assets over current liabilities.

7.

Calculated as loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company before finance costs and taxation over finance costs.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA
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CORPORATE INFORMATION ¥ & ¥

Board of Directors

The composition of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”)
of Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited (“Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) during the year ended
31 December 2024 (“Year 2024”) and as at the date of this annual
report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Zhang Wenguang (appointed as an executive Director and a Co-
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 July 2024 and 1
January 2025, respectively)

Chen Yongcun (resigned as a Co-Chief Executive Officer and re-
designated as a non-executive Director with effect from 1
January 2025)

Luo Zhihai (resigned with effect from 1 July 2024)

Tang Lunfei (resigned with effect from 10 September 2024)

Weng Jian

Ku Ka Lee (appointed with effect from 10 September 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Chen Yongcun (re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director with effect from 1 January 2025)

Chen Zhiwei

Independent non-executive Directors

Liang Qing

Zhang Lu

Hung Muk Ming

Audit Committee
Hung Muk Ming (Committee Chairman)

Liang Qing
Zhang Lu

Remuneration Committee

Zhang Lu (Committee Chairman)

Liang Qing

Luo Zhihai (resigned with effect from 1 July 2024)

Zhang Wenguang (appointed with effect from 1 July 2024)
Nomination Committee

Chu Hing Tsung (Committee Chairman)

Zhang Lu
Hung Muk Ming

Company Secretary

Ng Hoi Leung, Leo

Exg
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CORPORATE INFORMATION ¥ & ¥

Company Lawyers

LCH Lawyers LLP

Auditor

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

(Tel: 29801333  Fax: 28108185)

Registered Office

Suite 4013B, 40th Floor,

Office Tower, Convention Plaza,

1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(Tel: 28023606 Fax: 28029506)
Company Website
http://www.silvergrant.com.cn

Stock Code

171
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$756,743,000 for Year 2024, as
compared with that of approximately HK$947,409,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year 2023”). Basic loss per
share of the Company was 32.83 HK cents for Year 2024 (Year
20283: 41.11 HK cents).

Looking back on 2024, the global economy had experienced a
moderate recovery, with a resurgence in the volume of global
goods trade. However, the ongoing escalation of geopolitical
conflicts and the rise of trade protectionism had introduced
various uncertainties, making the path to recovery fraught with
challenges. As global inflation generally declined, major central
banks commenced a cycle of interest rate cuts. The European
Central Bank lowered rates four times during the year under
review, resulting in a total reduction of 100 basis points, while the
Federal Reserve implemented three more rate cuts, totalling 100
basis points. Concemns regarding trade policy adjustments under
the Trump administration had led the markets to anticipate a
potential rebound in inflation, which might slow the pace of further
rate cuts. In an effort to stimulate the economy, the People’s
Bank of China had cut rates three times and reduced reserve
requirements twice during the year under review, yet the inflation
rate, as measured by the year-on-year change in the consumer
price index, was only a modest 0.2%. Based on the government’s
assessment, the economic situation in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”, “Chinese Mainland” or “Mainland China”) was
characterised by insufficient domestic demand, transitional
pains in the shift from old to new growth drivers, and significant
operational difficulties faced by certain enterprises. Nevertheless,
China’s gross domestic product (GDP) reached RMB134.9 trillion
in 2024, surpassing the amount of RMB130 trillion for the first
time, and solidifying its position as the second largest economy
in the world. In light of the rapidly evolving global landscape, the
Chinese government is committed to its “dual carbon” goals by
accelerating the development of a new energy system and a
modern power grid, striving for initiatives for renewable energy
alternatives, and supporting research and development (“R&D”)
of key technologies within the new energy sector and the creation
of application scenarios, so as to establish and reinforce its
competitive edge.

E¥ e
REBR2024FES AR AIHEE AEML

&5 18 £ 756,743,000 7T+ M # &= 2023 F
12A31BIEFE ([2023F [F]) BI & 15 4
947,409,000 JT ° 2024 F [Z KA A 7 A
ANEE 5 32.83 8l (2023 F /% : 41.117810) -

[l B 2024 F - tH RACERFER - 2IKEY
ZH5EMERE  BRMEBAERNES
Bl BOIREXBZNHBATRTHEEZD
EM  FEREMRTIR BEE2IR
IRBBTIT TERTHEARTEEEE - B
MRITREEFENRMEE 25T 2100
A2 - EHHE =K% E 251002 -
M AL BRAE SBCRAENEEFEM
STEEAmAR K F ok R 58 - PE B AR SR -
BTRBEE  dEARRITREBEFER
B3R -BE2XR BBEXRZRERBEEE
I RA B RE0.2% » ERBFHN DT
FEEERABEERANERERIR  HE
Bt EBREEREE o ELEELERE
BZ - @EML 2024FpEARKLME
([REISK[PREAM]) & ERSED AR
13498 B  BREBARBI0EET -
KEREREBE2XE - -BHREZ
AMBEBREE  PRBARSHETE Ek] B
2 MREEFAERERNFLNENRSR
MR KNERIBEERERITE X
B REXBRZORMASNERSES
e 2N BERVSERLED -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In alignment with the national strategy, the Group had further
clarified its strategic planning in 2024 and decided to expand the
scale of its investments in the new energy business, with a focus
on the development, investment, and operation of new energy
projects involving photovoltaics, energy storage, and charging
stations, etc.. The photovoltaic industry in China faced a dark
period in 2024 due to severe price competition stemming from
overcapacity, leading many enterprises to fail to acquire new
orders and therefore suffer significant losses. Fortunately, at the
2024 Photovoltaic Industry Annual Conference held in December
2024, 33 companies, representing approximately 90% of the total
photovoltaic manufacturing capacity in China, signed a voluntary
production control agreement which aimed at resolving the
industry’s challenges. Within the Group’s new energy business
framework, the photovoltaic cell module project company
invested by the Company’s joint venture, 1t ;X 28 8 ¥ B R B A
R & £ A (Beijing Lingjun New Energy Technology Company
Limited*) (“Beijing Lingjun”), experienced market downturns in
2024. However, this project company has made notable progress
in technological R&D, production management and sales
management, including the breakthrough in heterojunction cells
with copper grate wire it independently developed which met its
preset targets in terms of production capacity, yield rate and
battery efficiency, further solidifying its core competitiveness.
During the year under review, the Group had put an emphasis on
distributed photovoltaic power generation projects with respect to
its new energy business investments. Two projects with an
installed capacity of approximately 1.7 megawatts (MW) in
aggregate which have been completed and put into operation,
started to generate revenue for the business. By the end of 2024,
the Group had over 40 distributed photovoltaic power generation
reserve projects, covering more than 500,000 square metres of
rooftop area, with a forecasted installed capacity exceeding
70MW. These projects encompassed rooftop resources from
schools, hospitals, docks, factories, office buildings, logistics
parks and commercial centres, laying a solid foundation for multi-
business development.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

¥(KOEE ()

JIE e B R B B - AN B 5 2024 FF R R — 45
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In terms of the traditional energy segment, in 2024, the
Company’s joint venture, /&R R (ZF M)A BR A F Zhong
Hai You Qi (Tai Zhou) Petrochemical Company Limited®) (“Zhong
Hai You Qi”), had adhered to the principle of maximising
shareholder value, focusing on its annual production and
operational targets during the year under review. By intensifying
its investment in R&D projects, Zhong Hai You Qi endeavoured to
optimise its product structure and seek growth opportunities in
sales, and put effort in accelerating the transformation of energy
conservation, carbon reduction and digitalisation. However, due
to multiple factors including fluctuations in international crude oil
prices and insufficient downstream demand in the petrochemical
industry, Zhong Hai You Qi was unable to achieve profitability in
2024,

Investments

The Group has been rooted in the investment business for
decades and has from time to time adjusted its investment
strategies in accordance with the general trends in society and
the industry. During 2024, the Group has made a good start by
fully scaling down its non-performing asset investments and asset
management businesses and focusing its internal resources on
investments covering a new energy project of “photovoltaics,
storage and charging” business. In respect of the Group’s existing
equity investment projects, the investment management team of
the Group regularly reviews the latest progress of each project
and pays attention to the market dynamics, so that each project
can be exited at an appropriate time.

The Group has made investments in certain enterprises in China
which are classified by the Group as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. As at 31 December 2024, the NT Trust
Scheme (as defined below) was the most significant financial asset
investment of the Group, the carrying value of which represented
approximately 2.0% (31 December 2023: 3.0%) of the total assets
of the Group. Further details of the NT Trust Scheme are set out
below:

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only

EROEE(E)

BRELRIRI I E - 102024F » KRR ZE
SRR MR (BN ALEERAR (THE
AR B BRR A& AR - X EEE
EREFRELELLBRES  BBMAR
MEEEA HERELCERGEBNSHIEE
FEHIB R A - DN R A A BE R AR AU AN EK
FALER - AW - AR X BB R R ERBR
B ALTETITHBERTEFZERZRE -
MR RAER 2024 FEIRAF o

RE

AEEERUEXRBHTF  THRELE
RITEANBSHER SR ERE - 102024
FRAEEE2ERBEIREERERE
EERER TRANFEREEMREER
[ RIXBOFHERBEERE BT
TR - S AKEFERERER
B AEEREEEEFKEHMEREER
MEFER BABIMEHE  SHEE
R EB IR AR

AEBEBEERETHELE THAEE
BEABUARBENEREEEHAABEN
S RLEE ° 2024412 A31 H + NT Trust
Scheme (EERWT) AREBHREAN SR
BERE HEREHAEGAEBRREEN2.0%
(2023412 A31H : 3.0%) ° B BNT Trust
Scheme 2 # — ZFBEHI AT :
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Investments (Continued)

The Group has invested RMB505,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$545,356,000) in aggregate into a trust (“NT
Trust Scheme”) managed by B R {1z 5t & R 2 5] (National Trust
Co., Ltd.*), which holds a portfolio of limited liability partnerships
investing in property development investments in Zhuozhou and
Shenyang in the PRC. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
value of the NT Trust Scheme as measured at fair value through
profit and loss, amounted to approximately HK$144,431,000 (31
December 2023: HK$230,801,000) and accounted for
approximately 2.0% (31 December 2023: 3.0%) of the total assets
of the Group. Out of the loss of approximately HK$88,057,000
(Year 2023: HK$147,287,000) recorded by the Group in the
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss for Year 2024, a loss of approximately HK$82,634,000
(Year 2023: HK$151,936,000) was attributable to the fair value
change of the NT Trust Scheme as at 31 December 2024. The
Group did not receive any distribution from the NT Trust Scheme
during Year 2024 (Year 2023: Nil). Based on the current
investment strategy of the Group, its interest in the NT Trust
Scheme is held for trading and classified as a current asset in its
consolidated statement of financial position.

The objective of the Group in relation to its investments in financial
assets is to capture returns from the appreciation of the value
of its investments and to receive income therefrom. The Board
believes that the performance of the financial asset investments
of the Group is dependent on the financial and operating
performance of the investee companies and market sentiment,
which are affected by factors such as interest rate movements,
national policies, and the performance of the major economies.
The Group will continue to adopt prudent investment principles,
closely monitor the performance of its investment portfolio, and
readjust its investment strategies as and when appropriate.
In response to the potential market volatility and economic
downturn, the Group has accelerated the realisation of its mature
investments while reducing the proportion of its medium and
long-term investments to improve its liquidity position.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

¥(KOEE ()

RE (&)

AEBE S M —HE{=5E ([ NT Trust Scheme )
A HiIE A R 505,000,00070 (F8 & R4
545,356,000 7T) %2t B REFA
RARIERE  WHABRENP RN KB
CMEERBEECBERETERHES - R
202412 A31H LA REFELHE
st A8 28 FINT Trust Scheme B BR E 1B &
#9144,431,0007% JT (202834 12 4318 :
230,801,000 7T) * WIE A& BB EELN
2.0% (2023412 A 31 H : 3.0%) ° 2024 F[Z
NEBUARBEFEEHESH T ABENE
BB E 2 AR EE BTG £88,057,000%8
7T (2023 [Z : 147,287,000 7T) 2 EEH
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BIT) BB T A FINT Trust Scheme 172 2024
F12A3MBZRAREES - R2024F & -
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Ik (2023 F & : &) - IRIBANEE B RIAVIRE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Property Leasing

The rental income from the Group’s property leasing business
during Year 2024 was approximately HK$89,421,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 7.8% as compared with
that of approximately HK$96,958,000 during Year 2023. This was
mainly due to the fact that the overall rates of the rental market in
the area and business district in which the Group’s rental property
is located have continued to decline during Year 2024, thereby
lowering the transacted rental rates of the new and renewed
tenants of the Group in Year 2024. During the year under
review, while the Group recorded a negative growth in its rental
income, its overall occupancy rate remained at a comparably
similar level as that for Year 2023. In Year 2024, the Group’s
revenue from its property leasing segment was derived from
East Gate Plaza, an investment property of the Group located
in Beijing, China, consisting of apartments, shops and offices.
In respect of apartment operation, the property management
team maintained regular follow-ups and communications with
key customer groups, and provided customised services to
enhance customer loyalty in order to stabilise the rental income.
On the other hand, the Group intended to diversify into short-
term rentals in addition to its existing long-term tenancies to
increase its operating income. In respect of commercial office
buildings operation, the Group has conducted in-depth research
and analyses of economic conditions, industrial trends, tenants
demands and characteristics of regional development to make
timely adjustments on operating strategy and service content to
align with the market change, secure existing tenants and strive
for more premium customers.

FHOpEE)
MEEE

AEEYMEREEBN2024FENHE S
WA #189,421,000/8 T + #2023 F £ 4
96,958,000 LR L 417.8% * T EEHNAE
EEEEVEMEHEREENEETSE
BEASR2024FEHET R EHAEER
2024 FEHMMBP RENBFPHKRESAM
EE -REEFE BALEEFERSUW
AR EER  EEEEEEXRME023FE
LB ERZKF - R2024FE - AEE
MERE D WK BRANE BB
TH—EAREME—RIRES  BELHE
NE AEAEBTE - BRTBTHESBA
EABKERH  MELCEEFHERRP
HRRFTHARGEER  WiRHT LR
o LEARRPHYE: Z—HH AEBE
SERARBEESHER LZ LBEREH
X% Mg nEE A TEBEEFE -
AEBEBBREAFARSOMEERLSE  1TE£8
S HPERREHEREES  REHAR
MEREERBARRIEEMSE (L - BR
BEFERF  YBHAREEEERF -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

Presidential elections in 2024 have come to an end, forming a new
global political and economic landscape. Looking ahead to 2025,
the Group will still face enormous uncertainties and challenges.
Although the adverse impact brought by changes in the external
environment may be intensified, the economic foundation of
China has remained stable, advantageous and resilient with great
potential that the supportive conditions and underlying trend
of favourable long-term outlook will likely stay unchanged. The
economy of China has shifted from rapid growth to high-quality
growth at a critical stage of development transformation. Some
traditional industries such as real estates are weakening; however,
some emerging industries such as digital economy and new
energy sectors are thriving. The Group has established a strong
foothold in the vast China market and engaged in the green and
low-carbon transformation process of China. The Group will
accelerate its establishment of a professional team to further its
expansion into the new energy business of “photovoltaics, storage
and charging” to achieve its predetermined goal, and to develop
its investments in the new energy business into its core business
and thereby a profit growth point of the Group in a progressive
manner, laying a solid foundation for the sustainable development
of the Group.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

RER A=
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 27 June 2024, the Company and Guangdong Zhuguang
Group Company Limited* (J& & 2k 3¢ & B AR A 7]) (“Guangdong
Zhuguang”), an independent third party, entered into a loan
assignment agreement (as amended and supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 22 January 2025) (“Loan
Assignment Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to sell and transfer, and Guangdong Zhuguang has
agreed to purchase from the Company all the rights, title, benefits
and interests of the Company to, in and under the loan
agreements (“Loan Agreements”) entered into between the
Company together with six of its wholly-owned subsidiaries as
lenders and a total of 54 independent third party borrowers
(including but not limited to the loans (“Loans”) with total
outstanding principal amount and interest of approximately
RMB2,201 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,429 million)
as at 31 December 2023 advanced by the Group under the Loan
Agreements and all security created thereunder) accruing thereto
from 1 January 2024 (“Loan Interest”), whereas the consideration
shall be satisfied by Guangdong Zhuguang by (i) entering into a
deed of novation to assume the obligations of East Gate (Beijing)
Property Management Co., Ltd.* (BRIR (It ) MEEIE B R R 7))
(“Beijing East Gate”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
under two entrusted loan agreements (“Entrusted Loan
Agreements”) (including but not limited to the repayment
obligation of the underlying entrusted loans (“Entrusted Loans”) in
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately
RMB1,880 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,075 million),
the release of all existing charges, guarantee and pledge of
shares, and the provision of new charge(s), guarantee and/or
pledge of shares pursuant to the requests of the entrusting party
and the lender, if required) (“Debt Novation”); and (i) assignment
of certain car parking spaces located in the Guangdong province
of the PRC (“Target Properties”), at completion of the transactions
(“Transactions”) contemplated under the Loan Assignment
Agreement (“Completion”). Completion is conditional upon and
subject to, among others, the passing by the shareholders of the
Company at an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) convened
by the Company of all necessary resolution(s) to approve the Loan
Assignment Agreement and the Transactions. At the EGM held on
28 February 2025, the Loan Assignment Agreement and the

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (Continueq)

Transactions have been approved by the shareholders of the
Company. The Transactions, if materialised, would provide a
good opportunity to the Group to substantially recover a large
portion of the outstanding amount owed to the Group under the
Loan Agreements within a foreseeable timeframe and in a
relatively short period of time, thereby minimising the uncertainty
and the credit risks associated with the Loan Interest and the
administrative costs to be incurred by the Group for collecting the
outstanding Loan Interest, and the Debt Novation would provide a
good opportunity for the Group to settle the Entrusted Loans as
the rights and liabilities of the Group under the Entrusted Loan
Agreements would be discharged.

The transfer of the Target Properties to the Group would allow the
Group to enlarge and diversify its investment properties portfolio
with high quality assets, as well as to strengthen the income base
of the Group and to generate stable cash flows to the Group.

Further details of the Loan Assignment Agreement and the
Transactions are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 27 June 2024, 31 July 2024, 30 August 2024, 30
September 2024, 31 October 2024, 31 December 2024, 22
January 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 12 February
2025.

Save for the above, the Group did not have any material
acquisition or disposal during Year 2024.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company decreased

by approximately 20.1% from approximately HK$947,409,000 for
Year 2023 to approximately HK$756,743,000 for Year 2024 and
the basic loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of

the Company decreased from 41.11 HK cents for Year 2023 to
32.83 HK cents for Year 2024, mainly due to the combined effect
as follows:

@

the decrease in the Group’s other income, gains and
losses from approximately HK$258,946,000 for Year
2023 to approximately HK$45,698,000 for Year 2024,
mainly due to the combined effect of: (i) the decrease in
the aggregate interest income accrued on an amount due
from a joint venture of the Company and the Group’s loan
receivables from approximately HK$202,694,000 for Year
2023 to approximately HK$56,538,000 for Year 2024; (ii)
the gain on the disposal of a subsidiary of the Company of
approximately HK$36,957,000 during Year 2023, which
was absent during Year 2024; and (jii) the gain on disposal
of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss of
approximately HK$1,360,000 for Year 2023, as compared
with a loss of approximately HK$25,283,000 for Year 2024;

the decrease in the fair value loss of the financial
assets at fair value through profit of loss of the Group
from approximately HK$147,287,000 for Year 2023 to
approximately HK$88,057,000 for Year 2024, mainly due to
the reduction in the fair value loss of the NT Trust Scheme
from approximately HK$151,936,000 for Year 2023 to
approximately HK$82,634,000 for Year 2024;

the decrease of the Group’s impairment of financial assets,
net, from approximately HK$489,129,000 for Year 2023
to approximately HK$102,257,000 for Year 2024, mainly
attributable to the decrease in the impairment loss provision
in the amount of approximately HK$295,049,000 made
by the Group on its loan receivables under the expected
credit loss model in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments in Year 2024;

5t %5 B B8

RNARHAEANEEEBEEH2023FE 4L
947,409,000 JT &k 2> #720.1% £ 2024 F £
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

(d)

the decrease in the administrative expenses of the Group
from approximately HK$165,030,000 for Year 2023 to
approximately HK$105,930,000 for Year 2024, mainly
attributable to (i) the cost control implemented by the Group
during Year 2024 by cutting down on the Group’s general
expenses; (i) the decrease in the Group’s consultancy, legal
and professional fees from approximately HK$38,253,000
for Year 2023 to approximately HK$20,108,000 for Year
2024, mainly due to the decrease in the consultancy and
legal fees incurred by the Group in relation to its distressed
asset portfolios in Year 2024; (iii) the streamline of the
Group’s employee structure which had successfully
reduced staff costs from approximately HK$62,814,000 for
Year 2023 to approximately HK$53,841,000 for Year 2024;
and (iv) a reversal of the provision of financial guarantee
of approximately HK$7,858,000 recorded by the Group
for Year 2024, as compared with a provision of financial
guarantee of approximately HK$4,470,000 recorded for
Year 2023;

the increase in the loss from the fair value of the investment
properties of the Group from approximately HK$63,646,000
for Year 2023 to approximately HK$72,301,000 for Year
2024, mainly attributable to the decrease in the fair value of
the Group’s investment property located in Beijing as at 31
December 2024, as compared with that as at 31 December
2023;

the increase in the finance costs of the Group from
approximately HK$342,422,000 for Year 2023 to
approximately HK$439,055,000 for Year 2024, mainly
due to the additional interest and related surcharges on
borrowings recorded by the Group during Year 2024; and

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

(90 the increase in the Company’s share of losses of joint
ventures from approximately HK$83,071,000 for Year 2023
to approximately HK$112,325,000 for Year 2024, primarily
attributable to the increase in the Company’s share of the
loss of Beijing Lingjun, a joint venture of the Company,
from approximately HK$14,133,000 for Year 2023 to
approximately HK$32,065,000 for Year 2024, which
was mainly caused by the initiative undertaken by Beijing
Lingjun to expand its R&D capability in photovoltaic battery
technology during Year 2024.

Revenue

Rental income of the Group for Year 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$89,421,000 (Year 2023: HK$96,958,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 7.8%, which was
mainly due to the decrease in the daily unit rental rate of the rental
property of the Group in Beijing, East Gate Plaza during Year
2024.

Other income, gains and losses

The Group’s other income, gains and losses decreased from
approximately HK$258,946,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
HK$45,698,000 for Year 2024, mainly due to the combined effect
of: (i) the decrease in the aggregate interest income accrued on an
amount due from a joint venture of the Company and the Group’s
loan receivables from approximately HK$202,694,000 for Year
2023 to approximately HK$56,538,000 for Year 2024; (i) the gain
on the disposal of a subsidiary of the Company of approximately
HK$36,957,000 during Year 2023, which was absent during Year
2024; and (jii) the gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss of approximately HK$1,360,000 for Year
2023, as compared with a loss of approximately HK$25,283,000
for Year 2024.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets, net

The Group’s impairment of financial assets, net, decreased from
approximately HK$489,129,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
HK$102,257,000 for Year 2024, mainly attributable to the
decrease in the impairment loss provision in the amount of
approximately HK$295,049,000 made by the Group on its loan
receivables under the expected credit loss model in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments in Year 2024.

Change in fair value of investment properties

The loss from the fair value of the investment properties of the
Group increased from approximately HK$63,646,000 for Year
2023 to approximately HK$72,301,000 for Year 2024, mainly
attributable to the decrease in the fair value of the Group’s
investment property located in Beijing as at 31 December 2024,
as compared with that as at 31 December 2023.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased from approximately
HK$342,422,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
HK$439,055,000 for Year 2024, mainly due to the additional
interest and related surcharges on borrowings recorded by the
Group during Year 2024.

Share of losses of joint ventures

The Company’s share of losses of joint ventures increased from
approximately HK$83,071,000 for Year 2023 to approximately
HK$112,325,000 for Year 2024, primarily attributable to the
increase in the Company’s share of the loss of Beijing Lingjun, a
joint venture of the Company, from approximately HK$14,133,000
for Year 2023 to approximately HK$32,065,000 for Year 2024,
mainly due to the initiative undertaken by Beijing Lingjun to
expand its R&D capability in photovoltaic battery technology
during Year 2024.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Accrued charges, rental deposits and other payables

The Group’s accrued charges, rental deposits and other payables
increased from approximately HK$419,184,000 as at 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$701,960,000 as at 31
December 2024, mainly attributable to the increase in the amount
of interest payable accrued by the Group as at 31 December
2024 as compared with that as at 31 December 2023, as a result
of the interest expenses accrued by the Group on the entrusted
loans in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
approximately RMB1,880 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,075 million) owed by East Gate (Beijing) Property
Management Co., Ltd.* (R (It )W EEEER 2 7)) (“Beijing
East Gate”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which
shall be assumed by Guangdong Zhuguang Group Company
Limited* (EER KX £ B AR A7) (“Guangdong Zhuguang’), an
independent third party, as partial settlement of the consideration
for the rights, title, benefits and interests of the Company, in and
under the loan agreements entered into between the Company
together with six of its wholly-owned subsidiaries as lenders and a
total of 54 independent third party borrowers (including but not
limited to the loans with total outstanding principal amount and
interest of approximately RMB2,201 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,429 million) as at 31 December 2023
advanced by the Group under such loan agreements and all
security created thereunder) accruing thereto from 1 January
2024, pursuant to the loan assignment agreement (as amended
and supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated 22
January 2025) entered into between the Company and
Guangdong Zhuguang on 27 June 2024.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy under which the
Group keeps its investment costs under control and manages the
returns of its investments efficiently. The Group has guidelines in
place to monitor and control its investment risk exposure and to
manage its capital. The Group also strives to reduce its exposure
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. The Board
closely reviews the Group’s liquidity position to ensure the Group
has adequate liquidity to meet its funding requirements at all
times.

Cash Position

B BUR

AEBERBRT ZEBEEK - B AEE
—HERARENA  UBMEEAERED
W AKEDAERS  EEREEEAE
R RERBREEREEER KEBTHEE
EITRE Zfﬁ:ﬂﬁ&ﬂf‘iﬁgﬁz/ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂ :
BAORIFIERZEERR EFSEUE
?EZK%@Z?FEJJ%&HK/R ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&;‘%EE
MR ERHERHRBDECERNEESHRK

BEMRR

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Restricted bank balances ZRFIRIT 4 84 8,518 -
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHE S 4,908 57,333
Total B 13,426 57,333
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances R2024F 12 A31H AEBE 2R & MIETT
were denominated in the following currencies: HEARIR T EERE -

| 2024 2023
HKS BT 26.3% 5.0%
RVB AR 73.4% 94.7%
us$ ETT 0.3% 0.3%
100.0% 100.0%

The Group conducted its business almost exclusively in RMB BETFTRGUAETRET ((E7T]) ETH

except that certain transactions were conducted in HK$ and
United Sates dollars (“US$”). The conversion of RMB into HKS,
US$ or other foreign currencies has been based on the rates set
by the People’s Bank of China. The value of RMB against HKS,
US$ and other foreign currencies may fluctuate and is affected
by factors such as changes in the PRC’s political and economic
conditions. The Group has not adopted any financial instruments
for hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly assess
the foreign exchange risk it encounters so as to decide on the
hedging policy required against the possible foreign exchange risk
that may arise.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total borrowings

amounted to approximately HK$3,445,720,000 in aggregate. The
composition of these borrowings is summarised below:

EEBEK E)
BEELRMER
MR2024%F 12 A31H  NEB 2 ERAEY

753,445,720,0008 7T © 3% & 18 s A9 4H Ak B i
LUl

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Short term borrowings g HAfE X 3,411,554 3,485,049
Long term borrowings RHEER 34,166 66,887
Total borrowings BRAETE 3,445,720 3,551,936
Cash and bank balances Be MBTES 4,908 57,333
Net borrowings BREEE 3,440,812 3,494,603

Interests for all borrowings of the Group for Year 2024 were
charged at fixed and floating rates ranging from 3.7% per annum
to 27.6% per annum (Year 2023: 3.7% per annum to 12.0% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2024, the long and short term borrowings of
the Group which remained outstanding were denominated in the
following currencies:

2024 F & - REBABRZFBEHZMN
BEERFBFEAE  NTFFEMEITHEF
MF27.6% (2023 F [ : FMEI7%ZEFF|
£ 12.0%) °

MR2024F 128318 AEBHAEEZER
BN EHE IR THEEETE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

RVB ARE 3,445,720 3,551,936
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings (Continued)
As at 31 December 2024, the long and short term borrowings

of the Group which remained outstanding carried at fixed and
floating interest rates as follows:

BEEBEK (E)
BEESRERE)
MR2024F 12831 AEBHAEEZ R

IR S BB IR EE M B M ERE BN AR
L

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET

Fixed interest rates & & FI| & 1,406,758 1,456,876
Floating interest rates FE)FIE 2,038,962 2,095,060
3,445,720 3,551,936

As at 31 December 2024, the maturity profile of the long and
short term borrowings of the Group was as follows:

R2024F 12 A31H  AEE KRB NG HE
MEEIE R ¢

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Bank loans repayable: JEEERITER
Within one year or on demand —FANIZRELK 142,979 161,700
In the second year EF - 33,775
142,979 195,475

Other loans repayable: JEEEEMEN
Within one year or on demand —FANIRELK 3,268,575 3,323,349
In the second year F_F 334 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFERT (BREEMT) 33,520 33,112
Over five years sy 312 -
3,302,741 3,356,461
3,445,720 3,551,936
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (calculated as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, over equity attributable to
owners of the Company) and the current ratio (calculated as
current assets over current liabilities) of the Group were 148% (31
December 2023: 114%) and 0.67x (31 December 2023: 0.8x)
respectively. These ratios are key performance indicators used
by the management of the Group to measure the Group’s level of
leverage to ensure the Group has the liquidity to meet its financial
obligations at all times. The Group will strive to improve its liquidity
by expediting the collection and/or disposal of its outstanding
loan receivables and the disposal of its financial asset investments
(including its equity investments and non-performing assets
portfolio).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$5 million and the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$3,412 million are due to be repaid
within 12 months from the end of the reporting period, including (i)
borrowing of approximately HK$2,215 million which has not been
repaid according to the scheduled repayment date before the
end of the reporting period; and (i) borrowings of approximately
HK$1,037 million with original maturity dates of over one year
from the end of the reporting period which have been reclassified
to current liabilities due to the delay in the payment of interest
of certain borrowings before the end of the reporting period.
In June 2024, a court order in the Chinese Mainland has been
issued to freeze certain bank balances and other assets of the
Group due to the non-payment of an overdue other borrowing
with an outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$191
million (“Overdue Other Borrowing”). Up to the date of approval of
this report, except for the Overdue Other Borrowing, the Group
has not received any demand for immediate repayment of its
bank and other borrowings. The Group has been actively liaising
with the lender for settlement of the court order in relation to
the Overdue Other Borrowing and negotiating with the relevant
lenders for extension of the repayment date of certain of the
aforesaid borrowings. The Directors are of the view that the frozen
assets do not have material impact on the Group’s financial
position and operation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings (Continued)

As disclosed in the paragraph headed “Material Acquisitions
and Disposals” above in this Chairman’s Statement, on 27 June
2024, the Company and Guangdong Zhuguang entered into the
Loan Assignment Agreement, the completion of the transactions
contemplated thereunder would allow the Group to (i) substantially
recover a large portion of the outstanding amount owed to the
Group under the Loan Agreements within a foreseeable timeframe
and in a relatively short period of time, thereby minimising the
uncertainty and the credit risks associated with the Loan Interest
and the administrative costs to be incurred by the Group for
collecting the outstanding Loan Interest; (i) settle the Entrusted
Loans as the rights and liabilities of the Group under the Entrusted
Loan Agreements would be discharged; and (i) enlarge and
diversify its investment properties portfolio with high quality
assets, strengthen its income base and generate stable cash
flows through the transfer of the Target Properties to the Group.

Further details of the Loan Assignment Agreement and the
Transactions are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 27 June 2024, 31 July 2024, 30 August 2024, 30
September 2024, 31 October 2024, 31 December 2024 and 22
January 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 12 February
2025.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings (Continued)

In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the Group’s future liquidity requirements,
operating performance and available sources of financing in
assessing the Group’s ability to continue operating as a going
concern. The following plans and measures are formulated to
manage the working capital and improve the financial position of
the Group:

(i) the Group will continue to implement measures for the
disposal of the outstanding loan receivables and loan
interest receivables;

(i) the Group will continue to take measures to expedite the
disposal of the financial asset investments, including equity
investments and non-performing assets portfolio;

(i) the Group will continue its negotiations with the lenders
of certain bank and other borrowings or other financial
institutions on the refinancing of the borrowings; and

(iv)  the Group will obtain additional credit facilities from existing
and other lenders as and when needed.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

TREASURY POLICY (Continued)
Working Capital and Borrowings (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, which cover a period of not
less than 12 months from 31 December 2024. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within 12 months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a
going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern would depend on (i) the successful and timely
implementation of the plans and measures for the disposal of the
outstanding loan receivables and loan interest receivables; (i) the
successful and timely implementation of the plans for the disposal
of the financial asset investments; (iii) the continual support from
the existing lenders of the Group such that they will not demand
for immediate repayment of the relevant borrowings; and (iv) the
successful obtaining of new sources of financing as and when
needed.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned
plans and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

GRANT OF LOANS

The Group has granted loans to persons who were introduced by
the management of the Group, taking into account that the grant
of the loans would provide interest income to the Group, which
would bring better returns to the Group than bank deposits, in
the absence of good investment opportunities with high returns,
and broaden the income base of the Group. However, taking
into consideration the current difficult economic conditions in the
Mainland and the global markets, the Group does not intend to
grant any further loans save for the loans and advances which
may be made to the Company’s associates or business partners.

Before granting the loans, the Group performed the following
credit risk assessment:

(i) understanding the background of the borrower, including its
entity type, place of registration and nature of business;

(i)  assessing the credit worthiness, reputation and credit
history of the borrower etc.;

(i) performing public search to collate information about the
borrower, such as checking the borrower’s details in the
“National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System” in
the PRC;

(iv)  obtaining the financial information of the borrower, such as
its financial statements;

(v)  understanding the source of repayment from the borrower
for assessing the repayment ability of the borrower; and

(vi) if security is required to be provided, reviewing the
adequacy of the securities and performing due diligence on
the securities such as conducting property public search.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)

After the grant of the loans, the Group has designated officers of
its Financial Management Centre to monitor the repayment of the
loans on the maturity dates. If there is any delay in the repayment
of the loans, the designated officers will make telephone calls
and/or send letters or messages to the borrowers in default to
demand for repayment; and negotiate with the relevant borrowers
for the repayment or settlement of the loans.

The Group may also engage lawyers to advise and/or assist in
the recovery of the loans such as issuing demand letters to the
borrowers in default, demanding for repayment of the outstanding
amounts owed to the Group, and commencing legal actions
against the relevant borrowers.

The Group will review and enhance its measures on the collection
of loans and receivables to improve its loan recovery efficiency
and financial resources.

Loan receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the outstanding
loan receivables of the Group (“Relevant Loan Receivables”)
amounted to approximately HK$1,770,209,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,894,369,000), approximately HK$78,000,000 (before
loss allowance) (31 December 2023: HK$156,000,000) of which
were guaranteed. The Relevant Loan Receivables had fixed terms
ranging from 2 months to 2 years (2023: 2 months to 2 years),
with interest being charged at rates ranging from between 4.75%
per annum to 20% per annum (2023: 4.75% per annum to 20%
per annum).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)

The Relevant Loan Receivables were granted to 56 corporate
borrowers with business operations in China. Most of them are
companies established in China. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s gross loan receivables amounted to approximately
HK$2,235,818,000 (31 December 2023: HK$2,352,282,000),
out of which approximately HK$215,983,000 (31 December
2023: HK$220,751,000) (representing approximately 9.7%
(31 December 2023: 9.4%) of the total gross loan receivables
of the Group) was due from the largest borrower of the Group
and approximately HK$496,783,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$579,551,000) (representing approximately 22.2% (31
December 2023: 24.6%) of the total gross loan receivables of the
Group) was due from the five largest borrowers of the Group. All
of the borrowers of the loans are independent of the Company
and its connected persons (as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)).

An ageing analysis of the Group’s loan receivables (net of loss
allowance for the loan receivables) based on the initial loan
commencement dates as set out in the relevant loan agreements
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the Group’s loan receivables (net of loss

allowance for the loan receivables) based on the loan maturity
dates as set out in the relevant loan agreements is as follows:
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2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Not yet past due 1] 7% 81 2 - 92,692
Past due: AH -

0 - 90 days 0-90H 93,082 -

91 — 180 days 91-180H - 253,935

181 — 365 days 181 -365 A - -

Over 365 days 3@ 365 H 1,677,127 1,547,742

1,770,209 1,894,369

The COVID-19 pandemic had taken a toll on the financial
performance and conditions of the relevant borrowers, and in turn
their ability to repay the Relevant Loan Receivables. Due to the
sluggish global economy, the strained Sino-US relations and the
lack of investor confidence, post-pandemic economic recovery in
China was slow and had further weakened the financial conditions
of the borrowers of the Relevant Loan Receivables who were
engaged in businesses operating in China, and thus their ability
to repay the Relevant Loan Receivables. During Year 2023, the
borrowers of the Relevant Loan Receivables indicated to the
Group that they were unable to repay the loans on the original
maturity dates and proposed to the Group that they would settle
the outstanding amounts by instalments (except for the borrowers
of two loans) and requested the Group not to take legal action
against them. Taking into consideration the time and costs
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

required to recover the Relevant Loan Receivables through legal
actions and the financial conditions of the relevant borrowers,
the Group considered that the repayment plans proposed by
the relevant borrowers would be a better option in terms of the
interest of the Group and no legal action had been taken by the
Group. The Group had not entered into any agreement with
the relevant borrowers in respect of the repayment proposals
mentioned above, to the extent that the Group could reserve
its right to take legal action against the relevant borrowers at
any time. Throughout Year 2024, the Group had continued to
take actions to recover the Relevant Loan Receivables from the
relevant borrowers based on the proposed repayment plans, with
follow-up actions, such as the issue of demand letters, taken
when necessary. As at 31 December 2024, all of the Relevant
Loan Receivables were overdue.

In light of the prevailing challenging economic environment and
the weak repayment ability of the borrowers, the Group had
entered into the Loan Assignment Agreement with Guangdong
Zhuguang on 27 June 2024 to sell and transfer the Loan Interest
(which comprised 54 of the Relevant Loan Receivables with
total outstanding principal amount and interest of approximately
RMB2,201 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,249
million) as at 31 December 2023) to Guangdong Zhuguang, for
consideration which shall be satisfied by Guangdong Zhuguang
with the assumption of the obligations of the Group under the
Entrusted Loan Agreements and the transfer of the Target
Properties to the Group at completion of the transactions
contemplated under the Loan Assignment Agreement, which
would speed up the substantial recovery of a large portion of
the Relevant Loan Receivables. Further details of the Loan
Assignment Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Material
Acquisitions and Disposals” above in this Chairman’s Statement.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Impairment loss

The Group recorded a provision for impairment loss on the
Relevant Loan Receivables of approximately HK$15,151,000 (Year
2023: HK$310,200,000) for Year 2024, which had been assessed
by an independent qualified professional valuer (“Valuer”) based
on the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”) 9 Financial
Instruments, using the general approach.

The measurement of ECL under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
for the Relevant Loan Receivables requires judgement on, in
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining impairment losses and the assessment of
any significant increase in credit risk. There estimates are driven
by a number of factors, where the change of the factors which
result in different levels of allowances, a lower/higher impairment
loss may arise. The Group uses its credit loss experience,
repayment history and financial position of the Group’s debtors
and their guarantors (if any) and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions to estimate
the probability of default (based on probability of default sourced
from Moody’s average cumulative issuer-weighted global default
rates), the loss given default (based on recovery rate from
Moody’s average senior unsecured bond recovery rates) and the
impact on the forward-looking information (including the historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables, like the GDP
of China and the credit default spread of China’s sovereign bond
and annual credit loss rate sourced from Moody’s). Provision
involving historical data and qualitative input will be made in the
ECL assessment of particular loan receivables when the Group
acknowledges potential loss or financial difficulties of certain
borrowers. On each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures
since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring
over the expected life between the reporting date and the date of
initial recognition. The Group considers reasonable, supportable
and available information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative
and qualitative information and also forward-looking analysis.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)

The Group categorises the credit quality of the Relevant Loan
Receivables according to 3 different stages under the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs;

Stage 2: financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs; and

Stage 3: financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

The value of significant inputs/assumptions adopted in the
ECL assessment of the Related Loan Receivables included the
following:

(@ ECL staging classifications of the Relevant Loan
Receivables;

(b)  outstanding balance of the Relevant Loan Receivables at
the end of the reporting period;

(c) loan start date and loan end date of the Relevant Loan
Receivables;

(d) expected timing and repayment amount of the Relevant
Loan Receivables;

(e) industry group/credit rating of the borrower of each Relevant
Loan Receivable;
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)

(M) probability of default (range from 2.4% to 43.0%) based on
Moody’s rating/industry group of each borrower;

(@ loss given default (range from 53.3% to 63.6%) based on
Moody’s rating/industry group of each borrower; and

(h)  impact of forward-looking information.

Save for the changes in the value of significant inputs resulting
from the change in the credit quality of the Relevant Loan
Receivables in Year 2024, there were no significant changes in
the value of significant inputs/assumptions and method used in
the ECL assessment of the Relevant Loan Receivables for Year
2024 from those used in that for Year 2023.

In light of the deterioration in the credit quality of the Relevant
Loan Receivables, the amount of the Relevant Loan Receivables
the credit quality of which had been categorised into stage
2 and stage 3 under the ECL model increased in Year 2024,
resulting in the Group recording an impairment loss for ECL on
the Relevant Loan Receivables of approximately HK$15,151,000
for Year 2024, as compared with the impairment loss for ECL of
approximately HK$310,200,000 recorded for the Relevant Loan
Receivables for Year 2023. Details of the accounting policies
in relation to the impairment of financial assets (including loan
receivables), the impairment assessment, and the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the loan receivables of the
Group are set out in Notes 2.4, 19 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Formation of special investigation committee

On 18 March 2024, an independent special investigation
committee (“Special Investigation Committee”), initially comprising
Mr. Hung Muk Ming as chairman, Mr. Liang Qing and Mr. Zhang
Lu as members, being all independent non-executive Directors,
has been established pursuant to a resolution of the Board passed
on 18 March 2024 for the purposes of, among other things,
investigating on various matters and events relating to the Loan
Agreements, in particular, their approval process, the background
information of the related borrowers (“Borrowers”), the commercial
rationale for entering into the Loan Agreements and the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group in relation
to the approval of the Loan Agreements and the collection of all
the rights, title, benefits and interests of the Company to, in and
under the Loan Agreements (including but not limited to the Loan
Interest). Pursuant to the joint statement (“Joint Statement”) issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission and the Accounting
and Financial Reporting Council on 13 July 2023 in relation to
loans, advances, prepayments and similar arrangements made by
listed issuers, directors of listed issuers should “critically assess
the commercial rationale for granting loans and ensure that loans
are being granted for reasons and on terms that are beneficial for
the company as a whole” and auditors of listed issuers should
carry out audit procedures in respect of loans, including but
not limited to critically evaluate the commercial rationale for the
loans and inspect evidence of credit assessments, due diligence
procedures and proper approvals. As the Company’s then auditor
could not ascertain the commercial rationale of the transactions
contemplated under the Loan Agreements and the relationship
between the Group and the Borrowers based on the results of the
audit procedures performed in respect of the audit of the Group
for Year 2023, the Company’s then auditor recommended to the
audit committee of the Company that an independent review on
the Loan Agreements and the Loan Interest should be conducted
to ascertain the said matters, and thus the Special Investigation
Committee has been established.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE#H &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Formation of special investigation committee (Continueq)

On 18 March 2024, the Special Investigation Committee
appointed a leading global professional services firm specialising
in forensic accounting and investigations (“Investigation Agency”)
to assist in conducting independent investigation into the Loan
Agreements (“Investigation”). At the same time, the Special
Investigation Committee appointed an independent third-party
law firm (“Independent Legal Adviser”) to instruct the Investigation
Agency and to provide independent legal support to the Special
Investigation Committee in respect of the investigation, if
necessary.

The establishment of the Special Investigation Committee and the
commencement of the Investigation on the Loan Agreements and
the Loan Interest are not due to any potential fraud nor dishonest
acts discovered but purely voluntary initiatives taken by the Board
in response to the Joint Statement and also the recommendation
of the Company’s then auditor. In view of the urgency and
importance of the review, the Company has voluntarily enhanced
the level of review to a forensic investigation.

On 11 December 2024, the Investigation Agency issued the
report of the Investigation. The key findings of the Investigation
include: (i) it appears that most of the Borrowers do not have any
substantial operations and their reasons for obtaining the Loans
from the Group are unclear; (ii) having taking into consideration
that (a) all of the Loans were unsecured and without any
collaterals; and (b) the credit assessment reports provided by
the Group’s management team failed to provide a reasonable
assessment of the Borrowers, the purpose of the Loans and
the Borrowers’ repayment ability, the Investigation Agency is
of the view that, from an objective perspective, it appears that
there is insufficient commercial justification for the provision of
the Loans by the Group; (i) based on the findings set out in (i)
and (i) above, the Investigation Agency concluded that from the
perspective of a reasonable lender who conducts transactions on
an arm’s-length basis, it has not found sufficient basis to prove
that the provision of Loans by the Group to the Borrowers has
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Formation of special investigation committee (Continueq)

reasonable and sufficient commercial rationale; (iv) the Group’s
assessment of the Borrowers’ repayment ability and recovery
risk, the information collection of the Group during the due
diligence process and the record keeping of the Group on the risk
assessment of the Borrowers were insufficient; and (v) the Group
failed to maintain sound internal controls to monitor the provision
of its loan process. Further details of the Investigation and its key
findings are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
27 December 2024.

Proposed disposal of Loan Interest

On 18 March 2024, the Company and Guangdong Zhuguang
entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”), pursuant
to which the Company intended to sell, and Guangdong Zhuguang
intended to acquire, the Loan Interest, at the consideration of
RMB2,200 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,428 million),
which shall be settled by Guangdong Zhuguang by way of (i) entry
into a deed of novation to assume the obligations of a subsidiary
of the Company under two entrusted loan agreements (including
but not limited to the repayment obligation of the underlying
entrusted loans in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
RMB1,880 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,075 million)
and the interest accrued thereon), the release of all existing
charges, guarantee and pledge of shares, and the provision of
new charge(s), guarantee and/or pledge of shares pursuant to
the requests of the entrusting party and the lender, if required;
and (i) the assignment of certain properties located in the PRC by
Guangdong Zhuguang to the Company.

Further information on the MOU is set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 18 March 2024 and 19 March 2024.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

GRANT OF LOANS (Continued)
Proposed disposal of Loan Interest (Continued)

As disclosed in the paragraph headed “Material Acquisitions
and Disposals” above in this Chairman’s Statement, on 27 June
2024, the Company and Guangdong Zhuguang entered into the
Loan Assignment Agreement, the completion of the transactions
contemplated thereunder would allow the Group to (i) substantially
recover a large portion of the outstanding amount owed to the
Group under the Loan Agreements within a foreseeable timeframe
and in a relatively short period of time, thereby minimising the
uncertainty and the credit risks associated with the Loan Interest
and the administrative costs to be incurred by the Group for
collecting the outstanding Loan Interest; (i) settle the Entrusted
Loans as the rights and liabilities of the Group under the Entrusted
Loan Agreements would be discharged; and (i) enlarge and
diversify its investment properties portfolio with high quality
assets, strengthen its income base and generate stable cash
flows through the transfer of the Target Properties to the Group.

Further details of the Loan Assignment Agreement and the
Transactions are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 27 June 2024, 31 July 2024, 30 August 2024, 30
September 2024, 31 October 2024, 31 December 2024 and 22
January 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 12 February
2025.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain investment properties,
and plant and machinery of the Group with aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$1,963,283,000 and
approximately HK$2,523,000 respectively (31 December 2023:
HK$2,078,366,000 and Nil) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group and other payable due to
an independent third party.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital expenditures
contracted for but not provided for in respect of the purchase of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$4,204,000 (31
December 2023: Nil). It is expected that the capital expenditures
will be settled by cash through internal resources of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided corporate
guarantees of approximately HK$1,596,748,000 (31 December
2023: HK$2,839,041,000) in respect of loans granted to a joint
venture of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EH &

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the shareholders’ funds of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$796,241,000 to approximately
HK$2,323,551,000 (31 December 2023: HK$3,119,792,000),
representing a decline of approximately 25.5%. The decrease was
mainly due to the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
in Year 2024.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had in aggregate 45 employees in Hong Kong and
the PRC as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 55).
The Group’s overall staff costs amounted to approximately
HK$53,841,000 for Year 2024 (Year 2023: HK$62,814,000).
The employees of the Group are remunerated according
to their respective job nature, market conditions, individual
performance and qualifications. Other staff benefits include annual
bonus and retirement benefits. The Directors’ remuneration is
determined based on their qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities, the Company’s remuneration policy and the
prevailing market conditions.

The Group encourages sustainable training of its employees
through coaching and further studies. In-house training was
provided to eligible employees during Year 2024, including
training on updates of accounting standards and market updates.

The Group has not experienced any significant problem with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour discipline
nor has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced staff. The Group has maintained a good
relationship with its employees. Certain senior management and
staff have been working for the Group for many years.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Company aims to maximise the interests of its shareholders
(“Shareholders”) and at the same time maintaining a strong
and healthy financial position, so as to prepare the Group for
investment opportunities that may arise from time to time and
its sustainable development in the future. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board will take into account the Group’s earnings performance,
financial position, investment requirements and future prospects.
In addition, the Board will also take into account any restrictive
covenants imposed by banks and other funding facilities granted
to the Group from time to time and any other factors the Board
may deem appropriate and/or relevant.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for Year 2024 (Year 2023: Nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining a
standard of corporate governance that is consistent with market
practices. The Company complied with all the applicable code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
then in force throughout Year 2024, except for the deviations
specified below:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be the same individual. During the year under review, the
Company did not have a separate chairman and chief executive
officer as Mr. Chu Hing Tsung assumed both the roles of the
chairman and one of the co-chief executive officers of the
Company. The Board believes that vesting both the roles of the
chairman and the co-chief executive officer in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group. The Board considers that the balance of power
and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions efficiently.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (Continued)

Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting of the
Company. Mr. Chu Hing Tsung, the chairman of the Board, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 26 June 2024 (“AGM”) due to his other engagement.
Mr. Chu Hing Tsung will endeavour to attend all future annual
general meetings of the Company unless unexpected or special
circumstances prevent him from doing so.

Pursuant to Code Provision B2.4(b) of the CG Code, where all
the independent non-executive directors of an issuer have served
more than nine years on the board, the issuer should appoint
a new independent non-executive director on the board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. As at the date of the AGM,
all the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liang
Qing, Mr. Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung Muk Ming, had served more
than nine years on the Board. However, the Company was
unable to appoint a new independent non-executive Director to
the Board at the AGM as it was still in the course of identifying
a suitable candidate then. The Company will publish further
announcement(s) when the relevant appointment is made.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules then in force as its own
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in
Year 2024. All Directors have confirmed that, following specific
enquiry by the Company, they complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout Year 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During Year 2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&H &

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 February 2025, Beijing East Gate and Mr. Liu Rui (“Mr.
Liu”), an independent third party, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liu has agreed
to purchase, and Beijing East Gate has agreed to sell, a
residential property of gross area of 173.49 square metres
situated at Level 4, North Apartment Tower, East Gate Plaza, 19
Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC, at the
consideration of RMB10,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,062,000) (“February Disposal”). The February Disposal has
not been completed as at the date of this annual report. Further
details of the February Disposal are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 February 2025.

On 25 March 2025, Beijing East Gate and Hangzhou Guangyao
Zhixin Zhengze Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (Ti /N X RBEFT ER2EERA RSB
%#(BE R A #) (“Hangzhou Guangyao”) entered into (1) the first
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Hangzhou
Guangyao has agreed to purchase, and Beijing East Gate has
agreed to sell, the residential property of gross area of 173.01
square metres situated at Level 4, North Apartment Tower, East
Gate Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing,
the PRC at the consideration of RMB10,438,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$11,302,000) (“First March Disposal”); and (2)
the second sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
Hangzhou Guangyao has agreed to purchase, and Beijing East
Gate has agreed to sell, the residential property of gross area of
275.48 square metres situated at Level 4, North Apartment
Tower, East Gate Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC at the consideration of RMB16,611,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,986,000) (“Second March
Disposal”, together with the First March Disposal, the “March
Disposals”). The March Disposals have not been completed as at
the date of this annual report. Further details of the March
Disposals are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25
March 2025.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Tai Zhou Dong
Thai Petrochemical Company Limited (“Tai Zhou Dong Thai”), a
limited liability company established in the PRC and an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, signed a division
agreement (“Division Agreement”) with its minority shareholders,
which holds 31.02% equity interest of Tai Zhou Dong Thai, to
divide certain assets and liabilities of Tai Zhou Dong Thai (“TZDT
Division”). Pursuant to the Division Agreement, the completion
date of the TZDT Division is 15 February 2025 (“Completion
Date”), which is the effective date of the business registration
change. The key asset of Tai Zhou Dong Thai is a 51% equity
interest in a joint venture of the Company, Zhong Hai You Qi.
Upon the Completion Date, the Group’s effective equity interest
in Zhong Hai You Qi and Tai Zhou Dong Thai will be 35.18% and
98.69%, respectively; and the effective equity interest in Zhong
Hai You Qi owned by the Group has not changed.

Save for the February Disposal, the March Disposals and the
TZDT Division disclosed above and the Transactions disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Material Acquisitions and Disposals”
above in this Chairman’s Statement, the Group had no significant
events after the end of the year under review and up to the date
of this annual report.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £EHR &

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my appreciation
and gratitude to those resigned directors for their contribution
and service to the Group during their tenure and give my warmest
welcome to those newly appointed directors for joining our Group.
Moreover, | would like to express my appreciation and gratitude to
our shareholders for their support and all the Group’s employees
for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties and
in achieving the Group’s business goal.

On behalf of the Board
Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited

Chu Hing Tsung
Chairman, Co-Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS EEf

Executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (alias Zhu Qing Yi) (Chairman and Co-Chief
Executive Officer)

Mr. Chu, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) on 29 January
2019. He has been re-designated from a non-executive Director
to an executive Director and appointed as the chief executive
officer (“Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company and one of the
authorised representatives of the Company under Rule 3.05 of
the Listing Rules with effect from 1 August 2021. Mr. Chu has
been re-designated from the Chief Executive Officer to a co-chief
executive officer (“Co-Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company
with effect from 13 May 2022. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chu is the chairman
and an executive director of Zhuguang Holdings Group Company
Limited (“Zhuguang Holdings”), a company the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code:
1176), which is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) whose interest in the Shares falls to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”). Mr. Chu has over 20 years
of extensive experience in corporate management and property
development in the PRC.

Zhang Wenguang (Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhang, aged 56, has been appointed as an executive
president of the Company with effect from 27 September 2021,
and an executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Board with effect from 1 July 2024. He is
currently the chairman of Z= /| SR Z&= A (LB R A & (Tai Zhou Dong
Thai Petrochemical Company Limited*), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, in charge of the petrochemical
investment business of the Group. Mr. Zhang graduated from the
Jiaying University in foreign language. He has worked for the
Beijing Office of the Meizhou Municipal Government, the
Economic and Trade Bureau of Meizhou, # /1 f i {E 1R E A
a] (Meizhou Qi Xin Guarantee Investment Company*), the county
of the Meixian People’s Government, the Meixian County
Committee, the Standing Committee of the Meizhou Municipal
Committee and the United Front Work Department of the Meizhou
Municipal Committee.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS E =/

Executive Directors (Continued)
Weng Jian

Mr. Weng, aged 42, has been appointed as the assistant
president and the executive president of the Company since June
2020 and August 2021, respectively. He has also been appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 1 July 2023. Mr. Weng
is responsible for human resources, administrative management
and investment departments of the Group. He graduated from
Sun Yat-sen University with a bachelor’s degree in law and a
master’s degree in law. He previously worked in the Guangdong
Provincial Supervisory Commission and the Office of the
Guangdong Provincial Government, where he was engaged in the
management of anti-corruption, legal policy and comprehensive
administration. After resigning from public office, Mr. Weng joined
Zhuguang Holdings, which is a substantial Shareholder (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) whose interest in the Shares falls to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, and successively served as the
general manager of its President Office (Human Resources
Centre), the general manager of its Legal Affairs Centre, a member
of its Investment Decision Committee, general manager of its
Investment Centre and the chairman of its industrial real estate
sector. He is also a member of the Guangdong Youth Federation,
a standing member of the Guangdong Law Society, a deputy
director of the Legal Committee of the Guangdong Province Old
Town Old Factory Old Village Recreation Association, a practical
instructor for postgraduates of the Jinan University and an
arbitrator of the Guangzhou Arbitration Commission.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only

HITES (&)
Eof

S 4255 B2020FE6 AEZEAERR
RIBNER B EL 2021 F8 B ER T BT
HoMB2023F7 ATHBEERTANTE
ZE-FEESPEARAEBANER THEE
MBI - BERFRILKE  BUFEBE
TREBE TR c TABREBNEREE
REEE BREBNTHAE HEREH -
FRRRATREAEBESE I - BEQRK
BMAKKER(BEAETERF(TER LT
RAD BEERROPOREEARBEESR
HEEPIEXVEE2 X3P I IE M AR
AIHE) AR ECZEELEF(ANER
L) BASIE R HRLBEIE IR EREK
ZECRERBEPLBEE EEMER
RESR -ARTERESHEE BERE
FEeBE ERE-ENENRSEAEZE
CEET BEHASBIMELETREML
BINHEHEZESHEE -

. BXHBERZS

Annual Report 2024
—T_MEFER

45



46

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS EEf

Executive Directors (Continued)
Ku Ka Lee

Ms. Ku, aged 54, has been appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 10 September 2024. She studied international
trade at Hubei University in China in 1989. She subsequently
obtained a Diploma in Business Management which was jointly
organised by The Hong Kong Management Association and
Lingnan University in Hong Kong in July 2005. Ms. Ku also
completed the Licensing Examination for Securities and Futures
Intermediaries from the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute for the practising certificate for securities and asset
management in October 2013 and December 2013, respectively.
Furthermore, Ms. Ku is a member of the Canadian Institute of
Corporate Directors.

Ms. Ku has over 25 years of experience in the management and
finance sectors. She is currently the managing director of the
Investment Department of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company
Limited (“Cinda HK”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Cinda
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“China Cinda”), a company the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock codes:
01359 and 04621 (Preference Shares)), responsible for sourcing
and execution of private and secondary market transactions
valuing in excess of HK$10 billion. She joined China Cinda in 1996
and throughout her career at China Cinda, she has worked in a
variety of roles and positions. Prior to her appointment in 2018 as
the managing director of the Investment Department of Cinda HK,
Ms. Ku was an executive director of the Investment Department
of Cinda HK from March 2017 to March 2018 and prior to that, a
Senior Manager Assistant of the Investment Department of Cinda
HK from March 2016 to March 2017. While at Cinda HK, Ms. Ku
has provided corporations with financial supports through loans,
equity investments, mezzanine investments, bond investments,
initial public offerings, and additional investment opportunities
at every stage of corporate growth. Both Cinda HK and China
Cinda are substantial Shareholders (having the meaning ascribed
to it in the Listing Rules) whose interests in the Shares fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS E =/

Executive Directors (Continued)
Ku Ka Lee (Continued)

Ms. Ku was appointed as a non-executive director of Zhongchang
International Holdings Group Limited (“Zhongchang”), a company
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
code: 859), from 6 January 2021 to 14 January 2021. She has
been redesignated to an executive director of Zhongchang and
appointed as the chief executive officer of Zhongchang with effect
from 15 January 2021. Ms. Ku was a non-executive director of
SouthGobi Resources Ltd. (“SouthGobi”), a company the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 1878), from December 2020 to December 2022.

Non-executive Directors
Chen Yongcun

Mr. Chen, aged 59, was an executive Director during the period
from 25 October 2000 to 27 February 2008, and he re-joined the
Company on 1 May 2016. Mr. Chen was appointed as a Co-Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director with effect from 13
May 2022 to 31 December 2024 and from 16 September 2022
to 31 December 2024, respectively. He has been re-designated
from an executive Director to a non-executive Director with effect
from 1 January 2025. Mr. Chen has also been appointed as
the legal representative, director and general manager of East
Gate (Beijing) Property Management Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. He is responsible for the Group’s
property development and investments in Mainland China. Mr.
Chen previously worked at China Construction Bank and China
Cinda, which is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) whose interest in the Shares falls to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO. He graduated from Tsinghua University
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering and a master’s degree
in business management. He has over 20 years of experience in
finance and investment.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS E =/

Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Chen Zhiwei

Mr. Chen, aged 40, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from 29 January 2019. Mr. Chen is the
chairman and an executive director of Zhongchang. Mr. Chen
is the assistant general manager and managing director of the
investment department of Cinda HK, responsible for managing
Cinda HK’s investment and financing businesses. Cinda HK
is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing
Rules), whose interest in the Shares falls to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO. Mr. Chen graduated from Tsinghua University with
a bachelor’s degree in economics in 2004. He then graduated
from the National University of Singapore with a master’s degree
in science (estate management) in 2009. Mr. Chen was the
executive assistant to the chairman of TIG Group in Singapore
between 2007 and 2010, responsible for TIG Group’s private
equity investment business in the Greater China region. Between
2005 and 2007, Mr. Chen was a research scholar at the
National University of Singapore. Mr. Chen has over 15 years
of investment and research experience in the finance industry.
From 30 December 2016 to 23 March 2022, Mr. Chen was a
non-executive director of Modern Land. From 17 April 2018 to
11 November 2022, Mr. Chen was a non-executive director of
China Fortune Financial Group Limited (now named as GoFintech
Innovation Limited), a company the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 290).
From 13 April 2018 to 5 December 2022, Mr. Chen was a non-
executive director of SouthGobi.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS E =/

Independent Non-executive Directors
Zhang Lu

Mr. Zhang, aged 72, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 4 May 2000. He is also the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and a
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from the Sichuan
International Studies University in 1979. He was the General
Manager of Central Tanshi Money Broking Company Limited,
which is a joint venture of CITIC Trust Co., Ltd. engaged in the
money brokering business for financial institutions. From 1987 to
2000, Mr. Zhang was the executive vice president and treasurer
of CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited, responsible for both the Treasury
and International Business. From 1974 to 1987, he worked for
Bank of China and CITIC Industrial Bank. Mr. Zhang has engaged
in the banking sector for over 35 years.

Liang Qing

Mr. Liang, aged 71, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 28 February 2014. He is also a
member of the audit committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. Liang is also currently an executive director
and an independent non-executive director of Jiangxi Copper
Company Limited (“Jiangxi Copper”) (Stock code: 358) and
Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited (“Sinotruk”) (Stock code: 3808)
respectively. The H shares of Jiangxi Copper and Sinotruk are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Liang
graduated from the Beijing Open University (formerly known as
Beijing Radio and Television University) in 1985, where he studied
the Chinese language and literature. Mr. Liang was a director and
the general manager of China Minmetal H.K. (Holdings) Limited
and has now retired. Mr. Liang has abundant experience in
international trading and investment.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS E =/

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Hung Muk Ming

Mr. Hung, aged 60, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 23 December 2004. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and
a member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Hung is a Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) and is a Fellow
CPA of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
Mr. Hung received his bachelor’s degree in social sciences from
the University of Hong Kong in 1990, and a master’s degree
in corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2008. Mr. Hung has over 25 years of experience in
the accounting and audit sector. Mr. Hung was an independent
non-executive director of Century Sage Scientific Holdings
Limited, a company the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1450), from 13 June
2014 to 28 September 2021. Mr. Hung was an independent
non-executive director of Cinda International Holdings Limited, a
company the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 111) from 2 December 2008 to 30
November 2022. Mr. Hung is also an independent non-executive
director of CA Cultural Technology Group Limited (formerly known
as China Animation Characters Company Limited) (Stock code:
1566) and IBO Technology Company Limited (Stock code: 2708),
both being companies the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT & #

Ng Hoi Leung, Leo

Mr. Ng, aged 51, has been appointed as the chief financial
officer, the company secretary and an authorised representative
of the Company with effect from 17 July 2019. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Ng was the financial controller of Ping An
Securities Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 0231), and
the financial controller and the company secretary of Zhuguang
Holdings, which is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) and whose interest in the Shares falls to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, both being companies the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
was also the chief financial officer of a real estate company and a
company whose subsidiary was engaged in the media business
in the PRC. Mr. Ng has over 15 years of accounting and audit
experience. He had worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers, an
accounting firm from February 1997 to April 2010. Mr. Ng holds
a Master of Commerce from the Macquarie University in Australia
and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Certified Practising
Accountants of Australia.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 1% - 2R EA

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities with which it engages. The
Group pursues this business approach by managing its business
prudently and executing management decisions with due care
and attention.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group has maintained a continuous dialogue with its
stakeholders that include its customers, employees, regulators
and the public. The Group seeks to balance the views and
interests of these various stakeholders through constructive
conversations with a view to charting a course for the long-term
prosperity of the Group and the communities.

Customers

Customer feedback plays an important role in the operation
of the Group. Various channels, such as telephone hotlines
and customer service front desks, have been established to
maintain interactive communications between the Group and its
customers.

Employees

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of
a company. The Group treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it has adopted non-discriminatory hiring
and employment practices and it strives to provide a safe and
healthy workplace for its employees.

Government & Public

Tough efforts have been exerted to ensure compliance with
the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. The public at large is also an important stakeholder of
the Group. A stable and prosperous community is important to
the steady growth and long-term future prospects of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BB - 2N EA

Workplace Quality

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 45 staff members
(31 December 2023: 55). Total employee costs for Year 2024,
including Directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately
HK$53,841,000 (Year 2023: HK$62,814,000).

The quality of its employees is crucial for the Group to maintain a
competitive position in the market. With this in mind, the Group
seeks to attract and retain talented individuals who are committed
to achieving goals and objectives of the Group and provides a
work environment that nurtures values such as fair play, respect
and integrity. The Group values career development of its staff
and provides ongoing training to them according to the needs
of the Group. The Group offers competitive compensation
packages to its employees, who are rewarded according to their
performance. The Group reviews its salary structure, working
conditions, bonuses and incentive systems annually.

The Group’s employees are entitled to benefits such as medical
cover, provident funds and share options scheme. The Group is
committed to providing a healthy and safe workplace for all its
employees and complying with all applicable health and safety
laws and regulations. Health and safety considerations are
incorporated into the design, operations and maintenance of the
premises of the Group. Employees are provided with appropriate
job skills and safety training and are educated with regard to their
responsibilities for achieving the health and safety objectives of
the Group. The Group also communicates with its employees on
occupational health and safety issues.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 1% - 2R EA

Environmental Protection

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining
environmental sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all
material respects in compliance with the laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollution control.
Energy saving measures are enforced in the Group’s offices
and commercial premises for the purpose of reducing electricity
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

The Group has also adopted policies to promote recycling and
use of eco-friendly stationery, plus a series of measures to save
paper and energy, including the use of double-sided printing and
energy-efficient office equipment and appliances, resulting in more
efficient use of resources, as well as reduction of waste.

Operating Practices

The Group is committed to adhering to the highest ethical
standards. All employees are given a code of conduct (“Code”) to
which they are required to adhere. The Code explicitly prohibits
employees from soliciting, accepting or offering bribes or any form
of advantage. The Code also outlines the Group’s expectations
on its staff with regard to conflicts of interest. All managers are
expected to communicate and instill a culture of good corporate
governance to their staff.

ESG Report

The Company engaged external professionals to review the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) policies of the
Group for Year 2024 and issue an ESG report for Year 2024
(2024 ESG Report”) for the Board’s consideration. The Company
publishes the 2024 ESG Report on the “ESG Reports” section
of the website of the Company at www:.silvergrant.com.cn and
the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk when it
publishes this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining a
standard of corporate governance that is consistent with market
practices. The Company complied with all the principles and
applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules then in force throughout Year 2024, except for the
deviations specified below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be the same individual. During the year under review, the
Company did not have a separate chairman and chief executive
officer as the roles of the Chairman and one of the Co-Chief
Executive Officers were both assumed by Mr. Chu Hing Tsung.
The Board believes that vesting both the roles of the Chairman
and the Co-Chief Executive Officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions efficiently.

Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting of the
Company. Mr. Chu Hing Tsung, the Chairman, was unable
to attend the AGM held on 26 June 2024 due to his other
engagement. Mr. Chu Hing Tsung will endeavour to attend
all future annual general meetings of the Company unless
unexpected or special circumstances prevent him from doing so.
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Corporate Governance Practices (Continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision B2.4(b) of the CG Code, where all
the independent non-executive directors of an issuer have served
more than nine years on the board, the issuer should appoint
a new independent non-executive director on the board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. As at the date of the AGM,
all the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liang
Qing, Mr. Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung Muk Ming, had served more
than nine years on the Board. However, the Company was
unable to appoint a new independent non-executive Director to
the Board at the AGM as it was still in the course of identifying
a suitable candidate then. The Company will publish further
announcement(s) when the relevant appointment is made.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Group’s
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance.

The following summarises the Company’s key corporate
governance practices.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing
the results of management policies, monitoring management’s
performance and ensuring the existence of an effective internal
control system. The Board is led by the Chairman. The Chairman,
with the support of the company secretary (“Company Secretary”)
of the Company, is responsible for ensuring that the Directors
receive adequate and complete information in a timely manner
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at the Board meetings
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner.

The management, led by the Co-Chief Executive Officers, focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved
and delegated by the Board. In addition to the Group’s day-to-
day management and operations, the Co-Chief Executive Officers
are also jointly responsible for developing strategic plans and
formulating the organisational structure, control systems, internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.
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Board of Directors (Continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis of an effective
corporate governance framework of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Hing Tsung (the Chairman
and Co-Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Zhang Wenguang (appointed
as an executive Director and a Co-Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 1 July 2024 and 1 January 2025, respectively), Mr.
Weng Jian and Ms. Ku Ka Lee (appointed with effect from 10
September 2024), two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Zhiwei and Mr. Chen Yongcun (resigned as a Co-Chief Executive
Officer and re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director with effect from 1 January 2025), and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liang Qing, Mr.
Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung Muk Ming. Mr. Luo Zhihai and Mr. Tang
Lunfei resigned as executive Directors with effect from 1 July
2024 and 10 September 2024, respectively.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to
50 of this annual report. The number of the independent non-
executive Directors represents no less than one-third of the Board
members.

All members of the Board possess the appropriate expertise and
skills to discharge their duties.

The Directors, Mr. Chen Zhiwei and Ms. Ku Ka Lee are also
directors and/or senior officers of Cinda HK. Mr. Chu Hing
Tsung, the Chairman and a Co-Chief Executive Officer, is also
a director and a shareholder of Zhuguang Holdings. Cinda HK
and Zhuguang Holdings are substantial Shareholders (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules). Save for the aforesaid, there is
no relationship between the members of the Board, in terms of
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

To assist the Board in discharging its duties and to fulfil the
requirements of the CG Code, three standing Board committees
have been set up under the Board: the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee. The
Board will set up an ad hoc Board committee as and when
necessary to handle specific issues and report back to the Board.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Company is required to have at least three independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, it has adopted a policy
(“Independent Views Policy”) with effect from 1 January 2022,
under which the independent non- executive Directors are
required to, among others, (i) keep up-to-date with the Company’s
business affairs and be involved in scrutinising the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives;
(i) bring independent judgment to bear on the Company’s issues
of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct, help review some of
the Board’s major decisions and the Company’s performance
in relation to corporate goals, and monitor the Company’s
performance reporting; and (iii) take the lead where potential
conflicts of interest arise. Further, the independent non-executive
Directors shall make sufficient time available to discharge their
responsibilities and should not accept an invitation to serve as
an independent non-executive Director on the Board unless they
can devote adequate time and effort to the work Directors sitting
on multiple boards of directors of listed companies will need to
ensure that they devote sufficient time and dedicate adequate
attention to each board and board committee.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Company provides the independent non-executive Directors
with both formal means of communication, including board
meetings, and informal communication channels which allow
independent non-executive Directors to express their views, such
as meetings with the Chairman without the presence of other
Directors at least annually. Further, to assist all the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) to discharge
their duties, the Company provides the Directors with access
to advice from external independent professionals, including
independent legal advisors and auditors.

The Company is required to review the Independent Views Policy
and its implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board considers that each independent non-executive
Director is independent in character and judgment and meets the
specific independence criteria as required by the Listing Rules.
The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation confirming his independence.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory
matters. There are established procedures for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice, at the expense of the Company,
in the furtherance of their duties.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial
Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) or a Director
arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical Board meeting, as
opposed to being dealt with by a written resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present
at Board meetings dealing with such conflict issues.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors are explicitly identified
in all corporate communications containing the names of the
Directors. An updated list of Directors identifying the independent
non-executive Directors and the roles and the functions of
the Directors is maintained on the website of the Company at
www.silvergrant.com.cn and the website of the Stock Exchange.

Each of the Directors has been appointed for a specific term of
service no longer than three years. Each of Mr. Chen Yongcun
and Mr. Chen Zhiwei, a non-executive Director, has been
appointed for a term of three years from 1 January 2025 to 31
December 2027 and from 29 January 2025 to 28 January 2028,
respectively. Each of Mr. Liang Qing, Mr. Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung
Muk Ming, an independent non-executive Director, has been
appointed for a term of three years from 28 February 2023 to
27 February 2026, from 15 April 2023 to 14 April 2026 and from
23 December 2022 to 22 December 2025, respectively. All the
Directors are also subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 102 of the Company’s articles of association (“Articles of
Association”).

The full Board will meet regularly and at least four times
throughout a year to review the overall strategy of the Group and
to monitor the operations as well as the financial performance of
the Group. Notice of at least 14 days will be given to all Directors
in respect of full Board meetings and the Directors can include
matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and
the accompanying Board papers in respect of a full Board
meeting are sent out in full to all Directors no less than three
days before the meeting. Minutes of full Board meetings and
meetings of board committees are properly kept. All Directors
have access to relevant and timely information. They also have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board papers
and related materials. Where queries are raised by the Directors,
prompt and full responses will be given if possible.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited

REERZEREEEGR A

EsEANE)

FTEEEESHENARBMIBAREYRE
UIERITEEHED  HRBLIFAITESH
B RERACRBHENETNEFLERR
AR A &) 483k www.silvergrant.com.cn B B 2
Fr#g st

BEREEZZEHUREBEERTBRE=ZFH
B EFH - SEMITE ST LAERRER
EEZEBERT THHRIH2025%1 A
1HZE2027F12 A31 B K #2025 1 A 29
HZE2028F1 A28 A =F - By IEH
TEERELAE  RBALERERBLES
BEEZE T8 RIM2023F2 A28 H
£2026F2H27H - 2023F 4 A158 &
2026F 4 A14 8 &k H2022F 12 A28 &
2025F 12 A22 A AHI=F - 2 BEE A
RIEAR R MABERMEA ([HEBZR4EA)]))
E10268E RARRRRBFARE L
BERIWEEET -

2REFERTHIZLBFARNOREE
Exgen RIASEEERBEERAR
EE’JW%EE%HH&%%EEC’ HREREREEE
2RME  MEESVEZRIVURNER
wmA ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ?g : %%Tﬂﬂ)\ﬁam%lﬁﬁwﬁ
MEE - 2RE=g R %1&%‘ G-
et # SE%HIJH’]E—”\_% KRR
FEFX-2REFEEANEFEZERS
BLEBRCHOEERT MAEEFYHAE
SHEBEMERNER - RENAES QAW
ERHENBELRYE  RARAWEAERNES
RUBFEXHLEBEMH - HEERRY
MR ARBIGFRIELFRELE (AIK) ©



Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

During Year 2024, seven Board meetings were held and the

attendance of each Director is set out below:
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Name of Directors EENA BITEBRRE HE=R
Executive Directors BITEE
Chu Hing Tsung (Chairman and KEM (FERBETH

Co-Chief Executive Officer) AaE) 4/7 57%
Chen Yongeun (Co-Chief Executive BRoKIF (BT 4B )

Officer) /7 100%
Zhang Wenguang (appointed with RXIE (B 20247 H1HE

effect from 1 July 2024) (Note) EZF) (KTat) 4/4 100%
Luo Zhihai (resigned with effect from — B2/ (B 20247 A 1 HAE

1 July 2024) (Note) BHE) (W1it) 2/3 67%
Tang Lunfei (resigned with effect from FER T (H 202449 4 10H

10 September 2024) (Note) FEFFHT) (K15E) 3/4 75%
Weng Jian S5 7/7 100%
Ku Ka Lee (appointed with effect from Bz # (£ 2024 F9 A 10 H

10 September 2024) (Note) HEEZ(T) (Wit) 2/2 100%
Non-executive Director FHHITEE
Chen Zhiwei BRE&RE 7/7 100%
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE

Directors
Liang Qing 25 7/7 100%
Zhang Lu o 35 7/7 100%
Hung Muk Ming PNl 7/7 100%

Note: The attendance of the Director who was appointed or who resigned
during Year 2024 was made by reference to the number of such

meetings held during his/her tenure.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

According to the Articles of Association, the Board has the power
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. The Director so appointed shall
hold office until the first annual general meeting following his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. In other cases, all Directors, including the Chairman and
the Co-Chief Executive Officers, shall retire by rotation at least
once every three years at annual general meetings and be eligible
for re-election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board diversity policy. The policy sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board
in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered that diversity of Board members can
be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Board has developed measurable objectives to implement
the Board diversity policy whereby selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives as set out above, and
the ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidate will bring to the Board.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

Upon the appointment of Ms. Ku Ka Lee as an executive Director
with effect from 10 September 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board was composed of eight male members
and one female member. The composition of the Board in terms
of the age, gender, experience and length of service with the
Company of the Directors has fulfilled the objectives of the Board
diversity policy. The Company targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation on the Board and may
adjust the proportion of its female directors over time as and
when appropriate. The nine Directors on the Board come from
various background and they have brought different professional
experience, skills and knowledge to the Company and contributed
to the diversity at the Board. For the biographical details of the
Directors, please refer to pages 44 to 50 of this annual report.
Diversity at the Board supports good decision making in view of
the core businesses and strategy of the Company and succession
planning and development of the Board, which enables the
Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively. In
the future, the Company will continue to seek to enhance the
effectiveness of its Board by embracing the benefits of diversity in
the Board. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a
merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the
workforce level. As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the
workforce of the Group (including senior management) was 49%:
51% male to female.
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Board of Directors (Continued) BEE|g A
Board Diversity Policy (Continued) EEESTULBER(Z)
An analysis of the diversity of the Board as at 31 December 2024 K2024F12 A31 AR — R Z nib &lE A
based on a range of diversity perspectives is set out below: BEREHZEZE L LA NHIOT
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy of the Company was approved and
adopted by a resolution of the Board passed on 28 December
2018. It sets out the criteria and procedures to be adopted when
considering candidates to be appointed or re-appointed as
Directors.

Recruitment for the Board is the key role of the nomination
committee of the Company. Nevertheless, the ultimate
responsibilities for the selection and appointment of Directors rest
with the entire Board.

The nomination committee of the Company will select from a
broad range of candidates and as far as feasible consider those
who are outside the Board’s circle of contacts in accordance
with the Company’s Board diversity policy. The nomination
committee of the Company will consider the potential contribution
a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and gender diversity. It will also
consider succession planning for Directors to ensure the long
term success of the Company.

Corporate Governance Committee

The CG Code recommends listed companies to set up a
corporate governance committee to look after issues relating
to the corporate governance of the companies. However, the
Directors consider that it is more appropriate and efficient for
the Company to retain in the Board the function of overseeing
corporate governance issues. The Directors will continuously
review and improve the Company’s and the Group’s corporate
governance practices to ensure that the business activities and
decision-making processes of the Group are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Corporate Governance Committee (Continued)

During Year 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
main corporate governance duties performed by the Board are
set out below:

- developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the continuous professional
development and training of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

- reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report contained in
the Company’s annual report;

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to its
employees and Directors.

Securities Dealing by Directors

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers then in force (“Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in
Year 2024. All Directors have confirmed that, following specific
enquiry by the Company, they complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout Year 2024.

The Company has also adopted codes of conduct regarding
securities transactions by relevant employees (as defined in the
CG Code) on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
in 1999. The composition and professional qualifications of the
members of the Audit Committee comply with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has
written terms of reference that conform to the provisions of the
CG Code. The written terms of reference are set out in detail on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During Year 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hung Muk Ming (committee chairman), Mr.
Liang Qing and Mr. Zhang Lu.

The Audit Committee meets at least two times each year
to review the reporting of financial and other information to
the Shareholders, the systems of internal controls and risk
management and the effectiveness and objectivity of the audit
process. The Audit Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s external auditor in matters
coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under
review the independence and objectivity of the external auditor.

During Year 2024, the work performed by the Audit Committee
includes the reviews of the annual results for Year 2023 of the
Group, the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group for Year 2023 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 of the Group. The Group’s consolidated
annual results for Year 2024 have also been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During Year 2024, the Audit Committee had also followed up
from time to time with the management of the Company on
the progress of the transactions contemplated under the Loan
Assignment Agreement, the completion of which would, among
others, allow the Group to substantially recover a large portion
of the outstanding amount owed to the Group under the Loan
Agreements within a foreseeable timeframe and in a relatively
short period of time.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee together with the Board have reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system, risk
management system and internal audit function and considered
that they are effective and adequate for the time being.

During Year 2024, four Audit Committee meetings were held and
the attendance of each member is set out below:

during the term of office

EREER(HA)

ENZEeRRAEZSCRHNASEANME
ZERL - RBRERERS R AREZINEEHK
MW BRASTE AN EBE MR -

R20245E BEREZEGHAM4IREH
BERBZHFEERFINWMT -

Number of
meetings attended/held
Attendance rate

Name of Directors EEHR FHALE BITEERE HE =R
Hung Muk Ming ALK ER 4/4 100%
Liang Qing 2E 4/4 100%
Zhang Lu o 3% 4/4 100%
Remuneration Committee FMEEE

The Company established a remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) in 2005 and adopted written
terms of reference which conform to the provisions of the CG
Code. The written terms of reference are set out in detail on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. From 1
January 2024 to 30 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee
comprised one executive Director, namely, Mr. Luo Zhihai, and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Lu
(committee chairman) and Mr. Liang Qing. From 1 July 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises Mr. Zhang Wenguang (a Co-Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Lu (committee chairman) and Mr.
Liang Qing.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee are to ensure
that no Director or any of his associates (within the meaning of
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration
and that the Company has an equitable and competitive
remuneration policy to attract and retain talented persons to
serve the Company. The Board has adopted the model where the
Remuneration Committee performs an advisory role to the Board
(i.e. making recommendations to the Board on the remunerations
packages of individual Directors and senior management).
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors.

The remuneration package for each employee is structured
according to his quality and qualification. The remuneration
package will contain a combination or modification of some or all
of the following four main components:

1. Basic salary

The basic salary ranges for each position are established
with reference to the responsibilities and the duties attached
to the position. The actual salary for the person filling the
position is determined based on the experience and ability
of the individual selected for the position.

The basic salary ranges are reviewed periodically by
reference to the general market and by comparison to
comparable positions at competitors of the Company in
the relevant industry. The actual salaries of employees are
reviewed annually and may be adjusted from time to time
based on the cost of living and the financial performance of
the Company.

Salaries are basic remuneration and are not intended to
reward performance, either individually or corporately.
Performance is rewarded through the other components of
the remuneration package.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

2.

Incentive bonus

Incentive bonus is linked to individual and corporate
performance. The incentive bonus for each employee is
determined with reference to his position and performance
during the year.

Share option

Share options to subscribe for Shares are granted to
employees from time to time at the discretion of the Board
in order to retain valuable employees and to motivate future
performance of the employees.

Share options granted to individual employee are
determined with reference to his position, performance and
ability to contribute to the overall success of the Group.

However, the Group does not have any share option
scheme in force for the time being.

Other benefits

The Group offers other customary and/or mandatory
benefits to employees, such as statutory retirement scheme,
employee compensation, medical insurance, paid annual
leaves and child education allowance, with reference to the
prevailing practices in relevant jurisdictions.
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Board of Directors (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to review the
Company’s human resources matters and remuneration policies.
During Year 2024, three Remuneration Committee meetings were
held and the attendance of each member is set out below:

BRAMmE

it

BEEg %)

A

)

FMEEE (&)

FMEzEeEHAEM

BEHARFHATL

BREENRFMBE - N2024 5 - HE

BEe@CdM3REH

o

Number of
meetings
attended/held
during the
term of office

FEXREBZHFEBRHE

FEHREE Attendance rate
Name of Directors BEENS HITEBIE HER
Zhang Lu ok 3% 3/3 100%
Liang Qing 25 3/3 100%
Luo Zhihai (resigned with effect &S/ (52024 %7 A 1 H#
from 1 July 2024) (Note) FEHIE) (H152) 0/1 0%
Zhang Wenguang (appointed RN & (52024 F 7 5 1 H#E
with effect from 1 July 2024)  HEZ (L) (f1:%)
(Note) 2/2 100%

Note: The attendance of the Director who was appointed or who resigned
during Year 2024 was made by reference to the number of such
meetings held during his tenure.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the new
Directors and the approval of the payment of the director’s fees
to the Directors for Year 2024 after taking into consideration
the results of the Group, the performance of the Directors, the
senior management and the employees and the prevailing market
practices.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) on 15 February 2012 and adopted written terms of
reference for the Nomination Committee. The written terms of
reference are set out in detail on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. During Year 2024 and as at the date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Chu Hing Tsung (committee chairman, the Chairman, a Co-Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung
Muk Ming.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for all matters relating
to the appointment of Directors either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Board. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and shall be eligible for re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying suitably
qualified candidates for appointment to the Board and making
recommendations to the Board for its consideration. The process
for selecting and recommending candidates for directorship
includes the consideration of referrals and the engagement of
external recruitment professionals. The selection criteria are
based mainly on the assessment of the candidates’ characters,
professional qualifications and experience relevant to the Group’s
business.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors.

During Year 2024, three Nomination Committee meetings were
held to review the Board structure and the diversity of Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the Co-
Chief Executive Officers. The attendance of the meeting of each
member is set out below:
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EHAEE, Attendance rate
Name of Directors EENA BITEBRNRE HER
Chu Hing Tsung KE 1/3 33%
Zhang Lu o 3% 3/3 100%
Hung Muk Ming LA ER 3/3 100%
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions
against them.

Induction and Training

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is
provided with a director’s induction package to ensure that he
has a proper understanding of his duties and responsibilities. The
director’s induction package includes an overview of the Group’s
business operation and governance policies, the Director’s
responsibilities and duties, relevant regulatory requirements and
briefing with the senior management of the Group.

On 25 June 2024, Mr. Zhang Wenguang, who was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 1 July 2024, had obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules. He
had confirmed that he understood his obligations as a director of
a listed issuer.

On 5 September 2024, Ms. Ku Ka Lee, who was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 10 September 2024, had
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules. She had confirmed that she understood her obligations as
a director of a listed issuer.

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. During Year 2024,
all Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by way of attending training and/or reading
materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’
duties and responsibilities. All Directors have confirmed that,
following specific enquiry by the Company, they complied with
the continuous professional development requirement of the CG
Code for Year 2024.
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Board of Directors (Continued) BEEg )
Induction and Training (Continued) BRI (E)
The training attended by the Directors during Year 2024 is EERN2024 FEETHEIBMAT -

summarised below:

Type of training (Nofe 7)  Training matters (Note 2)

Name of Directors EENA BINFR A1) EINEE (fit2)
Executive Directors HITEE

Chu Hing Tsung KEM a,b i, i, v

Chen Yongecun R oK 17 ab i, i

Zhang Wenguang (appointed SR X E (F20244F7 A1 H a,b

with effect from 1 July 2024)  #EJEZ(T) i, i, v
Luo Zhihai (resigned with BEE(H20247H1H b

effect from 1 July 2024) REFFIE) i, i, iv
Tang Lunfei (resigned with EmA(H2024F9410H ab

effect from 10 September FEFEIT)

2024) i, i, iv
Weng Jian Fi a, b i i, iv
Ku Ka Lee (appointed with FAE# (202499510 H a,b

effect from 10 September REHEZAT)

2024) i, i, iv

Non-executive Director HHITESE
Chen Zhiwei SR b Y

Independent non-executive BV HHITEE

Directors
Liang Qing 25 b i, i, i, iv
Zhang Lu o 35 b i, i, v
Hung Muk Ming BE7R AR b i, ii, iii
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Board of Directors (Continued) BEEg#)

Induction and Training (Continued) M RIEZ (E)

Note 1: ora

a:  attending seminar or training session a: HERFNELEIRE

b:  reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, b: MEELE. —REFIEFHEREAS
general business or directors’ duties and responsibilities, etc. MBI mAL » MR s AR

Note 2: 2 -
corporate governance TEER

i: regulatory i EE

i..  finance and accounting i : BB REE

iv:  managerial v B

The Company also received confirmation from the Company RN FEREBSE A A WS R E RN 2024

Secretary that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant FREABETTOR15/ N NEFMHBEZESE -

professional training during Year 2024.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company has
effective risk management and control systems. The Board
evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least annually. A
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for Year 2024 was conducted.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate
risks, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company
has employed a bottom-up approach for the identification,
assessment and mitigation of risks at business unit level and
across functional areas.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register
to track and document identified risks, the assessment and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

An ongoing risk assessment approach is adopted by the
Company for identifying and assessing new risks. The identified
risks will be recorded in the risk register which will be reviewed
regularly. After considering the control measures against the risks
identified, a risk matrix is adopted to determine the risk rating
(L=low risk, M=medium risk, H=high risk) after evaluation of each
risk identified by the likelihood and the impact of the risk event.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant
Risks

During the process of risk assessment, the risk owner of each
of the departments of the Group and major subsidiaries of the
Company is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk is
evaluated again and categorised according to its risk level. The
risk register with the risk responses and residual risks is reported
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee, acting on behalf
of the Board, evaluates the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. The residual risks in
the highest category will be subject to the Board’s oversight.

Process Used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management & Internal Control Systems and to Resolve
Material Internal Control Defects

In view of the Company’s business and scale of operations, and
in order to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting
periodic reviews of the Company’s internal controls, the Board
has outsourced the internal audit function to an independent
consulting firm (“Consulting Firm”). The Consulting Firm has
conducted a review of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems for Year 2024 according to the scope of
review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)
Inside Information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. In order to ensure that the market and
Shareholders are fully and promptly informed about the material
developments in the Group’s business, the Board has adopted
an inside information disclosure policy regarding the procedures
of proper information disclosure. Release of inside information
is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly authorised,
all staff members of the Group shall not communicate inside
information to any external parties and shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours. In addition, all external presentation
materials or publications must be pre-vetted before release.

Report to Audit Committee

The Consulting Firm reports directly to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there has been no major
deficiency noted in the areas of the Company’s risk management
and specific aspects of internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the measures recommended by the
Consulting Firm to rectify the internal control defects reported by
it. Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board considered
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group to
be effective and adequate.
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General Meetings &N
During Year 2024, the Company convened one general meeting, R2024FEN  ARalBR—ARERE -
being the annual general meeting held on 26 June 2024. The Bl 20246 26 BRIT 2 RRBFKE °
attendance of each Director is set out below: SEFHEBREINWOT

Number of

general meetings
attended/held during
the term of office

EHARBE, Attendance rate
Name of Directors EEng BITRRAERE HER
Executive Directors HITEE
Chu Hing Tsung KRE 0/1 0%
Chen Yongcun BRoKAF 1/1 100%
Zhang Wenguang (appointed SR X & (£ 202447 A 1 A # N/A N/A
with effect from 1 July 2024)  H#Z(F) (f1at) i A 3 A
(Note)
Luo Zhihai (resigned with BRI (H2024F7 A1 HE 1/1 100%
effect from 1 July 2024) (Note) ~ &F(F) (Hiit)
Tang Lunfei (resigned with B (E202449 410 H 0/1 0%
effect from 10 September REFEE) (K13E)
2024) (Note)
Weng Jian S 1/1 100%
Ku Ka Lee (appointed with EaE# (B 202449 A 10H N/A N/A
effect from 10 September FEEZ(F) (Wit) i@ A A5 A
2024) (Note)
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Chen Zhiwei BREE 1/1 100%
Independent non-executive BV H#HITEE
Directors
Liang Qing 25 0/1 0%
Zhang Lu o 3% 1/1 100%
Hung Muk Ming VN 1/1 100%
Note: The attendance of the Director who was appointed or who resigned Hiad o024 FEEEZEFAXFAEST 2 HERT)
during Year 2024 was made by reference to the number of such RETAHRARTERAABATESD -

meetings held during his/her term.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

Ernst & Young had resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 8 November 2024. ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company by
the Board with effect from 22 November 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young.

For Year 2024, the remuneration paid/payable to ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited for their audit services and non-audit services
(which included internal control services and professional services
in relation to the Group’s proposed acquisition and disposal
transactions) amounted to approximately HK$4.2 million and
HK$0.41 million, respectively, and that paid/payable to Ernst
& Young for their non-audit services in relation to the Group’s
proposed acquisition and disposal transactions amounted to
approximately HK$0.98 million.

Remuneration of Senior Management

The emoluments paid to the senior management of the Group
during Year 2024, which were amongst the emoluments paid to
the five highest paid individuals of the Group, are set out in Note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group by
band for Year 2024 is as follows:
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BREEXRSG2HBZREEN BHE TR
KE R BN E 5 AT 2 BN 49 4 980,000 8 7T ©

SREEABSFHMH

K204 FEST M FAEEFRERAE (K
SEsEEEFAL) ZHEERTINGEE M
EHMARHIFEQ »

REESREEANBR2024 5 E 1 % A
SEWE}SIAOTE -

Number of
individuals

AE

HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,000,001 7 JT & 3,000,000 7T 2

Annual Report 2024
—T_MEFER



82

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1t %

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group for each financial year,
which give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs, results
and cash flows of the Group for that year in compliance with the
relevant laws and disclosure requirements in the Listing Rules.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for Year 2024, the Directors have (i) selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently; (i) adopted appropriate
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards; (i) made adjustments and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable; and (iv) prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, which reflect the financial position of the Group accurately
at all times. The Directors also have general responsibilities for
setting up an appropriate internal control system, which is mainly
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The Directors have reviewed the
internal control system of the Group and are satisfied that the
internal control system of the Group is functioning properly.

Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024

The Company’s auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, issued
a disclaimer of opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for Year 2024 (“2024 Accounts”) due to multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern as below:
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting

(a) Details of the modified audit opinion

The Company’s auditor draws attention to note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements which mentions that the
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$785 million
and HK$956 million respectively for two consecutive years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,392 million. By the end of the reporting period, the
Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$5 million and the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,412 million are due to be repaid within
12 months from the end of the reporting period, including
(i) borrowing of approximately HK$2,215 million which has
not been repaid according to the scheduled repayment date
before the end of the reporting period; and (ii) borrowings
approximately HK$1,037 million with original maturity dates
of over one year from the end of the reporting period which
have been reclassified to current liabilities due to the delay
in the payment of interest of certain borrowings before the
end of the reporting period. Furthermore, as described in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, as at 31
December 2024, the Group was involved in the litigation
related to the other borrowing of the Group with a principal
amount of approximately HK$191 million resulting in the
freezing of several assets and demanding for immediate
repayment. The above events or conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, that the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(@) Details of the modified audit opinion (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Directors have been
undertaking plans and measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position, details of which are set out in
note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. Should the
going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The validity of the going concern assumptions on which
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
depends on the outcome of these measures, which are
subject to the following material uncertainties.

(@  The successful and timely implementation of the plans
and measures for the disposal of the outstanding loan
receivables and loan interest receivables. As of the
date of approval of the 2024 Accounts, the transaction
has not been completed and is still in progress.

(b)  The successful and timely implementation of the plans
for the disposal of the financial asset investments.
As of the date of approval of the 2024 Accounts,
management was unable to provide the Company’s
auditor with sufficient information about the details of
the plans. Accordingly, the Company’s auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
that the Company’s auditor considered necessary to
evaluate the Group’s ability to raise on a timely basis
additional funding.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024

(Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going

concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(@) Details of the modified audit opinion (Continued)

(©

The continual support from the existing lenders of the
Group such that they will not demand for immediate
repayment of the relevant borrowings. As of the date
of approval of the 2024 Accounts, the Company’s
auditor was advised by management that such
extension agreements or refinancing agreements are
still under negotiation and no agreement has been
signed. Accordingly, the Company’s auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
that the Company’s auditor considered necessary to
evaluate the Group’s ability to obtain the continual
support from the existing lenders of the Group.

The successful obtaining of new sources of financing
as and when needed. As of approval of the 2024
Accounts, the Company’s auditor was advised by
management that such new sources of financing are
still at a preliminary stage and no viable financing plans
have been submitted to the Directors. Accordingly,
the Company’s auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence that the Company’s
auditor considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s
ability to obtain the additional funding.

In absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the

above, the Company’s auditor was unable to ascertain

whether the use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going

concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b)

Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$5 million and the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$3,412
million are due to be repaid within 12 months from the
end of the reporting period, including (i) borrowing of
approximately HK$2,215 million which has not been repaid
according to the scheduled repayment date before the end
of the reporting period; and (i) borrowings of approximately
HK$1,037 million with original maturity dates of over one
year from the end of the reporting period which have been
reclassified to current liabilities due to the delay in the
payment of interest of certain borrowings before the end
of the reporting period. In June 2024, a court order in the
Chinese Mainland has been issued to freeze certain bank
balances and other assets of the Group due to the non-
payment of an overdue other borrowing with an outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$191 million (“Overdue
Other Borrowing”). Up to the date of approval of the
2024 Accounts, except for the Overdue Other Borrowing,
the Group has not received any demand for immediate
repayment of its bank and other borrowings. The Group
has been actively liaising with the lender for settlement of
the court order in relation to the Overdue Other Borrowing
and negotiating with the relevant lenders for extension of
the repayment date of certain of the aforesaid borrowings.
The Directors are of the view that the frozen assets do not
have material impact on the Group’s financial position and
operation.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b)

Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

In addition, on 27 June 2024, the Company and
Guangdong Zhuguang entered into a loan assignment
agreement (as amended and supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 22 January 2025) (“Loan
Assignment Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
has agreed to sell and transfer, and Guangdong Zhuguang
has agreed to purchase from the Company all the rights,
title, benefits and interests of the Company to, in and under
the loan agreements (“Loan Agreements”) entered into
between the Company together with six of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries as lenders and a total of 54 independent third
party borrowers (including but not limited to the loans
(“Loans”) with total outstanding principal amount and
interest of approximately RMB2,201 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,429 million) as at 31 December 2023
advanced by the Group under the Loan Agreements and
all security created thereunder) accruing thereto from 1
January 2024 (“Loan Interest”), whereas the consideration
shall be satisfied by Guangdong Zhuguang by (i) entering
into a deed of novation to assume the obligations of
Beijing East Gate under two entrusted loan agreements
(“Entrusted Loan Agreements”) (including but not limited to
the repayment obligation of the underlying entrusted loans
(“Entrusted Loans”) in the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of approximately RMB1,880 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,075 million), the release of all existing
charges, guarantee and pledge of shares, and the provision
of new charge(s), guarantee and/or pledge of shares
pursuant to the requests of the entrusting party and the
lender, if required) (“Debt Novation”); and (ii) assignment
of certain car parking spaces located in the Guangdong
province of the PRC (“Target Properties”), at completion of
the transactions (“Transactions”) contemplated under the
Loan Assignment Agreement (“Completion”). Completion is
conditional upon and subject to, among others, the passing
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

by the shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) convened by the Company of all
necessary resolution(s) to approve the Loan Assignment
Agreement and the Transactions. At the EGM held on 28
February 2025, the Loan Assignment Agreement and the
Transactions have been approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The Transactions, if materialised, would
provide a good opportunity to the Group to substantially
recover a large portion of the outstanding amount owed to
the Group under the Loan Agreements within a foreseeable
timeframe and in a relatively short period of time, thereby
minimising the uncertainty and the credit risks associated
with the Loan Interest and the administrative costs to be
incurred by the Group for collecting the outstanding Loan
Interest, and the Debt Novation would provide a good
opportunity for the Group to settle the Entrusted Loans as
the rights and liabilities of the Group under the Entrusted
Loan Agreements would be discharged.

The transfer of the Target Properties to the Group would
allow the Group to enlarge and diversify its investment
properties portfolio with high quality assets, as well as to
strengthen the income base of the Group and to generate
stable cash flows to the Group.

Further details of the Loan Assignment Agreement and
the Transactions are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 June 2024, 31 July 2024, 30 August
2024, 30 September 2024, 31 October 2024, 31 December
2024 and 22 January 2025 and the circular of the Company
dated 12 February 2025.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going

concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b)

Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the Group’s future liquidity
requirements, operating performance and available sources
of financing in assessing the Group’s ability to continue
operating as a going concern. The following plans and
measures are formulated to manage the working capital and
improve the financial position of the Group:

(i) the Group will continue to implement measures for the
disposal of the outstanding loan receivables and loan
interest receivables;

(i)  the Group will continue to take measures to expedite
the disposal of the financial asset investments,
including equity investments and non-performing
assets portfolio;

@iy  the Group will continue its negotiations with the
lenders of certain bank and other borrowings or
other financial institutions on the refinancing of the
borrowings; and

(iv)  the Group will obtain additional credit facilities from
existing and other lenders as and when needed.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by the management, which cover
a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December
2024. They are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within 12 months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the
Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going
concern basis.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024

(Continueq)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the

modified audit opinion (Continued)

On the other hand, in the view of the Company’s auditor,

there existed the following material uncertainties which cast

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern:

M

(i)

(i)

the successful and timely implementation of the plans
and measures for the disposal of the outstanding loan
receivables and loan interest receivables. As of the
date of approval of the 2024 Accounts, the transaction
has not been completed and is still in progress;

the successful and timely implementation of the plans
for the disposal of the financial asset investments.
As of the date of approval of the 2024 Accounts,
management was unable to provide the Company’s
auditor with sufficient information about the details of
the plans. Accordingly, the Company’s auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
that the Company’s auditor considered necessary to
evaluate the Group’s ability to raise on a timely basis
additional funding;

the continual support from the existing lenders of the
Group such that they will not demand for immediate
repayment of the relevant borrowings. As of the date
of approval of the 2024 Accounts, the Company’s
auditor was advised by management that such
extension agreements or refinancing agreements are
still under negotiation and no agreement has been
signed. Accordingly, the Company’s auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
that the Company’s auditor considered necessary to
evaluate the Group’s ability to obtain the continual
support from the existing lenders of the Group; and
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the

modified audit opinion (Continued)

(iv)  the successful obtaining of new sources of financing
as and when needed. As of approval of the 2024
Accounts, the Company’s auditor was advised by
management that such new sources of financing are
still at a preliminary stage and no viable financing plans
have been submitted to the Directors. Accordingly,
the Company’s auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence that the Company’s
auditor considered necessary to evaluate the Group’s
ability to obtain the additional funding.

The Audit Committee has discussed the modified audit
opinion with the Group’s management and the Directors,
and agreed with their position and basis (including the
matters involving their substantial judgments) in relation
to the modified audit opinion and the preparation of the
2024 Accounts on a going concern basis, in reliance of
the following factual matters: (i) up to the date of approval
of the 2024 Accounts, the Group has not received any
demand for immediate repayment of its borrowings except
that a court order in PRC has been issued to freeze certain
bank balances and other assets of the Group due to the
non-payment of the Overdue Other Borrowings, while the
Directors were of the view that the Group’s frozen assets
pursuant to the court order in relation to the Overdue Other
Borrowings would not have material impact on the Group’s
financial position and operation; (i) the Group has been and
is still actively liaising with the lender for settlement of the
court order in relation to the Overdue Other Borrowings;
(iiy the Group has been and is still actively negotiating with
the lenders of certain of its bank and other borrowings or
other financial institutions on the refinancing/extension of
the borrowings; (iv) the Transactions have been approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the EGM held on 28
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

February 2025, and it is currently expected that completion
of the Transactions will take place before the end of 2025;
(v) after the end of the reporting period and up to the date of
approval of the 2024 Accounts, the Group has disposed of
three properties in Beijing for approximately HK$40.4 million
in aggregate; (vi) after the end of the reporting period and
up to the date of approval of the 2024 Accounts, the Group
has disposed of certain financial asset investments for
approximately RMB4.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$5.3 million); (vii) after the end of the reporting period and
up to the date of the approval of the 2024 Accounts, the
Group has received from other receivables approximately
RMB6.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$7.1 million);
and (viii) up to the date of approval of the 2024 Accounts,
neither the Company nor any of its operating subsidiaries
has been the subject of any winding-up proceedings.

The Group will continue to implement the above-mentioned
plans and measures diligently to better manage its working
capital and improve its financial position in 2025.

Had the Company’s auditor not disclaimed their opinion
regarding the scope limitation relating to appropriateness of
the going concern basis of accounting mentioned above, they
would otherwise have qualified their opinion regarding the scope
limitations on their audit relating to the matters detailed below.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

2024 FEREAARKER (£&)

FRFERY S EREEN CEERR (&)

b) FEBEZFHHEREFSERLY
VS RAHE (&)

AARPEEBER2025%2 A28 H 1T
ZEREFNARS LIEZERS B
AITERT R 2025 FFRAI R AZER
2 (VVRIREBREE2024F R B
HEBEIE - REEB BE=EMARIE
REV Y E - #2{E#40,400,00078 7T & (vi)
RmEMREREEZHE2024F KB
AE - AEBE D HEH AR 4,800,000
7T (FB& 7 #75,300,000/8 7T) 2 & T4
MEERE  VIIRBREHREBELESR
HOHE2024F R HE - RS E D WE
R IR TE 49 A R 8 6,500,000 7T (48
& P #77,100,0007%8 7T) + K (vii) B = #t
HE2024F AR H BB - ARAF Sk E (A
EEMBARBEY RAEMERER
B o

REBBEERENT ListE RiE
A BRI ERAELEES RN
Z 2025 F SRR o

e 75 2% B A SRR A h | SRR AL R A AR AT
LETEMEEMCBERREBERER
AR AR T XHAEE 2 EERNEE
REIFERREER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1t ¥ &

Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Qualification on loan receivables and loan interest
receivables

(a) Details of the modified audit opinion

Included in loan receivables and deposits, prepayments
and other receivables on the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
were loan receivables from different borrowers with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,535
million and HK$1,552 million, net of loss allowance, and
related loan interest receivables with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$399 million and HK$349
million, net of loss allowance, respectively. In addition,
included in other income, gains and losses and impairment
of financial assets, net on the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 were interest income of approximately HK$55
million and HK$165 million, and impairment loss reversed
and provided of approximately HK$9 million and HK$390
million in relation to the abovementioned loan receivables
and loan interest receivables, respectively. Furthermore,
investing cash flows of interest received of nil and
approximately HK$22 million, advance of loan receivables
of nil and approximately HK$357 million, and receipt of loan
receivables of nil and approximately HK$75 million in relation
to the abovementioned loan receivables and loan interest
receivables were presented in the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, respectively.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Qualification on loan receivables and loan interest
receivables (Continued)

(@) Details of the modified audit opinion (Continued)

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has established a special
investigation committee to undertake investigation on
matters pertaining to the loan transactions, including but not
limited to, the commercial rationale of the loan transactions
and the relationship between the Group and the borrowers.
On 11 December 2024, the independent forensic
investigation firm engaged by the special investigation
committee issued the report of the forensic investigation
(“Investigation Report”). The Company’s auditor was unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves as to (i) the commercial rationale of the loan
transactions, the relationships between the Group and the
borrowers, and the relationships amongst the borrowers;
(i) whether the carrying amounts of the loan receivables
and loan interest receivables were properly stated as at 31
December 2024 and 2023; (i) whether the impairment loss
for these loan receivables and loan interest receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was properly
assessed and recognised based on the reasonable and
supportable information in accordance with the applicable
accounting standard and, consequently, whether the
interest income from these loan receivables was properly
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023; and (iv) whether the cash flows in relation to the loan
transactions were properly presented in the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might
have consequential effects on the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Qualification on loan receivables and loan interest
receivables (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion

To allow the Company’s auditor to perform their audit
procedures on the loan receivables and loan interest
receivables of the Group outstanding as at 31 December
2024, the following information was provided by the
Group to the Company’s auditor: (i) loan agreements;
(i) background information of the borrowers; (iii) credit
assessments conducted by the Group on the borrowers;
(iv) documents showing the Group’s approval of the loans;
(v) banking and other documents relating to the transfer
of funds to confirm that funds relating to the loans flowed
from the Group’s bank accounts to the borrowers or
their authorised representatives in accordance with the
agreements; (vi) interest income calculation schedule for
the outstanding loan receivables as at 31 December 2024;
(vii) ECL assessment on the outstanding loan receivables
and loan interest receivables as at 31 December 2024; and
(viii) the Investigation Report (collectively, “Loan Supporting
Information”), which in the view of the Group’s management
and the Directors (contrary to the opinion of the Company’s
auditor), comprised sufficient appropriate audit evidence for
the Company’s auditor to perform their audit assessments
on the matters in relation to the loan receivables and loan
interest receivables of the Group outstanding as at 31
December 2024 set out above.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continueq)

Qualification on loan receivables and loan interest
receivables (Continued)

(b)

Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

On the other hand, in spite of the Loan Supporting
Information provided to the Company’s auditor, the view
of the Company’s auditor was that they remained unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
themselves as to (i) the commercial rationale of the loan
transactions, the relationships between the Group and the
borrowers, and the relationships amongst the borrowers;
(i) whether the carrying amounts of the loan receivables
and loan interest receivables were properly stated as at 31
December 2024 and 2023; (i) whether the impairment loss
for these loan receivables and loan interest receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was properly
assessed and recognised based on the reasonable and
supportable information in accordance with the applicable
accounting standard and, consequently, whether the
interest income from these loan receivables was properly
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023; and (iv) whether the cash flows in relation to the loan
transactions were properly presented in the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, which led them to qualify in their opinion
regarding the scope limitations on their audit relating to the
loan receivables and loan interest receivables of the Group.
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Disclaimer of Auditor’s Opinion for Year 2024
(Continued)

Qualification on loan receivables and loan interest
receivables (Continued)

(b) Position and basis of the Group’s management on the
modified audit opinion (Continued)

Whilst the Audit Committee agreed with the position
of the Group’s management and the Directors that the
Loan Supporting Information provided by the Group to
the Company’s auditor should have comprised sufficient
appropriate audit evidence for the Company’s auditor to
perform their audit assessments on the matters in relation
to the loan receivables and loan interest receivables of
the Group set out above, the Audit Committee had also
accepted the view of the Company’s auditor that they were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to their
satisfaction as set out above, given that the sufficiency and
appropriateness of the audit evidence contained in the Loan
Supporting Information was a matter of judgment. The Audit
Committee shared the views of the Group’s management
and the Board that the aforesaid issue in connection with
the audit evidence of the loan receivables and loan interest
receivables of the Group would be resolved once the Loan
Interest (representing a substantial portion of the loan
receivables and the related loan interest receivables) has
been disposed of by the Group upon the completion of the
Transactions. As such, the Group will expedite the progress
of the Transactions, with a target to complete the same
before the end of 2025.

The Group will take the following actions to address and
resolve the audit issues in relation to its loan receivables and
loan interest receivables:

(i) the Group has been sending and will continue to send
demand letters to the borrowers on a regular basis
following their defaults; and

(i) the Group will expedite the progress of the
Transactions, with a target to complete the same
before the end of 2025.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the mandatory disclosure
requirements under the CG Code.

Convening General Meeting on Request

Shareholder(s) may request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting pursuant to Sections 566 to 568
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”).

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Directors are required to call a general meeting if the
Company has received requests to do so from members of the
Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
the members of the Company having a right to vote at general
meeting. Such requests must state the general nature of the
business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at the meeting. Such requests may be sent to the
Company in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered
office of the Company at Suite 4013B, 40th Floor, Office Tower,
Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email:
info@silvergrant.com.cn); and must be authenticated by the
person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567
of the Companies Ordinance, the Directors must call a meeting
within 21 days after the date on which they become subject to the
requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance and
such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)
Convening General Meeting on Request (Continued)

If the Directors do not, within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition, proceed duly to convene an extraordinary
general meeting on a day not more than 28 days after the date on
which the notice convening the extraordinary general meeting is
given, the Shareholder(s) concerned, or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene an extraordinary general meeting, provided
that the extraordinary general meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of 3 months from the said date.

The extraordinary general meeting convened by Shareholders
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which general meetings are to be convened by the
Directors.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders can raise enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered office of the
Company at Suite 4013B, 40/F, Office Tower, Convention Plaza,
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Putting Forward Proposals at Annual General Meetings

To put forward a resolution at an annual general meeting,
Shareholders are requested to follow the requirements and
procedures set out in Sections 615 and 616 of the Companies
Ordinance.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at Annual General Meetings
(Continued)

Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the
Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received requests
that it do so from (A) the members of the Company representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the members of the
Company who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (B) at least
50 members of the Company who have a right to vote on the
resolution at the annual general meeting to which the requests
relate. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard
copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the Company
at Suite 4013B, 40th Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaza,
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Board) or in electronic form (by email: info@silvergrant.com.cn); (b)
must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must
be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (i) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section 616 of
the Companies Ordinance provides that the Company which is
required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give
notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s
own expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the annual general meeting (1) in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and (2) at the same time as, or as soon
as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.

Proposing Director for Election at General Meetings
In respect of proposing a person for election as a Director at

general meetings, please refer to the procedures available on the
website of the Company at http://www.silvergrant.com.cn.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)
Constitutional Documents

During Year 2024, there was no change made to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of transparency
in communicating with Shareholders and investors at large. In
order to enhance the transparency of Shareholders’ voting in a
general meeting, separate resolutions are proposed at a general
meeting on each substantially separate issue, including the
election of individual Directors and all resolutions are voted on by
poll. The Company will engage an external scrutineer to count the
votes. The poll voting results will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange at a later time on the day
of the general meeting. In addition, the requirement for resolutions
to be voted by poll is stated in the circular or the annual report to
be despatched to Shareholders. Moreover, the chairman of the
meeting will explain to the Shareholders the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll before voting at each general meeting.

The Company has maintained a website at
http://www.silvergrant.com.cn which enables the Shareholders,
investors and the general public to have open access to the
information of the Company. Financial information and all
corporate communications of the Company are made available on
the Company’s website and are updated regularly.

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board may
write to the Company Secretary at Suite 4013B, 40/F, Office
Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its shareholders’ communication policy during Year 2024.
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Communication with Shareholders (Continued)

The Company has established different communication channels
with the Shareholders. Shareholders may raise their enquiries
in general meetings. During Year 2024, the Company held one
general meeting (being the annual general meeting held on
24 June 2024) which was attended by members of the Board
and (in respect of the annual general meeting) the Company’s
then auditor, Ernst & Young, to answer questions from the
Shareholders attending the meetings.

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information
about the Group to the Shareholders as effectively and timely
as possible. Most information released by the Company to the
Stock Exchange is also published on the Company’s website,
including annual and interim reports, annual and interim results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents, other announcements,
monthly returns on movements in the Company’s securities for
each month, constitutional documents of the Company and terms
of reference of the committees of the Board. Shareholders may at
any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s office in Hong Kong,
and make a request for the Company’s information to the extent
such information is publicly available.

In view of the above, the Company considered its shareholders’
communication policy effective.
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The Board presents the annual report and the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for Year 2024.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries
of the Company are principally engaged in property leasing and
investments. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company for
Year 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on page 126.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for Year 2024.

EXZSERENVUAFEAEE 2 FHLLE
BMEREK

ARBB—KREZEBRAR - ARFHEBL
AMEREBRAUEVERERKE - AR
AEMBARMNEEXBHBHINGEEM
BMmRMIEET

EERDE
2024 F E - AEBMEENARTNDAEH

REIBEZHFEAEERER -

FESORBIE  TERRMN2024FE R
HiRE B

Annual Report 2024
—T_MEFER

103



DIRECTORS’' REPORT EEE#H %

Business Review EBKER
The business review of the Group for Year 2024 is set out below: AEE2024 FERESERITIWOT -
Section in the Page number of the
Annual Report Annual Report
RIINFHR 2D FHR2EH
a. Fair view of the Company’s business Chairman’s Statement 5
HEARBEBOPEER TREWE
b. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing Directors’ Report 106
the Company BEEERE
HARQRIEE A F Z E b RN ABARE Rt
C. Indication of likely future development in the Company’s Chairman’s Statement 10
business EREWME
RRAREB AR H R AR R ERATR
d. Important event affect the Company that have occurred Chairman’s Statement 41
since the end of the financial year FERE
R REEEREEETERRBNEESE
e.  Analysis using financial key performance indicators Financial Highlights 2
ERVBERRBRERETHON BMsmE
f. Discussion on the Company’s environmental policies and  Environmental, Social and 52
performance Governance
HARAMRBEERKBE RS RIR - HERER
g.  Anaccount of the Company’s key relationships with its Directors’ Report 115
employees, customers and suppliers and others that BEEgWE

have a significant impact on the Company and on which
the Company’s success depends

ARREEES BEMMEMAREARRBEAY
ZEARRBNKINBURR LB KM A T EZE R

B
h. Discussion on the Company’s compliance with the relevant Directors’ Report 105
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on ExgRE
the Company
HARARETHARARABEEARZENFRAZLADIT
BB R &
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Business Review (Continued)
Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company’s
subsidiaries were incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out
by the Company ’s subsidiaries in the PRC and through certain
property investments in Hong Kong.

The Group’s principal business activities are property leasing
and investments in the PRC and Hong Kong which are highly
regulated businesses. To engage in investments (both in the
PRC and Hong Kong) and financial services, the Group must
obtain relevant permits from government authorities before the
commencement of the business. Set out below is a summary of
certain aspects of the PRC and Hong Kong legal and regulatory
provisions relating to the Group’s operations and business:

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

o dtRMEEME KD (Beijing Properties Leasing
Ordinance®)

o HEARAMEEEEERREE (The Law of Consumer
Protection of PRC*)

o SHAKKEBEERBEERRE R ML (Measures for
the distributed photovoltaics power generation and
construction)

If there is any non-compliance with the above rules and
regulations, it will affect the Group’s operations, development and
financial performance. During Year 2024, the Group complied
with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the British
Virgin Islands and the PRC that have a significant impact on the
Group.
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Key Risk Factors

The following paragraphs list out the key risks and uncertainties
facing the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be
other risks and uncertainties in addition to the key risk areas
outlined below. Besides, this annual report does not constitute a
recommendation or an advice for anyone to invest in the securities
of the Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making
any investment in the securities of the Company.

Operational Risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors
distinctive to direct investment, property investment and property
related businesses. Default on the part of the Group’s buyers,
tenants and strategic business partners, and inadequacies
or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the
Group’s results of operations. Additionally, accidents may happen
despite systems and policies set up for their prevention, which
may lead to financial loss, litigation or damage in reputation.

Policy Risks

The Group’s principal operating activities are in Mainland China,
where new laws and regulations are launched from time to time
to regulate and/or promote economic activities. The enactment
of any new regulatory policies may have various levels of negative
impact on the Group’s results of operations.
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Key Risk Factors (Continued)
Past Performance and Forward Looking Statements

The performance and the results of operation of the Group as
set out in this annual report are historical in nature and past
performance is not a guarantee of future performance. This annual
report may contain forward-looking statements and opinions
that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may also differ
materially from expectations discussed in such forward-looking
statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the Directors,
employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations or
liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking statements or
opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.

Fixed Assets

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued at 31
December 2024. The deficit on revaluation of the leasehold land
and buildings of approximately HK$2,858,000 has been charged
to the asset revaluation reserve.

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at 31
December 2024. The net decrease in fair value of investment
properties, which has been charged directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, amounted to approximately
HK$72,301,000.

Details of the valuation and movements of the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group during
Year 2024 are set out in Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Details of the major investment properties of the Group at 31
December 2024 are set out in the section headed “Summary of
Investment Properties” of this annual report.
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Charitable Donations

No material donation was made to charitable organisations by the
Group during Year 2024.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
Year 2024 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, no reserve was available for distribution
to the Shareholders.

Equity Linked Agreements

No equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group
during Year 2024 or subsisted at the end of Year 2024.

Directors

The Directors during Year 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report are:

Executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Zhang Wenguang (appointed as an executive Director and
a Co-Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 July 2024 and
1 January 2025, respectively)

Chen Yongcun (resigned a Co-Chief Executive Officer and
re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect
from 1 January 2025)

Luo Zhihai (resigned with effect from 1 July 2024)

Tang Lunfei (resigned with effect from 10 September 2024)

Weng Jian

Ku Ka Lee (appointed with effect from 10 September 2024)
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors
Chen Zhiwei
Chen Yongcun (re-designated from an executive Director
to a non-executive Director with effect from 1 January 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors
Liang Qing

Zhang Lu

Hung Muk Ming

Each Director has been appointed for a specific term, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

Directors of Subsidiaries

Other than the Directors named in the section headed “Directors”
above, the persons who have served on the respective boards
of directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during Year 2024
and up to the date of this annual report included Mr. Ng Hoi
Leung Leo.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed below, no other
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

EEREETHRAERAQXTRS - 1A
EAROREEIE2EZRKXR

BTN SCATEERIN 12024 F 12318 -
BMEAMEERARASESTBEABRAEAR
AN HAMAEEE (TEREHFRBEK
BIEXVED) Bk 1D - AR SKE-EEF -
HATARIEFES RS KA E35216EF
B2 AR A)E D s AR AT 2 < B ZB DA E A
FRMEARRA) MBZATHESEIAE

Long position in the Shares B ziFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity Shares interested issued Shares (Note 1)
R R KB BT
EEZEH 14 ZRGEE BRGBBEDL (Bt 1)
Chu Hing Tsung Interest of controlled 679,890,022 29.50%
(“Mr. Chu”) corporations (Note 2)
KER(REED Ry ER (Hat2)
Chen Yongcun Beneficial owner 700,000 0.03%

bR oK T ERn#AA
Notes:
1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.

2,304,849,611 Shares) has been used for the calculation of the
approximate percentage of shareholdings in the Company.

2. Mr. Chu directly holds 34.06% of the issued shares of Rong De
Investments Limited (“Rong De”), which in turn holds 57.96% of the
issued shares of Zhuguang Holdings, which in turn holds 100% of
the issued shares of Splendid Reach Limited (“Splendid Reach”),
the beneficial owner of such 679,890,022 Shares. Accordingly, Mr.
Chu, Rong De and Zhuguang Holdings are deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Splendid Reach pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during Year 2024 or at the end of Year 2024 was the
Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
neither the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company nor
any of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such right.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of Year 2024 or at any time during
Year 2024.

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any part of
the Company’s business were entered into during Year 2024 or
subsisted at the end of Year 2024.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the statutes,
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office
or otherwise in relation thereon. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and
officers in respect of legal actions against them during Year 2024
and such permitted indemnity provision is still in force as at the
date of this annual report.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short

Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the mRAR

Company

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares, as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

FERRREAQFARG REBRED 2 #

202412 A31H L FAT (RQARIESE
fmE T A BERIN) AR 1 ok #8 B8 A%t
BHLAREBESREEIEHF3361EERE
B ARNREDMOERIOXA ¢

336 of the SFO:
Long position in the Shares B ziFE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares issued Shares
Name of substantial Shareholders Capacity interested (Note 1)
HEE BT
BEREGZ R ZBERL
IERRAB &% RO#E (Hit1)
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporations 450,300,000 19.54%
(“China Cinda”) (Note 2)
hEEEEEEERNHARAR ([HERFE]) REHAEER (Hi22)
China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited Interest of controlled corporations 450,300,000 19.54%
(“Cinda HK Holdings”) (Note 2)
hEGE(BE)ERERAR ((GEREER)) REGZERS H72)
China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co., Limited  Interest of a controlled corporation 450,300,000 19.54%
(“Cinda HK Asset Management”) (Note 2)
TEEE(EB)EEERARADF Rt EEER (Hi22)
(EERBEEERE]
CCAM Capital Limited (“CCAM”) Beneficial owner (Note 2) 450,300,000 19.54%
CCAM Capital Limited ([ CCAM]) EnBRAW72)
Liao Tengjia Interest of controlled corporations (Note 3) 679,890,022 29.50%
B REtEEES (H323)
Rong De Interest of controlled corporations (Note 3) 679,890,022 29.50%
Bz REHEE RS (i23)
Zhuguang Holdings Interest of a controlled corporation 679,890,022 29.50%
(Note 3)
TR REHAEER (i3
Splendid Reach Beneficial owner (Note 3) 679,890,022 29.50%
ERBEAAWH3)
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
2,304,849,611 Shares) has been used for the calculation of the
approximate percentage of shareholdings in the Company.

2. China Cinda directly holds 100% of the issued shares of Cinda
HK Holdings, which holds 100% of the issued shares of Cinda
HK Asset Management, and Cinda HK Asset Management holds
100% of the issued shares of CCAM, the beneficial owner of such
450,300,000 Shares. Therefore, China Cinda, Cinda HK Holdings
and Cinda HK Asset Management are deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by CCAM pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. Mr. Liao Tengjia directly holds 36% of the issued shares of Rong
De, which in turn holds 57.96% of the issued shares of Zhuguang
Holdings, which in turn holds 100% of the issued shares of
Splendid Reach, the beneficial owner of such 679,890,022 Shares.
Therefore, Mr. Liao Tengjia, Rong De and Zhuguang Holdings are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Splendid Reach
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares, which would fall to
be disclosed under Section 336 of the SFO.

Annual Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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Connected Transactions

During Year 2024, there were no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company that were
not exempt from the annual reporting requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and the related party transactions as
set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements did
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Buy-Back, Sales or Redemption of Listed Securities

During Year 2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
bought back, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee and is based on their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
practices.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, during Year 2024
and up to the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s revenue for Year 2024 came from the rental income
from the leasing of properties.

The accumulated amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers during Year 2024 was less than 30% of the
Group’s total revenue for Year 2024.

The Group had no supplier during Year 2024 due to the nature of
its principal business activities.

During Year 2024, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) or any of the
Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Board, owned more
than 5% of the Shares had interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises its employees as one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing
a caring environment for its employees which emphasises the
personal development of its employees. The Group organises
various social and recreational activities, including annual dinner
and birthday parties, to strengthen the bonding among its
employees and promote their sense of belonging. During Year
2024, there was no material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to the compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare with respect to its employees.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationships with its tenants in relation to its property leasing
business by continuous interaction with them and being
responsive to their demands. The Group has also established
procedures for handling the complaints from its tenants to ensure
the complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely manner.
Because of its business nature, the Group does not rely on any
major tenants and no credit terms are granted to them.
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers (Continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions
cannot be used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (“Pension Scheme”) operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of their payroll costs to the Pension Scheme. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the Pension Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Pension Scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable by the Group in future years.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationships
with its suppliers and business partners to ensure the stability of
it business. The Group reinforces the business relationships with
its suppliers and business partners by ongoing communication
with them in a proactive and effective manner so as to ensure
the timely delivery of services to the Group and a wide range of
potential investments will be available to the Group at all times.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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Auditor

Ernst & Young had resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 8 November 2024. ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company by
the Board with effect from 22 November 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young.

A resolution for the reappointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Chu Hing Tsung
Chairman, Co-Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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th;C

ZHONGHUI

To the members of

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
126 to 262, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

Except for the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section and the Other Matter section of our report,
in all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group recorded a net loss
of approximately HK$785 million and HK$956 million respectively
for two consecutive years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,392 million. By the end of the reporting
period, the Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$5 million and the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,412 million are due to be repaid within 12 months from
the end of the reporting period, including (i) borrowing of
approximately HK$2,215 million which has not been repaid
according to the scheduled repayment date before the end of the
reporting period; and (i) borrowings of approximately HK$1,037
million with original maturity dates of over one year from the end
of the reporting period which have been reclassified to current
liabilities due to the delay in the payment of interest of certain
borrowings before the end of the reporting period. Furthermore,
as described in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2024, the Group was involved in the litigation
related to the other borrowing of the Group with a principal
amount of approximately HK$191 million resulting in the freezing
of several assets and demanding for immediate repayment. The
above events or conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the
Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going
concern basis of accounting (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. The directors of the Company have been
undertaking plans and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position, details of which are set out in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements. Should the going concern
assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made
to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to the
following material uncertainties.

(@  The successful and timely implementation of the plans
and measures for the disposal of the outstanding loan
receivables and loan interest receivables. As of the date of
this report, the transaction has not been completed and is
still in progress.

(b)  The successful and timely implementation of the plans for
the disposal of the financial asset investments. As of the
date of this report, management was unable to provide us
with sufficient information about the details of the plans.
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that we considered necessary to evaluate the
Group’s ability to raise on a timely basis additional funding.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the going

concern basis of accounting (Continued)

(©

The continual support from the existing lenders of the
Group such that they will not demand for immediate
repayment of the relevant borrowings. As of the date of
this report, we were advised by management that such
extension agreements or refinancing agreements are still
under negotiation and no agreement has been signed.
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that we considered necessary to evaluate
the Group’s ability to obtain the continual support from the
existing lenders of the Group.

The successful obtaining of new sources of financing as and
when needed. As of the date of this report, we were advised
by management that such new sources of financing are still
at a preliminary stage and no viable financing plans have
been submitted to the Board of Directors of the Company.
Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that we considered necessary to evaluate
the Group’s ability to obtain the additional funding.

In absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the above,

we were unable to ascertain whether the use of the going concern

assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements is appropriate.
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Other Matter

Had we not disclaimed our opinion regarding the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we
would otherwise have qualified our opinion regarding the scope
limitations on our audit relating to the matters detailed below.

Loan receivables and loan interest receivables

Included in loan receivables and deposits, prepayments and
other receivables on the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were loan receivables
from different borrowers with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,535 million and HK$1,552 million, net of loss
allowance, and related loan interest receivables with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$399 million and HK$349
million, net of loss allowance, respectively. In addition, included in
other income, gains and losses and impairment of financial assets,
net on the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were interest income of
approximately HK$55 million and HK$165 million, and impairment
loss reversed and provided of approximately HK$9 million and
HK$390 million in relation to the abovementioned loan receivables
and loan interest receivables, respectively. Furthermore, investing
cash flows of interest received of nil and approximately HK$22
million, advance of loan receivables of nil and approximately
HK$357 million, and receipt of loan receivables of nil and
approximately HK$75 million in relation to the abovementioned
loan receivables and loan interest receivables were presented in
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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Other Matter (Continuead)

Loan receivables and loan interest receivables (Continued)

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company has established a special investigation committee
to undertake investigation on matters pertaining to the loan
transactions, including but not limited to, the commercial rationale
of the loan transactions and the relationship between the Group
and the borrowers. On 11 December 2024, the independent
forensic investigation firm engaged by the special investigation
committee issued the report of the forensic investigation. We
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy ourselves as to (i) the commercial rationale of the loan
transactions, the relationships between the Group and the
borrowers, and the relationships amongst the borrowers; (ii)
whether the carrying amounts of the loan receivables and loan
interest receivables were properly stated as at 31 December
2024 and 2023; (iii) whether the impairment loss for these loan
receivables and loan interest receivables for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 was properly assessed and
recognised based on the reasonable and supportable information
in accordance with the applicable accounting standard and,
consequently, whether the interest income from these loan
receivables was properly recognised during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023; and (iv) whether the cash flows in
relation to the loan transactions were properly presented in the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
consequential effects on the financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the financial performance and
cash flows of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Other Matter (Continuead)

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section and Other Matter section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide
a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ¥ 3 #% (Bl 3} &

Other Matter (Continuead)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continueq)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Report on Other Matters under Sections 407(2) and 407(3)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence about the appropriateness of the going concern
basis of accounting as described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of opinion section and the loan receivables and loan interest
receivables as described in the Other Matter section of our report
above:

= we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting
records had been kept; and

- we have not obtained all the information or explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
and material for the purpose of the audit.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS i€ EBHE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Rental income HE A 5 89,421 96,958
Direct operating expenses HELERE (6,628) (6,465)
82,793 90,493
Dividend income from listed securities EEHFRBKA 5 - 2
Other income, gains and losses Haplg A - Was & EiE 5 45,698 258,946
Change in fair value of financial assets at AR ETE B EEF A
fair value through profit or loss ERemMEEZAN
5 D) (88,057) (147,287)
Impairment of financial assets, net TREEREFE (102,257) (489,129)
Administrative expenses THER (105,930) (165,030)
Change in fair value of investment KEMEZ R EE
properties (72,301) (63,646)
Finance costs % ER 7 (439,055) (342,422)
Share of losses of: AT 2 B8 -
— associates NG (10,702) (31,141)
— joint ventures — GBI (112,325) (83,071)
Loss before taxation BRI E1E 6 (802,136) (972,285)
Taxation HIE 10 17,567 16,009
Loss for the year FAEBRE (784,569) (956,276)
Loss attributable to: AT &7 EIGEE :
— Owners of the Company B WNEIE 2PN (756,743) (947,409)
— Non-controlling interests —FEVERR A A (27,826) (8,867)
(784,569) (956,276)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO A AR ERZEEAEMN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BRERE (UBWLHIR)
THE COMPANY (in HK cents) 12
— Basic —ER (32.83) 41.11)
- Diluted — e (32.83) 41.11)

1 26 Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4R & 2 H W& &

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER (784,569) (956,276)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSSFOR FRHEMZ2EEE
THE YEAR
Other comprehensive loss that may R B DR R 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in H2EEE -
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEREEZE
foreign operations HER
— Subsidiaries )= MNG] (30,916) (25,222)
— Associates and joint ventures —BERNAREETE (33,302) (24,579)
Total other comprehensive loss that BHAER S BEEEE Y
may be reclassified to profit or loss in Hih2HEEEER
subsequent periods (64,218) (49,801)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that T A EF S IEE B
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZHE 2 E (EE) K
subsequent periods: =
(Loss)/gain arising on property EhEZ (BB,
revaluation W= (2,858) 7,533
Income tax effect Fietis e = (858)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income BEAENERERD
that will not be reclassified to profit or ZzEME2E (E1E) Ik
loss in subsequent periods =5 EE (2,858) 6,675
Other comprehensive loss for the FREMZHEER
year, net of tax (BrBi&) (67,076) (43,126)
Total comprehensive loss for the year SRR HEEIEAEE (851,645) (999,402)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: E(h2MEEEETE -
— Owners of the Company . WNGIE 2PN (796,241) (902,605)
— Non-controlling interests —FEERR A (55,404) (96,797)
(851,645) (999,402)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION &4 Bt B Ak R &

At 31 DECEMBER 2024
R2024% 12 431 H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investment properties KEYE 13 2,016,909 2,133,714
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB L& 14 50,622 54,134
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 25,605 39,460
Interests in associates Big N A s 16 257,634 274,094
Interests in joint ventures BEPERER 17 1,262,968 1,402,837
Amount due from an associate JEUR — KBt N Bl FR 16 409,508 416,542
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUR & &R 17 202,742 216,216
Financial assets at fair value through LAREEAEEH):
profit or loss ABHEemEE 18 1,640 1,640
Total non-current assets EMEBEELREAE 4,227,628 4,538,637
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade receivables JFE Uk BR 7k 20 9,486 6,362
Deposits, prepayments and other e AR EEME
receivables W sk 21 758,117 838,086
Amounts due from joint ventures JEW & &K 17 1,630 1,664
Loan receivables B E K 19 1,770,209 1,894,369
Financial assets at fair value through LARERZAHEEH:
profit or loss ABRHN SR EE 18 278,702 434,677
Restricted bank balances ZIRER T 22 8,518 =
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 22 4,908 57,333
Total current assets REEERE 2,831,570 3,232,491
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accrued charges, rental deposits and EErER ke RHE
other payables fth FE 5 3K 23 701,960 419,184
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERIT R H A E K
borrowings 24 3,411,554 3,485,049
Taxation payable FE T 18 107,089 107,114
Lease liabilities HEaFE 15 2,873 2,187
Total current liabilities mEBERE 4,223,476 4,013,534
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAG (1,391,906) (781,043)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAE
LIABILITIES 2,835,722 3,757,594

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION &4 Bt B ik R &

At 31 DECEMBER 2024
R2024%F 12 431 H

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i3 FHAT THT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAMG
Interest-bearing bank and other STERITREAMMBERK
borrowings 24 34,166 66,887
Lease liabilities HEAaE 15 23,183 43,112
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIAE & 25 143,584 161,161
Total non-current liabilities IEREABERE 200,933 271,160
Net Assets FEE 2,634,789 3,486,434
Capital and reserves EAXRfHE
Share capital &% AR 26 3,626,781 3,626,781
Reserves fFEf 27 (1,303,230) (506,989)
Equity attributable to owners of the ADTEE AEGRRE
Company 2,323,551 3,119,792
Non-controlling interests R A 311,238 366,642
TOTAL EQUITY [i% 42 B 2,634,789 3,486,434
Zhang Wenguang Weng Jian
R E s
Director & % Director & &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY %R &= Z B =

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG LN
Retained
Asset profits/ Non-
Share  revaluation  Translation (accumulated controlling Total
capital reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
BE RERA/ 2R
B EfiRE ERRE (RHER) gt BE  RE4E
HKk$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKk$000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$000
T T AT T T FAx TEr
(note 26)
(Wi 2e)
At 1 January 2023 ABF1A1A 3,626,781 238,076 (10,430F 167,970 4,022,397 472,116 4494513
Loss for the year EMER - - - (47409 (947409 6867 (956276)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) EREp2ENE/ ()
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of HERNEBELZER
foreign operations b = = 38,129 - 38,129 (87,930) (49,801)
Gain arising on property revaluation, EfnEEL bR
net of tax (B - 6,675 - - 6,675 - 6,675
Total comprehensive incomeloss) for the year M2 E NG/ (K%8) 45 - 6,675 3129 (947409  (902609) 96797 (999402
Deregistration of a subsidiary R -HHEAR - - = = - (6,677) [8677)
Transfer to retained profits upon disposal of K ENE K EHERERT
properties - (o7,441) - 57441 - - -
Transfer to retained profts upon disposal ofa i E—EHBAFEEH
subsidlary EREEH - (146671) - 146,671 = = =
At 31 December 2023 and At 1 January 2024 R 2023E12 A31 B R
R2024E1 B 1A 3,626,781 40,639* 27,699* (575,327)* 8,119,792 366,642 3,486,434
Loss for the year EREE - - - (756,743) (756,743) (27,826) (784,569)
Other comprenensive loss for the year: EREtZEAR:
Exchange differences on translation of BEBNFBELZER
foreign operations =8 - - (36,640) - (36,640) (27,578) (64,218)
Loss arising on property revaluation, ERNEELCBR
net of tax (BRH) - (2,859) - - (2,859) - (2,858)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EnrEFRLE - (2,858) (36,640) (156,743  (796,241) (55404) (851,645
At 31 December 2024 R2024E12 31 H 3,626,781 37,781 (8,941)* (1,332,070 2,323,551 311,238 2,634,789
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated deficit of * ZEHEREOESEAMBIRART L
HK$1,303,230,000 (2023: deficit of HK$506,989,000) in the & B 41 1,303,230,000 7% 7T (2023 4F : &5 4l
consolidated statement of financial position. 506,989,000 7T) °

1 30 Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS#Z &S HRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
2024 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BtiE FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation BrE AT AR (802,136) (972,285)
Adjustments for: TR
Share of results of associates BN ERRIES 10,702 31,141
Share of results of joint ventures BESELEXR 112,325 83,071
Depreciation of property, plant and M- HEREREITE
equipment 14 4,929 12,270
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 3,719 3,662
Finance costs MBER 7 439,055 342,422
Dividend income from listed securities EWEHFREWRA 5 - @)
Interest income B WA & (56,597) (203,259)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BEMEHZ
and equipment i A1) F EE 5 (14) (13)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR Z W 5 - (36,957)
Net loss on disposal of investment LEREMEZ BIBFE
properties ) - 10,500
Gain on termination of lease O FFE WS 5 (3,562) =
Change in fair value of investment BEMEZ ARBEEZE)
properties 13 72,301 63,646
Change in fair value of financial assets UARBEFEREE
at fair value through profit or loss FFAEBENSREEY
NREES 6 88,057 147,287
Impairment of financial assets, net SREEREFE 6 102,257 489,129
(28,964) (29,388)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value ~ AR BT E B EEFHEH A
through profit or loss BarEiEER) 61,116 218,664
Increase in trade receivables JE A BR )2 0 (3,124) (2,428)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, e - BN H A FE YR
prepayments and other receivables wA () 35,472 (185,567)
Decrease in accrued charges, rental BErER - AKiEke REM
deposits and other payables JE A~ 5RO (83,159) (114,284)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS#R &R ERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash used in operations REXEBFAZRS (18,659) (113,003)
Dividend received 2 AR B - 2
Interest paid BFE (53,429) (338,662)
Tax paid RENE T 9) (203)
Net cash flows used in operating activities &L ¥ KMAZFRERE (72,097) (451,866)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBHRBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2HAE 1,762 291,831
Purchase of items of property, plantand B AWE - BE L &E
equipment (4,676) (112)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE#% - BiE L &E 2
and equipment FriSsk38 19 275
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYE L FERIA
properties - 70,000
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHEBEARQR - 200,114
Advance of loan receivables B EINER - (357,199)
Receipt of loan receivables Lk B e Uk B 3R 78,000 373,068
Repayment from joint ventures BETEZENR 4,968 211,236
Increase in restricted bank balances 2 PR B SR 1T 45 &R I8 A0 (8,518) =
Net cash flows from investing activities REEGFEZFHeRE 71,555 789,213

1 32 Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS#Z &S HRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHZ2024F 12531 HIFF)E
2023
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXKFMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Other loans raised HMERRE 23,758 90,050
Repayment of other loans EEEMER (15,735) (375,229)
New bank loans HIRTTER - 11,038
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER (48,274) (50,773)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZzAEE D (4,461) (1,918)
Settlement of convertible bonds BEBRES - (41,712
Net cash flows used in financing BEEBFAC
activities FIREemE (44,712) (368,544)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReERReEERLFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (45,254) (31,197)
Cash and cash equivalents at RekReSEFYEE
beginning of year 57,333 97,517
Effect of foreign exchange rate INERTE R BBy o OB
changes, net HE (7,171) (8,987)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HRERHSZEEFEREE
END OF YEAR 4,908 SIES33)
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF RERRSSHEEHIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Ba MBITES 22 4,908 57,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
1 Corporate Information 1

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a public limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
On 28 June 2024, the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company have been changed from
Suite 4901, 49th Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to Room 4013B, 40th
Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in property investment and securities trading. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property leasing and
investments.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

RAEEHR

REBBREREBER AR ([AAF])
BE—RXREBAMKINARZERA
A HROREBHEZHBER AR
(TBEZFT]) £ o 72024 F 6 528 8 -
RAAREFMREERETEL XK
iR ES BT EEE1RSRESHR
DRIELIBI01I EE R AT B ETE
BE1REREESIAANEL01£4013B

=
=

ARAR—REREZBRRAR #FY
ERELBEHFEE -ARAREKB
NE (RS AEED ETEXEYE
HEMREETR -

B AR E R

R2024%F X 2023F 12 A31 B AR A
NTEMBRARGFEBOT

Company name Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued and Equity interest attributable  Principal activities
registration and business paid-up/registered capital to the Company

ARAR i/ BERER A BRORMR/ERRAEE FAAEGRAER  IEXE

Direct Indirect

E# [}
Twin Sparkle Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% - Property holding and
investment

FMEERAR B 28T RENZRRE

Siver Grant International New Energy Technology  The People’s Republic of China - Renminbi (*RMB”)400,000,000
(Guangzhou) Co., Limited (formerly known as (the “PRC")/Chingse Mainland
Noda International Investment (Guangzhou)
Co., Limited)®"

FRARNERNSR (BN ERAT REARANE(RE]),/  ARE4000000007
(FIRHERRRE (B BRAR) hERH

Hongda International Investment (Guangzhou) ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000,000
Co., Limited*®*
LEARRE (BM) BRAR® hE /RN AR 500,000,007

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024 12 731 A1 F/ZF
1  Corporate Information (Continueq) 1 2QRER®#E)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) WEBATER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AR EEMNBARFREWOT : (&)

follows: (Continued)

Company name Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued and Equity interest attributable  Principal activities
registration and business paid-up/registered capital to the Company
ARER i/ EERER AL BRARMR/ERRAEE ERAARGERAESE  TEEER
Direct Indirect
E% i
Siver Grant International Investment Management - Hong Kong HKS1,000 100% - Investment holding
Limited
REARREERARAT gh 100087 RERR
Beiing Runda International Investment PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Investment
Management Limited*"
TREEERREERARAR" hE /PR ARE10000,0007C &
Siver Grant Intemational Investment (Guangzhou) - PRG/Chinese Mainland RVB200,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Limited*®*
REARRE (BN BRAT™ hE/ BN AR%200,000,0007C RERRK
Guangzhou Runsui No.2 Investment Partnership  PRC/Chinese Mainland N/A - 87.25%  Corporate management
(Limited Partnership)* service
BNBR-_SRERELX (ARAE)" hE/ RN AR GEEERE
Silver Grant Interational Holding (Guangzhou) ~ PRG/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000,000 = 100%  Investment
Co., Limited®
PRARER (BMERAR" hE/RER ARH500,0000007 &
Guangzhou Runfu No.9 Investment Partnership  PRG/Chinese Mainland N/A - 100% Non-performing asset
(Limited Partnership)* investment
BNBENRRERR LR (ARAE) hE/ BN TR TREERE
Behal Mao Yuan Investment Co., Limited" PRC/Chinese Mainland RVB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment
FRETRERRAR" hE/ BN AR 500000007 &
Yinjian Energy Trading (Guangzhou) Co., Limited®"  PRC/Chinese Mainland RVB500,000,000 - 100% Trading
RELREH (BN BRAT" hE/ BN AER#500,000,0007C g5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl 22024 12 731 AL F/&F
1  Corporate Information (Continueq) 1 2QRER@E)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEBLARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARG EEMNBARFREWOT : (&)

follows: (Continued)

Company name Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued and Equity interest attributable  Principal activities
registration and business paid-up/registered capital to the Company
ARER i/ EERER AL BRARMR/ERRAEE ERAARGERAESE  TEEER
Direct Indirect
E# i
Taizhou Yinjian Energy Investment Co., Limited ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Environmental conservation
and renewable energy
investment
RNBRERRERRAA hE /R AR%100,0000007T FERERBERERE
Tai Zhou Dong Thai Petrochemical PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,664,089,268 = 68.07% Investment holding and
Company Limited® investment
FNRERIERA T hE/RER ARH1,664,089.26870 REERRRE
Konson Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 = 70%  Investment holding
BERERRAT (3 1007 RERRK
East Gate (Beiing) Property Management Co., Ltd - PRC/Chinese Mainland US§100,413,500 - 100% Property development and
(‘Beiing East Gate")®" investment
FRORDEERARAA(HRRE) ™ HE/ AN 10041350057 NERRREE
# Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the i BIEFEEEFZMAEABREER
PRC law. 7 o
e Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the @ BREBEFEEZEIAMRBINEZEHEEGR
PRC law. 7o
" The English names of these companies represent the best " BRI ARFIMERNE T RXEE %
effort made by management of the Company to directly ERAMNENEBINARREREESR
translate their Chinese names as they did not register any SRS NAER B EEEMS -

official English names.

* Registered as limited partnership company under the PRC * BEFBEEEMAEREREE -
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, FREBWARBDNEERAETEZER

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally SEARAREFEEEIBANREHE l F

affected the results for the reporting year or formed a iﬁ?‘%éﬁjﬁ ol NS RO = I/NEST RN

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give NAEERA  BEEMHMBARN

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the AIEEENERBRITR -

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B E2024F 12431 HIFFE

2.1

Basis of Presentation

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$785
million and HK$956 million respectively for two consecutive
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,392 million. By the end of the
reporting period, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$5 million and the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$3,412 million are
due to be repaid within 12 months from the end of the
reporting period, including (i) borrowing of approximately
HK$2,215 million which has not been repaid according
to the scheduled repayment date before the end of the
reporting period; and (i) borrowings of approximately
HK$1,037 million with original maturity dates of over one
year from the end of the reporting period which have
been reclassified to current liabilities due to the delay in
the payment of interest of certain borrowings before the
end of the reporting period. In June 2024, a court order
in the Chinese Mainland has been issued to freeze certain
bank balances and other assets of the Group due to
the non-payment of an overdue other borrowing with an
outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$191
million (“Overdue Other Borrowing”), as disclosed in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements. Up to the date
of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
except for the Overdue Other Borrowing, the Group has
not received any demand for immediate repayment of its
bank and other borrowings. The Group has been actively
liaising with the lender for settlement of the court order in
relation to the Overdue Other Borrowing and negotiating
with the relevant lenders for extension of the repayment
date of certain of the aforesaid borrowings. The directors of
the Company are of the view that the frozen assets do not
have material impact on the Group’s financial position and
operation. In addition, in June 2024, the Company entered
into an agreement with an independent third party to assign
all the rights, title, benefits and interests of the Company
to, in and under the loan agreements in relation to 54 loans
(the total outstanding principal amount and interest of
which amounted to approximately HK$2,429 million as at
31 December 2023) advanced by the Group, which would
allow the Group to substantially recover a large portion of
the outstanding amount owed to the Group under such
loans within a foreseeable timeframe and in a relatively short
period of time upon completion.

2.1

2IEE

H E 20244 £ 2023F 12 531 H IF &
BEMEFTE AEEHSEEERFES
Bl & %7 785,000,000 7% 7T & 956,000,000
BIT o R2024F 12831 H K& HE
") F O B) & {5 A 491,392,000,000 7%
T BEREHR AEE2HER
R 17 45 #2 49 /5 5,000,000 7% 7T * M A
& E AR 4818 49 /& 3,412,000,000 % 7T
ZEERITRAEMBRABWMEHRK
B+-—EAREE BEORFREH
KRATM AR IZRBRTEAECERBHER(E
3 #492,215,000,0007% 7+ K (i) IR £ 2
HAAREREHR—FULZERLD
1,037,000,000 7 7T (A 7 ¥ 5 BA R AT
EXNETERZNEEEHREE
MENBE) MR A B FRRMT 536
FTiksE » 1 2024F6 A  HRAE £ 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.1

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the

Company have given careful consideration to the Group’s

future liquidity requirements, operating performance and

available sources of financing in assessing the Group’s

ability to continue operating as a going concern. The

following plans and measures are formulated to manage

the working capital and improve the financial position of the
Group:

M

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the Group will continue to implement measures for the
disposal of the outstanding loan receivables and loan
interest receivables;

the Group will continue to take measures to expedite
the disposal of the financial asset investments,
including equity investments and non-performing
assets portfolio;

the Group will continue its negotiations with the
lenders of certain bank and other borrowings or
other financial institutions on the refinancing of the
borrowings; and

the Group will obtain additional credit facilities from
existing and other lenders as and when needed.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.1

Basis of Presentation (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projections prepared by management, which
cover a period of not less than 12 months from 31
December 2024. They are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above-mentioned plans and measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within 12 months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern would depend on (i)
the successful and timely implementation of the plans and
measures for the disposal of outstanding loan receivables
and loan interest receivables; (i) the successful and timely
implementation of the plans for the disposal of financial
asset investments; (iii) the continual support from the
existing lenders of the Group such that they will not demand
for immediate repayment of the relevant borrowings; and (iv)
the successful obtaining of new sources of financing as and
when needed.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the abovementioned
plans and measures and operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl 22024 12 731 AL F/&F
2.2 Basis of Preparation 22 mEUEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, leasehold land and buildings under
property, plant and equipment and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
2.2 Basis of Preparation (Continued) 22 mEEEE(E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.2

2.3

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and
any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Adoption of New and Revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2024. The adoption of these new and
revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations and
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 EAEGFHE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of a joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 ERETBEE)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continueq)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associates or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
and joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continuead) 24 BERETBEE)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EARAESFTHE#E)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cashgenerating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash- generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, leasehold
land and buildings under property, plant and equipment and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt 22024 12 531 HIFFE
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories, investment properties and deferred tax
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash- generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

)

(i)

(V)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group; and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEFTHE#E)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or
valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the
asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to the statement
of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation based on
the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years or over the lease
and buildings term, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 3 years

Plant and machinery 25 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years
Office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

M BERRBURFE (E)

HERTIENE BERREHAH
B S AT R A B ROR S E -
i 54 5L 7 T B o 9 55
MEBFRMT -

HELTHREF  50F IR -
LAB ARG & B

THEMEEE 3%

B 55 % i 2% 254F

R S 5% S 104F

i NE L 5%

B 104

W= -BEMRKEEBETIHLIH
AEAFRAR ZEBB ZKRAER
EEEESEEZABAD  MEHBD
B R RITE - FREE - AIERF
HEFETEZHEIREVBFER
B RIRBEELFE -

W BB LRREER (BREMIDR
ERHERI D) RHE XA EAHK
HEBAMBER TEELRKEERN S
RRIEHER RNRILEREEFEHR
BEEEANEERRBEEEZREX
BE RLEAHEEMSHEFHE
EHBREEMERNEE -

Annual Report 2024
—T_MEFER

153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the right-of-use assets) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease

liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings Over the lease term

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

®)

Right-of-use assets (Continueq)

When the right-of-use assets are related to property,
plant and equipment measured at revalued amount,
the right-of-use assets are included in property, plant
and equipment and measured at revalued amount
in accordance with the Group’s policy for “property,
plant and equipment”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease

inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continueq)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative standalone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as

subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024 12 731 A1 F/ZF

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued) RERHMBEMEE (&)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued) HIBEZREE (E)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial assets at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 EAEGFTHE#E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised
in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required
or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continuead) 24 BERETBEE)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of the consideration that the Group could be
required to repay

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024 F 12 31 HiF F/Z

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SRMEERME(E)
General approach (Continued) —MHE(E)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans, borrowings
and senior notes are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continuead) 24 BERETBEE)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: () the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 EAGFHE#E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continuead) 24 BERETBEE)

Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when or as control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEFTHE#E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 EAEGFTHE#E)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. Where employees
leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions cannot
be used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAGFHE#E)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension scheme (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) operated by the
local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentages of their payroll costs to
the Pension Scheme. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Pension Scheme is to pay the ongoing
contributions under the Pension Scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 EAGFTHE %

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continuead) 24 BERETBEE)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are currencies other than
Hong Kong dollars. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except
to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued) 24 EAEGFTHE#E)

Foreign currencies (Continueq)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is
explained in note 2.1 to consolidated financial statements.

Property lease classification — the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term
not constituting a major part of the economic life of the
commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of these properties which are leased out and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

BERGHE RS &)

#

R R A E R R B B
HEPREHEN EREE LM
THHGREFTEAN S EEREA
Z P2 K

REGANBREADREELEEE
RE - HAMMERGA M EBRRMER.1
R -

WREETH - A EEBLHHEA

AEECHRERENFAGTLEE
WMEMRE - RIBE A L PR S 5T
ZEHE  MEBTEKE A X &
BSTHTIEN ) AREHEERER
BETrERNERANEZIBRABO ARE "
AEEEETHERBEZEHEMEM
BREMBNBARERD T B R 5O -
VBB HNAREHEAR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under
a finance lease, the Group accounts for these portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continueqd)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties of HK$2,016,909,000
(2023: HK$2,133,714,000), representing properties for
residential or commercial use, are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of these
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly,
deferred taxation in relation to these investment properties
has been measured based on the tax consequences of
recovering the carrying amounts entirely through use.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

Provision for ECL for amounts due from an associate
and joint ventures, loan receivables and loan interest
receivables

The Group individually calculates ECLs for its amounts
due from an associate and joint ventures, loan receivables
and loan interest receivables. The measurement of ECL
under HKFRS 9 for the Group’s amounts due from an
associate and joint ventures, loan receivables and loan
interest receivables requires judgement on, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows
when determining impairment losses and the assessment
of any significant increase in credit risk. These estimates
are driven by a number of factors, where the change of the
factors which result in different levels of allowances, a lower/
higher impairment loss may arise. The Group uses its credit
loss experience, repayment history and financial position of
the Group’s associate and joint ventures, debtors and their
guarantors (if any) and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions to estimate the
probability of default, the loss given default and the impact
on the forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition
by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected
life between the reporting date and the date of initial
recognition. The Group considers reasonable, supportable
and available information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes
quantitative and qualitative information and also forward-
looking analysis.
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3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

Provision for ECL for amounts due from an associate
and joint ventures, loan receivables and loan interest
receivables (Continued)

In relation to the valuation of amounts due from an
associate and joint ventures, in addition to the above,
the management has exercised judgement in estimating
the timing and future cash flows to be recovered with
reference to the timing of the collection of receivable from
the associate and joint ventures, in order to determine the
recoverability of the amounts due from the associate and
joint ventures.

The carrying amounts and the accumulated ECLs of
amounts due from an associate and joint ventures, loan
receivables and loan interest receivables are as follows:
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2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Carrying amounts BREE

Amount due from an associate JEUR — KBt N A 5K 409,508 416,542
Amounts due from joint ventures JEW & &K 204,372 217,880
Loan receivables FEWE K 1,770,209 1,894,369
Loan interest receivables JEUE R B 497,063 467,902
2,881,152 2,996,693

Accumulated ECLs EfRHBEEESE
Amount due from an associate FEUL — KB & A B 95,321 99,200
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUE &R 8,173 4,433
Loan receivables JEURE X 465,609 457,913
Loan interest receivables FE W & F A B 135,001 118,996
704,104 680,542
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3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties and
leasehold land and buildings

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties and leasehold land and buildings under
property, plant and equipment are stated at fair value
of HK$2,016,909,000 (2023: HK$2,133,714,000) and
HK$33,879,000 (2023: HK$36,959,000), respectively,
based on the valuation performed by independent qualified
professional valuers. In determining the fair value, the
valuers have based on investment approach or direct
comparison approach, which involves, inter-alia, certain
estimates, including capitalisation rate, market rent, term
yields, reversion yields and comparable market transactions.
In relying on the valuation, management has exercised
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, for investment
properties and leasehold land and buildings, are disclosed
in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

When the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active markets,
the fair value is determined using a variety of valuation
techniques that include the use of mathematical models.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of certain unobservable
inputs as detailed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the level where the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in the
fair value hierarchy. Significant management judgements
and estimates are required in determining the valuation
of financial instruments which are categorised as Level 3
in the fair value hierarchy. As at 31 December 2024, the
amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was HK$280,342,000 (2023: HK$436,317,000). Further
details are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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3

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continueq)

Impairment assessment of investment in joint
ventures

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for investment in joint ventures at the end of
each reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of the investment in the joint venture exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of recoverable amount requires significant judgements
by management, in particular, on key internal inputs and
external market conditions which impact future cash flows,
discount rates and long-term growth rate. If future events do
not correspond to the assumptions, the recoverable amount
will need to be revised, and this may have impact on the
Group’s operating performance or financial position. Further
details are given in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and has the
following reporting segments:

(@ the property leasing segment representing holding of
properties for rental income potential and/or for capital
appreciation; and

(b)  the investments segment representing the investments
in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and loan receivables.

3

SR BRRME

BERGHE RS &)

fhat REEEM (&)

REELEZREZBERZ

AEEREREHRFENRAELE
CRERBHFERETFR - BN —K
RELCEZRENKREEBBE AN
Ol &% (AHERAREREEKAEER
BEMETORSE)R  BILBERE -
AETREeREFEEREEELEX
Al LEFTEEEEAFERKR
emeE BEERRAEREABR
%ﬁk%ﬁ&%%ﬁﬁzgﬁ°%
AREHEBRRAAFT  AF2H AWK
Bl ¢ AETER m%T EH AR EHE
MEEXEEIMBARELERE - £
—HHBERNGEE M B mRMEE7

e wER

REEMES ASEERERE D EK
B WRABNUTAI 235D E0

@ MEHEDIE/EDESEA
R/IEREBENREYE:
K

b) REDHEARAAEFEEHE
Pt ABENEREERERE

RERE -

Annual Report 2024
—T_MEFER

187



188

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

4

Operating Segment Information (Continuea)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before
tax except that non-lease-related finance costs, share
of results of associates and joint ventures and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

No segment assets or liabilities are presented as the chief
operating decision maker does not regularly review segment
assets and liabilities.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE2024F 1231 HIFFE

4

Operating Segment Information (Continuea)

Segment revenue and results

Year ended 31 December 2024

RETEER (#)

2 EB U R R AR

HZE2024F12A31BLLEE

Property
Investments leasing Total
BE L EL N st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Revenue Yz
- Rental income -l A - 89,421 89,421
Segment loss DEEE (159,671) (12,933) (172,604)
Other unallocated income, HiARHBUWA ~ WS
gains and losses K E1E 12,653
Corporate expenses PERZT (82,504)
Finance costs (other than interest MKER(HEAEL
on lease liabilities) I SBRAN) (436,654)
Share of losses of: BT 2 EE
— associates ok UNE] (10,702)
— joint ventures —BEDE (112,325)
Loss before taxation B T A S 18 (802,136)
Taxation BiA 17,567
Loss for the year FREE (784,569)

A IR t 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4= & B 7 R 3% Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt 22024 12 531 HIFFE
4 Operating Segment Information (Continuead) 4 ReEFTER(E)

DR EREE(E)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued) HZEZ2024F12A31 HILEFEE(£&)

Property

Investments leasing Unallocated Total

RE
HK$'000
TRET

BN
HK$'000
TET

R E
HK$'000
TRET

it
HK$'000
7

Other segment information:

Depreciation

Change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Interest income from loan
receivables

Impairment of financial
assets, net

Change in fair value of
investment properties

Net gain on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment

Capital expenditure

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Share of losses of associates

Share of losses of joint
ventures

Hith 7 AEH

ik

AR ERER
HEHHA
BEmmeR
BEZDR
BEE2H

FREFNFISHA

eREERE
HE
REMEZ
RMREED
HENE  BER
Rl Was
A
EARX
NSl 3
aELFER
BB nAnER
BHaRtRNBR

(88,057)

56,538

(102,257)

(801)

(72,301)

1,541

(7,847)

14
3,135
257,634
1,262,968
(10,702)

(112,325)

(8,648)

(88,057)
56,538
(102,257)
(72,301)
14

4,676
257,634
1,262,968

(10,702)

(112,325)

REBERZEREEER A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024 12 731 A1 F/ZF
4  Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4 REIHERE)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F 12831 BILEE

Property
Investments leasing Total
BE MERE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Revenue Wz
- Rental income —HeW’A = 96,958 96,958
- Dividend income from listed —EmESHFRERA
securities 2 - 2
2 96,958 96,960
Segment loss DEEE (399,166) (20,006) 419,172)
Other unallocated income, HRDBWA -« Was
gains and losses KEE 28,436
Corporate expenses rERE (128,675)
Finance costs (other than interest BKER(HEAREZ
on lease liabilities) FEBRIN) (338,662)
Share of losses of; BETI 28
— associates =N (31,141)
— joint ventures —REDE (83,071)
Loss before taxation B T A S 18 (972,285)
Taxation I8 16,009
Loss for the year FAER (956,276)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
4  Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4 REIHBERE)
Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) BZ2023F12A31 BILEE (&)
Property
Investments leasing Unallocated Total
RE MERE AAE BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Other segment information: At #E5E# -
Depreciation ne - (763) (15,169) (15,932)
Change in fair value of NARERER
financial assets at fair value ~ E &8zt A
through profit or loss Eafom
BELDR
BEE (147,287) = = (147,287)
Interest income from a RE—REE
joint venture EEROMIBA 4,787 - - 4,787
Interest income from loan EREZRHFSHA
receivables 197,907 - - 197,907
Impairment of financial SREERE
assets, net FH (489,129) = = (489,129)
Change in fair value of RENEL
investment properties AREZE - (63,646) - (63,646)
Net gain on disposal of LEME  BER
property, plant and B pdl
equipment FE - - 13 13
Capital expenditure BEARRY = = 112 112
Interests in associates BENAELR = = 274,094 274,094
Interests in joint ventures aelbEEs - = 1,402,837 1,402,837
Share of losses of associates  #{HE & R R MY B 18 - - (31,141) (31,141)
Share of losses of joint BhEERENEE
ventures - - (83,071) (83,071)

1 92 Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

4  Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s business operates in two principal geographical
areas — (i) Hong Kong and (ii) the PRC. In presenting
information on the basis of geographical locations, revenue

is based on the location of operations.

Revenue from external customers

BESBER (&)
bt 50
AEE G EBEMEESnEEE ()

EBR ()P - RHIBME 25 E R
Ua2s Th LA B AT fE 3t B B o

X E I EBE B W a2

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Hong Kong &3 - 2
PRC s 89,421 96,958
89,421 96,960

Non-current assets FrBEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Hong Kong aBE 2,332 803
PRC s 3,611,406 3,903,436
3,613,738 3,904,239

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, amount due from an associate
and amounts due from joint ventures.

Information about major customers
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no

revenue from transactions with a single external customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

PP EEEH DEREERE
BB REEAAAENEE RS
B ARBMHSBMEE Bl — R
)\)\/_\ &FE” /\AAE%TAO

FEEFHNESR

RELE 2024 F 202312 A31H L&
FE - KRBEEEINSTFPETRS
B9 UL A HE T R R AN & B B U A ) 10%
Ak e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12531 HIFF/E
5 Revenue, Other Income, Gains and Losses 5

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

i - HtA - EREE

WEEDT

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEL
Revenue from other sources H e KR 7
Gross rental income @ WA 89,421 96,958
Dividend income from listed securities EmEHRBRA - 2
89,421 96,960
An analysis of other income, gains and losses is as follows: HMRA - R REBEITET :
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income on: FEIA -
— amount due from a joint venture —ER—REEDREK - 4,787
- bank deposits —iRITIER 59 565
— loan receivables —FEWE TR 56,538 197,907
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain &5 (&B8) s F58 (1,051) 37
Net gain on disposal of property, plant HEWME - WE K& s
and equipment SR 14 13
Net loss on disposal of investment HEREME BIEFE
properties - (10,500)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBAR 2 W= - 36,957
(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets HEMNAREFEBHE
at through profit or loss FFABERNEREEZ
(BB W= (25,283) 1,360
Gain on termination of lease TR E WS 3,562 =
Others ot 11,859 27,820
45,698 258,946

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

6

Loss Before Taxation

The Group’s loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

BRBLAT &S 18

AEBERBATBEDENE, GEA)
THI%IA

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration 2% HRD BN & 4,200 7,200
Changes in fair value of financial assets at A At {ETE B HE 8t AEE
fair value through profit or loss NEeMEELRANE 88,057 147,287
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BB REREITE
equipment 4,929 12,270
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 3,719 3,662
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAMAZ (RIEESRER
directors’ and co-chief executive officers’  1TERAAE B < (A7:#8))
remuneration (note 8))
Wages and salaries TERES® 51,643 60,133
Pension scheme contributions RIREEHEIHEK
(defined contribution scheme)* (EEEHERETED 2,198 2,681
53,841 62,814
Rental income under operating leases for & EWELEHEZHES KA -
investment properties, less outgoings of 837 46,628,000 7% 7T
HK$6,628,000 (2023: HK$6,465,000) (2023 F : 6,465,000/87T) (82,793) (90,493)
Impairment of financial assets, net SREEREFRE 102,257 489,129
Change in fair value of investment WEWE L AREER
properties 72,301 63,646

*

There were no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

* NS B R 8 X 3 £ (0 AR MR RRUA
PR KR A HFOKFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

7 Finance Costs

7 HKEHR

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FiEr

Interest on bank loans RITEFFE 10,893 14,897
Interest on other loans HiERFE 425,761 323,765
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEBER B (M 150b)) 2,401 3,760
439,055 342,422

8 Directors’ Remuneration

Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)
(@),(b),(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

8 EE=M=

RFEE BEBRIMESFLETRAY - FH
# N 75515 383(1)@) * (b) * (©) & () 15
URAR (HEBEESM=ER) HOIE2
HiEENESMeFBOT

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Fees we 3,501 3,800
Other emoluments: Hi e -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ AL R EWEF 10,298 9,127

Discretionary bonuses BIEELL 2,038 1,559

Pension scheme contributions RINEFT B FR 266 116

Subtotal NEE 12,602 10,802

16,103 14,602

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

8 Directors’ Remuneration (Continuead)

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

EEME®)

(a)

BAFGITES

FAXNTBEILIFATEST 214
ST

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Liang Qing RE 400 400
Zhang Lu ofk 3% 400 400
Hung Muk Ming VN 300 300
1,100 1,100

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

REZE2024E 12 A31 BIEEE -
WEEMEMNBIIENTEE
B4 (20234 : &) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4= & B 7 R 3% Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE2024F 12 31 HIF FE

8 Directors’ Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive director

Year ended 31 December 2024

8

EEME @)

(b) FTEERIBTEES

HZE2024F12A31BLLEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
Fe -2 RikE
ne REVEAN MERA TR o FR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors HiTES

Chu Hing Tsung REM 600 - - = 600
Chen Yongeun (notea)  BRKTE (Hita) 400 4,107 1,060 18 5,585
Ku Ka Lee (note b) BEF (Hitb) 123 - - - 123
Luo Zhihai (note ¢) BEE(Hitc) - 1,114 486 8 1,608
Tang Lunfei oted)  EfR (Hfita) 2717 - - - 277
Weng Jian B 400 2,669 492 160 3,721

Zhang Wenguang RXE (Hritr)
(note 1) 201 2,408 - 80 2,689
2,001 10,298 2,038 266 14,603

Non-executive director ~ FFH{TES

Chen Zhiwei BREE 400 - - - 400
2,401 10,298 2,038 266 15,003

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

8

Directors’ Remuneration (Continued)

(b)

Executive directors and non-executive director

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

(b) BITEERFUTEER(HE)

BZE2023F 12831 BILFEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
He R RIKE
we REWEN WL AR Hes
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FET
2023 2023 F
Executive directors WiTES
Chu Hing Tsung REM 600 - - - 600
Chen Yongcun BRoK Tz 400 4,378 685 18 5,481
Luo Zhihai BEE 600 2,688 403 18 3,709
Tang Lunfei B 400 - = - 400
Wang Ping (note 6) FE(fiste) 9% 822 471 = 1,391
Weng Jian (note g) S (Wit 202 1,239 - 80 1,521
2,300 9,127 1,559 116 13,102
Non-executive director ~ JFHITEE
Chen Zhiwei BREE 400 - - - 400
2,700 9,127 1,559 116 13,502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

8 Directors’ Remuneration (Continuead)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive director
(Continued)

(a)

Mr. Chen Yongcun resigned as a co-chief
executive officer of the Company and has been
re-designated from an executive director to a
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 1 January 2025.

Ms. Ku Ka Lee has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect
from 10 September 2024.

Mr. Luo Zhihai resigned as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 July 2024.

Mr. Tang Lunfei resigned as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 10
September 2024.

Mr. Wang Ping resigned as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 April 2023.

Mr. Zhang Wenguang has been appointed as
an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 July 2024 and appointed as a co-chief
executive officer of the Company with effect
from 1 January 2025.

Mr. Weng Jian has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 July 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHZ2024F 12531 HIFF)E
9 Five Highest Paid Employees 9

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2023: three), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid non-
director employees for the year are as follows:

TEBREHES

RAFEE IEER=FEEEE =4
(2023 : =ZR)EF REZHMF
BERN EXHRRMES - REAFE -
HEAM G (2023F : MA) REHIFE
ZEREZHMFRBET

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - EEL R EWREF 4,264 7,067
Discretionary bonuses BIEEAL 388 1,050
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEI K 170 290
4,822 8,407

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

FHN T TN BB FEEREFE
BHEHEBEWMT :

o 2023

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7t = 3,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7 7T = 5,500,000 7% 7T - 1

2 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

10 Taxation 10 FH1E

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong had no
assessable profits or had incurred tax losses during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The taxation charge of the PRC Corporate Income Tax
(“CIT”) for the year has been made based on the Group’s
estimated assessable profits calculated in accordance with
the relevant income tax laws applicable to the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. Under the Law of the PRC on
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT Law”) and the Implementation
Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax rate of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC was 25% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 25%).

The withholding tax arising from dividend income received
from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC is calculated at
5%.

HZE20245 12 A1 BIEFE  ARA
REIREREEZWB A B I EER
B Mk xS RAE B MIALRB IR
BEBFIBH (20234F : £) °

FR - PRGEMSH(REMRERD
TR R BB 2 M @A R LAEET
R v ) AR 9 8 AR /0 4B A AT 15 B A 1
FTEAS MBI L REFBEME
FEBE ((EMERED REBEM
SROABERMAA - B E2024F12 A 31
HIEFE ARARFBEZHERF
Z T E A 25% (2023 F 1 25%) °

SRS Al FNCIE 8§ &S,
WA Z TBHIB L% MR E -

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FExT FET

Current: BIHR
PRC CIT — charge for the year REIBEMSH — FRAXH 10 -
Deferred (note 25) BIE (f5E25) (17,577) (16,009)
(17,567) (16,009)

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
10 Taxation (Continued) 10 BIE (&)
A reconciliation of income tax credit applicable to loss BARRIRERBLOWEB QG FEMET
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which TEalEER Z2EEREGFE 2REA
the Company and most of its subsidiaries are domiciled BEEBRAMESHEREZ BRI X
to the tax credit at the effective tax rate for the year is as B2 AFEBHBERAHENT :
follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss before taxation R A B 1B (802,136) (972,285)

Tax credit at the PRC statutory income  2F BDAE ISR RtE 2

tax rate I % (200,534) (243,071)
Effect of different tax rates of other B el iR TRMRE 2 2

jurisdictions 2,687 (7,923)
Share of results of joint ventures B ELEER 28,081 20,768
Share of results of associates BIhHERRES 2,676 7,785
Income not subject to tax BRRBIA (8,586) (6,518)
Expenses not deductible for tax Rk 151,369 185,055
Tax losses not recognised RNERRIEEE 13,917 12,049
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not A 5t Al A FE R B 518 2

previously recognised BrxeE (7,177) =

(17,567) (16,000)

The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures BhBENARAEELERES R A
amounting to nil (2023: HK$21,000) and HK$943,000 Z (20234 : 21,0007 7t) & 943,000
(2023: HK$5,921,000), respectively, are included in “Share T (20234 : 5,921,000/ 7T) ' E 5
of profits or losses of associates” and “Share of profits or BT ARE BRRARN [# (L E AR
losses of joint ventures” in the consolidated statement of Bl RI#BLHEEMEER] -

profit or loss, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

11

12

Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Loss Per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity
Holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the
following data:

11

12

g

REE2024F 12 A31 B ItFE R &
R A B R AR B (2023 4F © &)

ARAREERBEREARLERE
|

ARREBERFAARGEERER
EETRE N OIBIERT BTG

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FExT FET
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders B AGFE &R E KR EIE 2 AN Q 7
of the Company used in the basis loss TRERSEARLEBE
per share calculation 756,743 947,409
Number of shares
R&BEA
2024 2023
In thousand In thousand
TR Fhz
Weighted average number of ordinary AUGTESRAEAREBEZFRE
shares in issue during the year used in BT E B NRE I8
the basic loss per share calculation 2,304,850 2,304,850

No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were
no potential dilutive shares outstanding for the year ended
31 December 2024.

No adjustment for dilution has been made to the basic
loss per share amounts presented for the year ended 31
December 2023 as the Company’s convertible bonds
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share amounts presented.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

13 REWE

13 Investment Properties

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE FET

At beginning of the year i) 2,133,714 2,309,146

Disposal HE - (80,500)

Exchange realignment PE i A (44,504) (31,286)
Change in fair value recognised in profit ~ R IBRKRERZ A EE

or loss (72,301) (63,646)

At end of the year RER 2,016,909 2,133,714

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Chinese
Mainland and were revalued on 31 December 2024 based
on valuations performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited
(“GCA”), an independent professionally qualified valuer, at
HK$2,016,909,000 (2023: HK$2,133,714,000).

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further details of which are included in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the legal title of the Group’s
investment properties with a carrying value of approximately
HK$95,441,000 (2023: HK$101,264,000) situated in the
PRC has not been passed to the Group.

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
investment properties with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$1,963,283,000 (2023: HK$2,078,366,000) were
pledged to secure general credit facilities granted to the
Group (note 24(a)(i)).

AEBNOREMELMRFEANM - T)
BEBIEEXESERGEMEETE
BRAR (NEZE])R2024F12 A31H
FT{E /) 15 (B E 1% A& 2,016,909,000 7% 7T
(20234 : 2,133,714,000/8 ) °

REVERBEERELETE=T
E—HHBRARNGAMBHRRME 5 -

M2024F 12 A31H AEEM KR
7 3% & W) % 2 BR T B 49 A& 95,441,000
78 7T (2023 4F : 101,264,000 7T) By %
BNARBFERNEER -

MR2024F 12 A31H  AEEKR@A
& 4&1,963,283,000# 7T (2023 4 :
2,078,366,000% L) WE TR EWEE
EER UERETAEEN—KE
B (FsE24()()) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

13 Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair
value measurements of the Group’s investment properties
are using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, for all
investment properties that are measured at fair value, the
properties have been used in their highest and best use.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
13 Investment Properties (Continued) 13 BEWHXE (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AREEHR(E)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and the NTAAEE 2 REMEREMAZ
key inputs used in the valuation of the Group’s investment HERNTEEERAZUBRHRE :
properties:
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs
EER M BRAAEEBAEE 2023
Office Investment approach Capitalisation rate (%) 6.25 6.25
BT BEX BRE (%)
Market rent (RMB per square 150-159 150-240
meter per month)
miEHEe (BREFHRARET)
Carpark Direct comparison approach — Adjusted transaction price 153,000~ 220,000~
(RMB per carpark space) 225,000 250,000
() BEEHERX RRABZHER
(BE=EMARET)
Commercial and Investment approach Capitalisation rate (%) 5.75-6 5.75-6
Residential
BEREE REE BERE (%)
Market rent (RMB per square 95-317 150-265

meter per month)
misHEe (BRAETHRARET)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
13 Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value was determined using direct comparison
approach by reference to comparable sales transactions
available in the relevant market or by investment approach,
where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties
are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected
by investors for these types of properties. The market
rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in
the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation
rate adopted is made by reference to the yields derived
from analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial
properties and adjusted to take into account the market
expectation from property investors to reflect factors
specific to the Group’s investment properties.

A significant increase/decrease in the market rent and
adjusted transaction price in isolation would result in
a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase/decrease in
the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA
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REWME (&)
DREER(E)

ARABERERERLEEZ2ENEMRM
MG ZAHEBNHEERZTANERE
SRR EMAAEENEEL TS
HeRERREERILEYXMAY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B1 % 3R & M 5+

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

14 Property, Plant and Equipment 14 Y% BERRE

Leasehold
land and Leasehold Plant and Furniture Office Motor
buildings improvements ~ machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles

BELH
REF HENXEE HEREE GARRE  BOERR ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

31 December 2024 20245128318

At 31 December 2023 and 4202312 A31H

1 January 2024; R2024%
1A18:
Cost A - 19,557 - 4,607 10,191 17,430 51,875
Revalued amount sfhieE 36,959 - - - - - 36,959
Accumulated depreciation  E3H7E R {E
and impairment - (13,032) - (86) (7,761) (13,821) (34,700)
Net carrying amount REFE 36,959 6,525 - 4,611 2,430 3,609 54,134

At 1 January 2024, netof  722024F1 818 -
accumulated depreciation 1B 2317 E K

and impairment HE 36,959 6,525 - 4,611 2,430 3,609 54,134
Exchangerealignment  [EREE (65) (101) 45) (98) 33) (54) (396)
Additions RE - 1,502 3,026 109 39 - 4,676
Disposals e - - - - 4] - 4]
Revaluation Bff (2,858) - - - - - (2,858)
Depreciation provided M RHTE

during the year & (157) (2,559) 48) 85) (1,323) (757) (4,929)

At 31 December 2024, #2024 12 A 31
net of accumulated B MNBREiH
depreciation and ERAE
impairment 33,879 5,367 2,933 4,537 1,108 2,798 50,622

At 31 December 2024 12024 %

120318
Cost KA - 20,653 2,980 4,705 9,910 15,263 53,511
Revalued amount Bt 33,879 - - - - - 33,879
Accumulated depreciation  Z3HTER{E
and impairment - (15,286) (47) (168) (8,802) (12,465) (36,768)
Net carrying amount ERFE 33,879 5,367 2,933 4,531 1,108 2,798 50,622

A IR t 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE2024F 12 31 HIF FE

14 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

14 Y% BERRE &)

Leasehold
land and Leasehold Fumniture Office Motor
buildings  improvements  and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
MELTH
RET HEMEEE HKARSE BORRE HE aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR T T T T T
31 December 2023 20235128318
At 31 December 2022 and R202F12A31 AR
1 January 2023; 2023%F1 818
Cost KA - 26,570 5875 10,899 19,870 63214
Revalued amount Bt 214,640 - - - - 214,640
Accumulated depreciation LHFTERAE
and impairment - (18,001) (1,109) (5,821) (14,724) (39,695)
Net carrying amount REFE 214,640 8,569 4,766 5,078 5,146 238,199
At 1 January 2023, net of M2023F1 1A
accumulated depreciation NBZHTER
and impairment RE 214,640 8,569 4,766 5,078 5,146 238,199
Exchange realignment B 5 AR (44) (199) 68) (58) (52) (415)
Additions NE 4 - - 108 - 112
Disposals LE - - - (12) (250) (262)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHEAR (178,739) = (24) = - (178,763)
Revaluation Eff 7,533 - - - - 7,533
Depreciation provided FRiHENE
during the year e (6,435) (1,851) (63) (2,686) (1,235) (12,270)
At 31 December 2023, 202312 318 -
net of accumulated NG 2:E
depreciation and impairment RAfE 36,959 6,525 4,611 2,430 3,609 54,134
At 31 December 2023: M2023F12 318 :
Cost KA - 19,557 4,607 10,191 17,430 51875
Revalued amount Bt 36,959 - - - - 36,959
Accumulated depreciation SHFTERAE
and impairment - (13,032) (86) (7,761) (13,821) (34,700)
Net carrying amount REFE 36,959 6,525 4,611 2,430 3,609 54,134

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024 12 731 A1 F/ZF
14 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the legal titles of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings with a carrying value of
approximately HK$31,125,000 (2023: HK$33,946,000)
situated in the PRC have not been passed to the Group.

The fair values of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at on the
basis of valuations carried out by GCA. The valuations were
arrived at using direct comparison approach by reference to
sales evidence as available on the market, and investment
approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of
the properties are assessed and discounted at the market
yield expected by investors for these types of properties.
The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as
other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood.
The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference to the
yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar
commercial properties and adjusted to take into account the
market expectation from property investors to reflect factors
specific to the Group’s leasehold land and buildings. The
revaluation deficit on revaluation of the leasehold land and
buildings amounting to approximately HK$2,858,000 (2023:
revaluation surplus of HK$7,533,000), before tax effect, was
debited (2023: credited) to asset revaluation reserve.

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s plant and
machinery with aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,523,000
(2023: nil) were pledged to secure general credit facilities
granted to the Group (note 24(a)(ii)).

14 YE BERSKEE)

A

M2024F 12 A31H » NEEM R FH
/) BR A (BB 494 31,125,000 7% 7T (2023
1 33,946,000 T) < HE T K12
FHERELRBPEARER -

REBMAE L RIEFR2024F &
2023F 12 AB B Z ARETIEREE
e 2 BEFGHME ZSHEED
FREELEEAKCL2BMISIINER
HEBBURKELETE  EFFAE
AHEAYEENZMSEEEIEREE
ESMEYEATEA ISR R E
TEEERFE -mEHSIBESE
B EHEYESEM 2AS RE MBS
M HAEME - EREFERE SR
EZOMEURENEIHER S KA
BYEREEEMBEMBAEL TR
AEEHETHREFZERAE-
HMETHREFRBEZEINER
185 4t 49 52,858,000 7T (20234 : &
A 87,533,000 7L) ERNEEE
fh & R 40BR (2023 4F @ 5T A) ©

R2024F12 A31 B AEEERERAE
52,523,000 7T (20234 : ) WET
BEREEDEER  NERE TR
SEN—REERE (MFE24(@)i) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
14 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair
value measurements of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings are using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, for leasehold
land and buildings that are measured at fair value, the
properties have been used in their highest and best use.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and the key
inputs used in the valuation of the Group’s leasehold land

14

ME - BERRE &)
DREER

H E 20244 K 2023FE 12 A31 B IEF
B - AEEHELTHEERFEHAAE
STEFHEATAEREAZE (F3
) o

ARAEBEERR RMARREFEN
HELHEETME WEIEEA
BREBRANRERS °

H E 20244 K2023FE12 A31 A IFF
B FB1GEFOHrBALERN BT
SER NEEASELEIR -

ATREAEEBE Tt REFEHEM
RZEERME T2/ AZIEHE

and buildings:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Weighted average
fRERM EXTATBEEGAEE ETHE
| oo 2023
Office (located in Investment approach Term yields 5.8% 5.8%
the PRC) REE FHRE
BFE(URPEH) Reversion yields 6.3% 6.3%
EREE
Market rents (RMB per square 91 88

meter per month)
mEEe (BAGTAXK

ARETT)

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
14 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14 Y% - BERRE#E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AREEHR(E)
A significant increase/decrease in the market rent and HETHREFNTMSEHEHS RERAE
adjusted transaction price in isolation would result in REGEBEREBABLA TREBEH
a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the HARBEKRBEN B HELH
leasehold land and buildings. A significant increase/ MEFHREXEBEB AR TB
decrease in the yield in isolation would result in a significant BEREARBERBRD, G-
decrease/increase in the fair value of the leasehold land and
buildings.
If leasehold land and buildings had not been revalued, they MAHEE LM REFETEME ]
would have been included on a historical cost basis at the TSR SN A EEA TS EAK
following amounts:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
At 1 January: m1A1H :
Cost (DN 23,938 148,932
Accumulated depreciation REtITE (23,104) (139,233)
Net carrying amount BREFE 834 9,699
At 1 January, net of accumulated M1 A18 - MBRREITE
depreciation 834 9,699
Depreciation provided during the year FAZITERE (157) (4,513)
Disposal HeE - (4,352)
At 31 December, net of accumulated M12A31 8 - MR R E
depreciation 677 834
At 31 December: Mm12H318 :
Cost BN 23,938 23,938
Accumulated depreciation REHITE (23,261) (23,104)
Net carrying amount BRESE 677 834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

15 Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group leased office premises in the PRC and Hong
Kong under operating lease arrangements. Leases for the
property are negotiated for a term of 13 years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use

assets and the movements during the year are as
follows:

15 #HE

REBEEREEA

AEEREEEZHELHEETER
EENBRAEDE -MENHEOKE
BERHIBF - —RME AEET
SREEEEER MO HEREEIAS

(a) RAEZE

ASBEREEENREERSF
NEEEEHINT -

Total

HK$'000

FET

As at 1 January 2023 20231 A1 R 43,729
Depreciation charge WEER (3,662)
Exchange realignment ME H 38 B (607)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 720234 12 A 31 H k20241 3 1H 39,460
Additions hE 27,883
Depreciation charge TEEHR (3,719)
Decreases due to terminations FESiTip: s (36,826)
Exchange realignment bE 3 (1,199)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H 25,605

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

15 Leases (Continued)

15 #HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBMERABA (F)
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEERE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

SREMNKREAERFANEE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
At beginning of year F1 45,299 48,003
Additions B 27,883 -
Accretion of interest recognised F R F BN
during the year 2,401 3,760
Payments NE:N (4,461) (1,918)
Amount transferred to accrued HEZEGTER AR R
charges, rental deposits and HMENZKz 5
other payables (3,285) (3,836)
Decreases due to terminations Sl %e (40,388) =
Exchange realignment P& 3 % (1,393) (710)
Carrying amount at 31 December 712 431 H Z k& 26,056 45,299
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mENE S 2,873 2,187
Non-current portion ERBE D 23,183 43,112
26,056 45,299

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

HEAEMIHBEITREGEAH
TEMRRMITES4HEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

15 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

15 #HE#E)

FEBEREBEA(E)

(c) SEERNBRPEROSERMT

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HE&BBENE 2,401 3,760
Depreciation charge of TREEAENREER

right-of-use assets 3,719 3,662

Total amount recognised in profit RIBRERNE R
or loss 6,120 7,422

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
28(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leased
its investment properties consisting of certain residential
and commercial properties in the PRC under operating
lease arrangements with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 to 10 years (2023: 1 to 10 years). Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$89,421,000 (2023:
HK$96,958,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

(d HENRSREEBEREGESPE
¥R M RE 28(0) HK R

AEMAERHEA

HZE2024F12831BIEFER A%
EREBECEHELELHEREME
(BRETHRFEMFERPEDE) -
HEBLERN T A1 E10F (2023 4F :
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ABTBIEFERNERNES WAL S
89,421,000 7 (2023 4 : 96,958,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
15 Leases (Continued) 15 #HE (&)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) REBERAEBEA(EF)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had the RIFEHR ASEREHERE 2
following undiscounted lease payments receivable in future A HH A & T E 2 R 2k HA ) e R
periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its AR E T -
tenants:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 78,779 74,548
After one year but within two years —FEMFNR 41,663 38,601
After two years but within three years MEFEZ=FNK 19,204 23,244
After three years but within four years = FEOFNA 11,922 12,340
After four years but within five years MFEZAFR 10,659 9,115
After five years TELAE 21,560 19,662
183,787 177,510
16 Interests in Associates 16 H& aEz=
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of net assets DIFEE 257,634 274,094
Amount due from an associate FEUL — KB & A B 504,829 515,742
Impairment BB (95,321) (99,200)
409,508 416,542
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount due from 2024 F K 2023F 12 A31 A »
an associate was unsecured, non-trade in nature, non- —XREBERNRRAEERT  ERXFHE -
interest bearing and expected to be repaid beyond one T ERBEHRN—FREER -
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

16 Interests in Associates (Continued)

NCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B1 I 3R R it 5%

16 HE QRS (#E)

An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting RERER KEREWR —FKEBLER
date by considering the probability of default of the amount AR EAOMERETRES T - RN
due from an associate. As at 31 December 2024, the 202412 A31H ' TER 2 BHH X
probability of default applied was 26.5% (2023: 26.8%) and 526.5% (20234 : 26.8%) ' {HaTE X
the loss given default was estimated to be 61.5% (2023: BEREE61.5%(2023%F : 62.1%) °
62.1%).

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss TRINTHER —KEERRRZE
allowance for an amount due from an associate: BRE 2

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year F A) 99,200 83,613
Impairment loss (reversed)/provided during £ AR EE 18 (B @) 511
the year (1,738) 16,787
Exchange realignment bE 5 5 2 (2,141) (1,200)
At the end of the year RER 95,321 99,200
Particulars of the associates as at 31 December 2024 and MR 2024 F2023F 12 A 31 HEE 2 A A
2023 are as follows: HBAT
Percentage of
ownership interest
Particulars of Place of registration attributable to
Company name equity held and business the Group Principal activities
AEEER
AREB FisREER BRREXLY BERERLA TEEH
Cinda Jianrun Property Registered capital PRC 30% Investment holding
Company Limited*
GERBREAGRLA AR HE REER
Guangzhou Ruifeng Investment Registered capital PRC 19.6% Investment holding
Company Limited**
BMmEREERL A AfEA HE REER
# Registered as a domestic limited liability company under the 5 BEFEEZRAMABEANEREEA
PRC law. Al e

The English name of these companies represents the best

Y mRUAREMEME S EXEE %

effort made by management of the Company to directly ERAMNENEBIARTERES
translate their Chinese name as it did not register any official BEABNEEREEEEMS -
English name.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &R &

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

16 Interests in Associates (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not
individually material:

51 7% R R By =

N B R ()

TRIRAEBE @R M F AL AEKA
BE R R R R B HHE AR

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Share of the associates’ losses for the year # {5 B & /A &) 4 (10,702) (31,141)
Share of the associates’ other oW E R RF
comprehensive loss for the year &8 (5,758) (4,240)
Share of the associates’ total BB E AR 2 EBEAE
comprehensive loss (16,460) (35,381)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s A& B REE QA &
investments in the associates BREEARE 257,634 274,094

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting
to HK$19,804,000 (2023: nil) for Cinda Jianrun Property
Company Limited. As at 31 December 2024, the accumulated
losses not recognised were HK$19,804,000 (2023: nil).

At 31 December 2024, as a result of the litigation, the
interest in an associate of Cinda Jianrun Property Company
Limited were frozen pursuant to the court order as disclosed
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEBW AR EERZHMERRA A
HE 52 F N /548 19,804,000 7% 7T (2023
F:F) o P2024F 12 A31H 0 4
RIER A R 5T B 18 A 19,804,000 7% 7T
(2023%F : &) ©

R2024F 12 A31 B HA4R A B 5K
%zliﬁuf%ﬁﬂ&’sg BRFR FEE
B ERRA EN AN o
Eﬂ%%ﬁ%/ﬂ*ﬁ%\/ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
17 Interests in Joint Ventures 17
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Share of net assets DIFEE 1,567,602 1,707,471
Impairment BB (304,634) (304,634)
1,262,968 1,402,837
Amounts due from joint ventures FEM A & D EER 212,545 222,313
Impairment VERED (8,173) (4,433)
204,372 217,880
Portion classified as current assets SEARBEEZHS (1,630) (1,664)
Non-current portion EREE D 202,742 216,216
As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due from joint M2024F 12 A31H « EUA EDERK

ventures were unsecured, non-trade in nature, interest-
free and repayable on demand as to the amount of
HK$1,630,000 (2023: HK$1,664,000) and repayable over
one year as to the amount of HK$202,742,000 (2023:
HK$216,216,000).

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
IRZBEBRIZEREEFR QA

1,630,000 7T (20234 : 1,664,00078
TC) BB EX S 2 B NER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
17 Interests in Joint Ventures (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the recoverable
amount of the Group’s investment in ZHYQ (as
defined below) was determined based on value-in-use
calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 14.5%. The cash flow projections
beyond the period of financial budgets were extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2% which did not exceed the long-
term average growth rate of the industry. Based on the
impairment assessment performed, the recoverable amount
was approximately HK$1,218 million. Key assumptions on
which management has based its cash flow projections
to perform impairment testing include: (i) sales growth
rates and budgeted gross margins on the petrochemical
business which is based on expected market development
and management experience in the industry; and (i) pre-
tax discount rate which reflects specific risks relating to the
underlying business.

An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of the amounts
due from joint ventures. As at 31 December 2024, the
probability of default applied ranged from 3.9% to 8.3%
(2028: 1.1% to 8.5%) and the loss given default was
estimated to range from 62.8% to 63.6% (2023: 57.1% to
63.3%).

17

BELERER (B

HEC024FE12A31BILFE  KEE
REEHER (ERXRETX) 2ZRENA
WESEREaREEEI]ENT
FHUBEE FRRS R
HERAEEMET BRARRSRE
FERIR R AT RE IR R 5 14.5% © B H BT 7%
BEHRIRERETRRHE 2% Mg &
KR WABRBITERAFTHIER
o RIBEITHRER S - AT E &5
#9%1,218,000,000% 7T ° & 12 [E 1R #&
HESREBALETREAANEE
BREBE  (ERTTEERTMSREKR
EELBRNALEBNHEEERER
TEE EF R R (i) e ELAE A ¥ 75 4
8 1) F TE BB 0 B ARG ER R o

RERER KEREREEEED
BAOMRBETRED N - 12024 F
12A31A - MIERZEANBRENTF
3.9% £ 8.3% (2023 F : 1.1% £ 8.5%) -
HEFEHNBREN T62.8% E63.6%
(20234 : 57.1% £ 63.3%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
17 Interests in Joint Ventures (Continued) 17 S LERERE)
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss TRINTHEREEDERHIEE
allowance for the amounts due from joint ventures: .z H R
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FEr
At the beginning of the year NG 4,433 9,577
Impairment loss provided/(reversed) during 4F PR E BB T2, (B @)
the year 3,836 (5,005)
Exchange realignment ME W (96) (139)
At the end of the year RER 8,173 4,433

Particulars of the joint ventures as at 31 December 2024

R2024F N 2023F 12 A31HA &

and 2023 are as follows: A (N
Percentage of
ownership interest
Particulars of Place of registration attributable
Company name equity held and business to the Group  Principal activities
KEEELR
AR B FisREER BRREXLY BERRELAN TEXH
Zhong Hai You Qi (Tai Zhou) Registered capital PRC 51%  Production and trading
Petrochemical Company Limited of petroleum and
(‘ZHYQ"y petrochemical
products
RiEhR (RN ALER BRI HE EERHERAR
AR([HhEHRD)" AiLER
Meizhou City Ji Shan Operation Registered capital PRC 50%  Investment in urban
Management Company Limited*" renewal projects
BNTEERLERERAR"  EMKRE hE REWMMEHIER
Beijing Lingjun New Energy TechnologyRegistered capital PRC 50%  Research and
Company Limited* development,
transfer and
promotion of new
energy technology
It RBEHRREHL BRI HE AR MR
BREFEREY BERER
# Registered as a domestic limited liability company under the # BETEREEIMARRNEREEL
PRC law. Al e

The English names of these companies represent the best
effort made by management of the Company to directly
translate their Chinese names as they did not register any
official English names.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

17 Interests in Joint Ventures (Continued) 17 S8 LERER(E)
ZHYQ is considered as a material joint venture of the Group FEBRREEARESENERSGED
and is accounted for using equity method. ¥ HARRZEAR-
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRIRABAPE RN ERE
information in respect of ZHYQ adjusted for any differences Z ERgERENTRNEEFELH
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount B BAR G B SRR AR IR E IR -

in the financial statements:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Current assets mENEE 4,435,390 3,712,394
Non-current assets ERBEE 7,382,900 8,076,715
Current liabilities mEAE (8,016,566) (6,614,599)
Non-current liabilities FEMBEE (801,154) (1,964,595)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in HMAEEEGEDERER 2R -
the joint venture:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEE 2 RB LA 51% 51%
Share of net assets DR EE 1,530,290 1,637,057
Impairment JE (304,634) (304,634)
Carrying amount of the investment &7 REE 1,225,656 1,332,423
Revenue A 33,240,732 29,813,453
Loss for the year FAEE (157,370) (135,171)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEMEEE (51,977) (37,623)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FALHEEGERE (209,347) (172,794)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

17 Interests in Joint Ventures (Continued) 17 S LERERE)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRINRAEBE@ER TS LTEKA
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not BERENTBERIER

individually material:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Share of the joint ventures’ losses for BEARELEFTAEBE

the year (32,066) (14,134)
Share of the joint ventures’ other BOAEEFTNEMEZEEIR

comprehensive loss for the year (1,036) (1,152)
Share of the joint ventures’ total BHeaErETABELS

comprehensive loss (33,102) (15,286)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBREGELEZREZ

investments in the joint ventures BREEEEE 37,312 70,414

18 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit Or 18 UAREFNEBRHESBHFAERZN
Loss cREE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FEr
Listed equity investment, at fair value LETRAEE  RAAE 7,514 16,534
Unlisted equity securities I LETRAES 58,259 57,854
Unlisted funds IELEMES 166,326 230,800
Non-performing assets portfolio TREEHRE 46,603 129,489
Others E 1,640 1,640
280,342 436,317

Current portion B (278,702) (434,677)
Non-current portion ERBNE D 1,640 1,640

R2024%F K% 202312 A31H » kit
AT EDEAUAREFELELE
it A ABENEemEE RFRAEHE

1EREE -

The above equity investments at 31 December 2024 and
2023 were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as they were held for trading.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024 12 731 A1 F/ZF
18 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit Or

19

Loss (Continued)

The above unlisted funds and non-performing assets
portfolio at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows were not solely
payments of principal and interest. Details of the fair value
hierarchy of the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 December 2024, as a result of the litigation,
the unlisted equity securities and unlisted funds of
approximately HK$44,219,000 and HK$144,431,000 were
frozen respectively pursuant to the court order as disclosed
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Loan Receivables

18

19

UAAEHEARBBHAREY
SRRAE (2)

20244 K% 202312 H31H » kit
FEMESRTREEHGERED
HAULAAREBENEAEZHTARS
NemEE REAHAGNREME
WHERASRMEMNK - AR ARE

AREERFHBEANGAPHEHEERM
L33

R2024F 12 A31H » 4R A B 15
WMAMEICELE - Bafad - BRI
Ehrme  FLTMRAZFSRIELT
D B R % 49 44,219,000 7T &
144,431,000/ 7T °

FE W & 5K

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

Loan receivables, unsecured JEURE K - EIK 2,235,818 2,352,282
Impairment BB (465,609) (457,913)
1,770,209 1,894,369

As at 31 December 2024, a loan receivable, guaranteed
by a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company, of an amount (before loss allowance) of
approximately HK$78,000,000 (2023: HK$156,000,000)
was unsecured, carrying interest at fixed rate of 4.75%
(2023: 4.75%) per annum and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, loan receivables outstanding from
independent third parties of an aggregate amount (before
loss allowance) of approximately HK$2,157,818,000 (2023:
HK$2,196,282,000) were unsecured, carrying interest at
fixed rates of 12% to 20% (2023: 12% to 20%) per annum
and had fixed term ranging from 2 months to 2 years (2023:
2 months to 2 years).

R2024F 12 A31 H » AR A — W
B AR IEERIRER 2 FEWER (5
IZESTE B RT) 4978,000,0005% 7T (2023
 : 156,000,000/ 7T) A& EIK T -« 1%
4.75% (2023 5 : 4.75%) [E] & F F| & 51
BRIZREKER -

MR2024F 128310 EBWBLE =
FAREENEREREE GHREEER
#A) #92,157,818,0007% 7T (2023 4 :
2,196,282,000%& 7T) & EHE R - HEF
T12% £ 20% B & F A E 5 8 (2023
F:12%E20%) ' EEHARB2MEAE
2F (20235 2B AE2F) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt 22024 12 531 HIFFE
19 Loan Receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance for loan receivables:

19 EBWER#)

TRITHEBERER 2 BREE 2 HK

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE FET

At the beginning of the year i) 457,913 149,322
Impairment loss provided during the year — “F A& (B E5 185112 15,151 310,200
Exchange realignment ME W B (7,455) (1,609)
At the end of the year RER 465,609 457,913

An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of loan
receivables. As at 31 December 2024, the probability of
default applied ranged from 2.4% to 43% (2023: 1.1% to
51.5%) and the loss given default was estimated to range
from 53.3% to 63.6% (2023: 52.7% to 64.0%).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
published an announcement dated 18 March 2024 that an
independent special investigation committee (the “Special
Investigation Committee”) has been established on 18
March 2024 for the purposes of, among other things,
investigating on various matters and events, including
but not limited to the commercial rationale of the loan
transactions and the relationship between the Group and
the borrowers, relating to the loan transactions with an
outstanding aggregate principal of approximately HK$1,976
million and related outstanding loan interest receivables
of approximately HK$454 million as at 31 December
2023. The Special Investigation Committee has engaged
an independent forensic investigation firm to undertake
an independent forensic investigation into the concerned
matter (the “Forensic Investigation”).

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

REHwER  CEBERKERAELOHR
RIBEITRE DT - 2024 FF 12 A 31
H FIERZEAOBEAN T24%=E
43% (20234 : 1.1% = 51.5%) * {5t
#4318 K KA T 53.3% E63.6% (2023
F 1 52.7% = 64.0%) °

REE2024F 12 A31HIEFE - &K
Nl 3B A202543 818 H A
i NRERR2025F3 818 H A 3L
BURAEZES ((FRAEEE
g]) B (HPEE) ATEHERX
SERNSEETELRSH (BERAT
RARETERR R EEERURAE
EEHEEFAZENER) ZEZXR
2024 F 12 A1 HZ WABEALELD
1,976,000,000 7 7T A K 10 B8 ok 18 2 e
U B FF B #454,000,0007% 7T © 45 B
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
19 Loan Receivables (Continued)

On 11 December 2024, the independent forensic
investigation firm issued the report of the Forensic
Investigation. Further details of the report of the Forensic
Investigation are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 27 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the
loan transactions with an outstanding aggregate principal
of approximately HK$1,942 million and related outstanding
loan interest receivables of approximately HK$502 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
published an announcement dated 18 March 2024
that the Company had entered into a memorandum
of understanding with Guangdong Zhuguang Group
Company Limited (“Guangdong Zhuguang”), pursuant
to which the Company intends to sell and Guangdong
Zhuguang intends to acquire all the rights, title, benefits
and interests of the Group to, in and under the loan
agreements with an aggregate outstanding principal and
interest (the “Loans Interest”) of approximately HK$2,430
million as at 31 December 2023, whereas the consideration
shall be settled by Guangdong Zhuguang by way of
assuming the obligations of a subsidiary of the Company
under two entrusted loan agreements (the “Entrusted
Loans”) with an aggregate outstanding principal amount
of approximately HK$2,075 million and interest accrued
thereon and assignment of certain properties located in
the PRC by Guangdong Zhuguang to the Company. The
proposed transaction, if materialised, would provide a
good opportunity for the Group to recover substantially
the outstanding loan receivables and loan interest
receivables within a foreseeable timeframe and in a relatively
short period of time, thereby minimising the associated
uncertainty and credit risks, and the proposed novation of
the Group’s debt under the entrusted loan agreements to
Guangdong Zhuguang also provides a good opportunity for
the Group to settle the entrusted loans and the rights and
liabilities of the Group under the entrusted loan agreements
will be discharged. Furthermore, the proposed transfer of
the target properties to the Company allows the Group to
enlarge and diversify its investment properties portfolio with
high quality assets, as well as to strengthen the income
base of the Group.

19

R2024F 12 4118 B EAHEHAEH
BHAZLZEAETRE E—THEBEHR
RARE BEA2024F 12 A27HHY
N R2024F12 A31H » KEEXR
& BE 4 51,942,000,0007% 7T Z B 5K
RHREBREERKRERFENR
502,000,000 7T °

REZE2024F 12 A31HIEFE - AR
A HIEE Q89452024 F 3 A 18 HAY A -
NEEBAARFIHERAKAEEER
NAI([EREEN]) FT LR E =
B AN R B D T B AR BK OF R R
REERER BRI NEEN FTER -
MlakiEas EXAEERNSRASE
B([EFERE]) R2023F 12 A31H A
#92,430,000,000/& 7T * M {EE M E
REHRHAEATI G R E  AEARRQF
—FHMBRARRMHNETERHE (£
AEXDBETHERS  ERMREER
% 4858 #92,075,000,000 7 7T LA & JE 51
ME REREAEECATENSE
THHETAEE - WEEERERXS  H
18 AARDRRME R IATER T8 B A B
] %0 [ 1% AR 3 8 A9 I R o L [l oK B
2 8RB A B E R E W E SR
B a KBRJE iR D 4 B ) R R
EMHMEERE BAEEEZAE
FBETHESEREREERK L
MAREERBEEZTERNRME -
MAEBEREZTERBEE T AT
REBE SR o I - BERAQF]
EEZEEAGEWEELAEERMEKR
REZ Tt HEBEEEMNIREYHEMES -
I 058 AN & B Ay UL A AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12531 HIFF/E
19 Loan Receivables (Continued)

20

As at 31 December 2024, the Loans Interest of
approximately HK$2,444 million and the Entrusted Loans
and interest accrued thereon of approximately HK$2,229
million. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the transaction has not been
completed and is still in progress.

Trade Receivables

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated on the respective
revenue recognition dates:

19

20

BWRER (&)

MR2024F12A31H ERER
2,444,000,0008 TR ZtE R K HE
=T F B #92,229,000,000/8 7T ° # & %
ERAMBRREMLEBE X5 H
RIFEK BAIEEITH o

& UK B R

TIRKRERRREEZ BU RN E
H WA BE R B HIME A0 2 R U AR AR
HEMRZRE DN

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TETT

Within 1-2 months 1-2f@ AR 9,486 6,362

The Group’s trade receivables represent receivables arising
from the rental income from tenants. The credit period is
generally one month to two months. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.

Since the Group’s trade receivables were related to a
number of diversified customers as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, there was no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
Based on evaluation on ECL rate and gross carrying
amount, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the financial impact of ECL in respect of these balances
is considered immaterial. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, the loss allowance for trade receivables was assessed
to be minimal.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
21 Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables 21 &E - FBAAIRREMERR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
Loan interest receivables JEU B SR A B 632,064 586,898
Prepayments TEF 3K 3,388 3,144
Deposits and other receivables a K E b FE YR 403,064 447,360
1,038,516 1,037,402
Impairment BIE (280,399) (199,316)
758,117 838,086
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss TRIRELEMEHRTEHEEEER
allowance for financial assets in the above balances: 2 HR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year REH] 199,316 32,517
Impairment loss provided during the year — £F R B 185112 85,008 167,147
Exchange realignment PE i A (3,925) (348)
At the end of the year RER 280,399 199,316
An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting RERER KER AR S
date by considering the probability of default of financial BEMNEABMERETREI T R
assets in the above balances. As at 31 December 2024, 2024 12 A31H ' FIER 2 BHBXR
the probability of default applied ranged from 2.4% to NF2.4%ZE100% (20234F : 1.1% &=
100% (2023: 1.1% to 100%) and the loss given default was 100%) ' fHEFELIBAREN T 53.3% =
estimated to range from 53.3% to 63.6% (2023: 52.7% to 63.6% (2023 4F : 52.7% £64.0%) °
64.0%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12531 HIFF/E
22 Restricted Bank Balances and Cash and Bank 22 ZRHEBITESRERERBITER
Balances
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Restricted bank balances ZPBR B SRIT 4B &R 8,518 =
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHER 4,908 57,333
13,426 57,333

At the end of the reporting period, the restricted bank
balances and cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$12,120,000 (2023: HK$54,321,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had certain restricted
bank balances were frozen due to certain ongoing litigations,
including the amount of approximately HK$7,331,000 were
frozen pursuant to the court order as disclosed in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

23 Accrued Charges, Rental Deposits and Other 23 EGER HXZRERHEMEMNRK

Payables
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$°000
FExT FET
Purchase of land use rights W B - 30 (50 FR 4 40,713 41,612
Accrued charges fEst & F 474,342 109,199
Rental deposits HigZe 20,386 17,865
Other payables oAb B 5 5K 132,664 207,995
Financial guarantee contracts PIEEERED 33,855 42513
701,960 419,184

The payable for the purchase of land use rights in the
PRC as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was due to
an independent third party and was secured by certain
of the Group’s investment properties of approximately
HK$73,434,000 (2023: HK$77,263,000).

The accrued charges as at 31 December 2024 was
included the amount of interest payable of approximately
HK$95,109,000 related to the Overdue Other Borrowing
under litigation as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given in connection with the loans of a joint venture of the
Company. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over the guarantees.

2024 F K 2023F 12 A31H » B
Bl T ERAE BN RRENT
—BBUE=FWRIE DRESENA
73,434,0007%8 7T (20234 : 77,263,000
BIL) ZAEEBETIREMEIEERR -

R2024F12 A31H » Bt BHE A
B A M B RERM 6 E 2 FNR
BETaHREMEREBZEMNFES
%84995,109,0008 7T °

MBEREBNVEIARBRLEERN
fEERHMIER - NEE L EL IR
Fr A EAER R (S SRR EG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

23

Accrued Charges, Rental Deposits and Other
Payables (Continued)

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
the holders (i.e., the banks) for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the debtor (i.e., the joint venture). During the year ended
31 December 2024, no ECL allowance was provided as a
result of the loans of the joint venture (2023: Nil).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts
is classified as Stage 1. During the year, there were no
transfers between stages (2023: Nil).

Except for the above, the accrued charges, rental deposits
and other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

24 RE-FTEETREMER

2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity interest rate Maturity HK$'000
ERAI= H#A ERHIE %A T
Current B
Bank loans - secured BIER-BER 5% 2025 127,860 8% 2024 130,795
Bank loans - unsecured BIER-BER 5.5% 2025 15119  3.7%t0Z 55% 2024 30,905
Other loans - secured AHER-FER 5.70% 2025 316 4%10ZE 12% 2024 316,589
Other loans - secured EpET-BEA  9%toZ 12% On demand 3,251,520 9% On demand 3,006,760
Other loans - unsecured EER-ERA 11.04% 2025 16,739 = = =
3,411,554 3,485,049
Non-current FEH
Bank loans - unsecured BIER-BER - - - 37%t0% 55% 2025 33,775
Other loans - secured EMEF-EEA 57%toZ 27.6% 2026t0 22030 34,166 4%10F 276% 202610% 2028 33,112
34,166 66,887
3,445,720 3,651,936
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
24 Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings FERBRITREMER
(Continued)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Analysed into: P2k iIv=1,
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIETER
Within one year or on demand —FARIZREKR 142,979 161,700
In the second year BF - 33,775
142,979 195,475
Other loans repayable: FEEEEMER
Within one year or on demand —FANIZRERK 3,268,575 3,323,349
In the second year B_F 334 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EERF
(BEERME) 33,520 33,112
Over five years #A 38 F 312 =
3,302,741 3,356,461
3,445,720 3,651,936

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited

REBERZEREEER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

24 Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

Notes:

() As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s borrowings
were secured or guaranteed by:

(i) pledges over the Group’s investment properties with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,963,283,000
(2023: HK$2,078,366,000) (note 13); and

(i) pledges over the Group’s plant and machinery with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,523,000 (2023:
Nil) (note 14); and

(i)  guarantees provided by Mr. Chu Hing Tsung
and Guangdong Zhuguang for borrowings of the
Group amounting to HK$2,023,843,000 (2023:
HK$2,057,533,000) at the end of the reporting period;
and

(iv)  securities provided by a substantial shareholder and
two independent third parties of a listed shares in
Hong Kong for borrowings of the Group amounting to
HK$190,961,000 (2023: HK$195,177,000) at the end
of the reporting period.

(b)  As at 31 December 2024, all bank and other borrowings
were denominated in RMB as at the end of the reporting
period.

(c) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings included borrowings of approximately
HK$1,037 million (2023: HK$3,007 million) with original
maturity dates of one year from the end of the reporting
period which have been reclassified to current liabilities due
to the delay in the payment of interest of certain borrowings
before the end of the reporting period.

24

STREBTREMERE)

Hat -
(@)

M2024F12 A31H » KEBEE T
FTA TS S IE R IR sk PR -

() A £ B KK @ L E A
1,963,283,0007% 7T (2023 4F :
2,078,366,0007% 7T) M & & ¥
E2EM(ME18) &

iy  AEER@AER2523,000%
JC (2023 F : T) M B K 1 23
2ER(KiE14) &

iy KEMEERERKLNRK
4 HA K 5t 2,023,843,00078 7T
(20234 : 2,057,533,0003 7T)
CAREEEREER &

vy RIEHER —REB LMK
PHEERREEMBELE=
7B AR K E G R A K R
190,961,0007% Jt (2023 F :
195,177,00056 7T) °

MN2024F12 A31H  RIREE* -
FTARIT R EAM BRI AARMEE -

MN2024F12 A31H - AEBE W A
17 & E A 18 FE $E 49 1,037,000,000
7 7T (2023 4 : 3,007,000,000% 7T)
Mg HRTHHBEARSHRE
—F EARREBRANEBRITNET
BROFEMBEEFTHEARBAGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
25 Deferred Tax 25 EEBIIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during BREFENECHBEEERAGSR
the reporting years are as follows: wn
Accelerated tax ~ Revaluation of
depreciation properties Tax losses Total
MEREBRE NRER HEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
T FET AT TAT
At 1 January 2023 M2023%1 718 (65) (193,786) 1,808 (192,033)
Credited to profit or loss during FEREABE (Mt 10)
the year (note 10) - 16,009 - 16,009
Charged to other comprehensive FRREMHZENRNR
income for the year - (858) = (858)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-AKBAT - 15,721 - 15,721
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F 12 A31B R
1 January 2024 202451R18 (55) (162,914) 1,808 (161,161)
Credited to profit or loss during FRFABR(HZ10)
the year (note 10) - 17,577 - 17,577
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31R (55) (145,337) 1,808 (143,584)

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHZ2024F 12531 HIFF)E
25 Deferred Tax (Continuead)

The Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$842,640,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$1,220,680,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also had
tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of approximately
HK$666,039,000 (2023: HK$381,599,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, no deferred tax was
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that were subject to withholding
taxes of the Company’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred
tax liabilities were not recognised totalled approximately
HK$1,494,224,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$2,010,230,000).

25

IR SEBLIR ()

R2024F12A31H A&EBEERA
A 2 Bi1E E 18 49842,640,000 % 7T
(2023 4 : 1,220,680,0007% jt) -+ A
BmREAEREESBERAT ZRK
ERFUER - AEETEREFEAM
2 Tt TA 5 18 #9 666,039,000 7% 7T (2023
F 1 381,599,000 7L) + R —ERF
WEIER - AT A EE S R R IERBUR T ©
MARZEEERRECHEEE -
REGBR#HRE AT KB AIEA
B TE & 18 LA S FE R B ) o

BEFBRCEMEHE  RPBEA
B ZSNEI R EREMINEREES
&2 M B ABRI0% BT - BB
TEE2008F 1 A1 BBER  WiEAR
200712 A31 B 28 2 BF| o i B
A EESNEL IR B E FT B AR R 2 [
BRI - BIE A BN LA gEEE o
RAEEME BAKREES% - Bt -
A& B AR S R B A M AR ST A B
BARBE2008F1 A1 HEMELR
ik 2 IR S AnTEE -

2024 F K& 2023%F 12 A31H » &
G N/NET D SN =B VAo = R/NC]
RERBHARTENT 2 RHTERF X
2 EMBERE(ELERIE - A AR
EERE 2SHBRRTKRAERA
FERARKRDIKAEBREF - R2024 F 12
A31H  BRABEAHEBRRZE
BEB YR EEARE (MBI ER
FREFRIAB &) 49/51,494,224,000
77T (2023 4F : 2,010,230,00087T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4= & B 7 R 3% Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12531 HIFF/E

26 Share Capital 26 B
Number of Nominal
shares value
RaEE H{E
‘000 HK$’000
Fhig FET

Issued and fully paid: BBITRESERA

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R2023F1 A1 8 20234
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 12 H31H 2024118 X

202412 A31 H 2,304,850 3,626,781
27 Reserves 27 f#fE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements TEERAFERBATFENRFHER
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HEHSERUBRRZGEERE
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial ERFPES -

statements.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %42 4 B ¥ 8 3k Mi 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE2024F 1231 HIFFE

28 Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 28 MEHESRERMET
Flows
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) RMEXEBMEEZEEEH
activities
Total liabilities
Lease Convertible from financing
Borrowings liabilities bonds activities
REMETH
EE HESE ARRES ZEELH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 18 3,930,740 48,003 41,712 4,020,455
Changes from financing cash flows BEELTREE (324,914) (1,918 41,712) (368,544)
Accretion of interest recognised ~ FRHERHF| &
during the year i - 3,760 - 3,760
Amount transferred to accrued BB Z BB - K
charges, rental deposits and e RAMERNK
other payables prdsox - (3,836) - (3,836)
Exchange realignment IR E (53,890) (710) = (54,600)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12 A31 B K
1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 3,551,936 45,299 - 3,597,235
Changes from financing cash flows BERE & REE (40,251) (4,461) - (44,712)
New leases Gikik - 27,883 - 27,883
Amortisation of loans BHEENRTHE
arrangement fee 10,915 - - 10,915
Accretion of interest recognised  F RFERAF| B
during the year #m - 2,401 - 2,401
Amount transferred to accrued BB EEHEA -
charges, rental deposits and M%ze ki
other payables ERRz &5 - (3,285) - (3,285)
Decreases due to terminations Sp S 1D - (40,388) - (40,388)
Exchange realignment IR E (76,880) (1,393) - (78,273)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%E12 A31H 3,445,720 26,056 - 3,471,776
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bf #& 8% 3% i 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

28 Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (Continuea)

(b)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

28 HMEBRETRERMEHE)

(b) HERSRHARE

A RERERZEERS
MR

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FET

Within operating activities RIEEHEBRESE 2,401 3,760
Within financing activities REEESPEE 4,461 1,918
6,862 5,678

29 Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s

borrowings are included in notes 13, 14 and 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

30 Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital
expenditures contracted for but not provided for in respect

of the purchase of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$4,204,000 (2023: Nil).

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited

REBERZEREEER A

20 EEHEA

MAEBEERCEBZ2EEFBERN
REPTEIRRMIFE13 - 14 K24 -

30 EiE

MR2024F 12 A31H "EEREEY
¥ WMERRENCTHE N KES
BB ANFE X 49 4,204,000 7 7T, (2023 4F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

31 Related Party Transactions and Balances

(a)

(b)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

BN T X 5 I A5 o

(a)

RE SRR 2D AT 2 X B
S+ AEERE N RBB B
T

Interest income from a joint venture —RKEEREZNERA
Interest expense to non-controlling B A Al FEHERR IR R 2 IS

shareholders of subsidiaries ¥ H

Management fee to an entity controlled 37 {5 4 BE A 2 4E — B 3T 37

by a close family member of Mr. Chu 4| T &8 &

Hing Tsung

Management fee income from ajoint —RAEZENEZEEBERA

venture

Motor vehicle leasing income from a joint — R & & ¥ 7 REHE

venture WA

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TET

- 4,787

- 1,325

1,367 1,356
1,711 -
235 3,839

The above transactions were conducted in
accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were
conducted in the ordinary course of business of the
Group.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
directors and the co-chief executive officers of the
Company represented the key management personnel
of the Group and details of the compensation of the
key management personnel are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(b)

Bl 32 5 Th AR 15 4 B 1 2 5K
EIT-ARAEFRS BB
RPTIRAEEREERBBIER
#ETT o

FEEXEEBEAEHE

ARBEERR KARAEER
BETREARSASREZIES
BAE -FHIEZEEAEMNS
ZEIBEN A M RRMTES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4= & B 7 R 3% Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl 22024 12 731 AL F/&F

32 Financial Instruments by Category 32 ZREREszemTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial AEBERFEem T ARKRSEBHRNEK
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting HEMAT :

period are as follows:

Financial assets ERMEE

2024 2024 F

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

UAAEHEEHES
TABENEREE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated amortised
recognition as such cost
REBH
RA% RAGEMN
BARETE REEE SREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FE FET FET FET
Amounts due from joint ventures EUAEDER - - 204,372 204,372
Financial assets at far value through AR EEEEEH
profit or loss HFABENEREE 67,413 212,929 - 280,342
Loan receivables U E S - - 1,770,209 1,770,209
Trade receivables EURBR X - - 9,486 9,486
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t ATB 7% » £t fE U Z K
other receivables and other assets EEEZSREE - - 754,729 754,729
Amount due from an associate U —RBERRIR - - 409,508 409,508
Restricted bank balances RIREIRIT R - - 8,518 8,518
Cash and bank balances ReRBITHES - - 4,908 4,908
67,413 212,929 3,161,730 3,442,072

242 Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
32 Financial Instruments by Category (Continuead) 32 RENIASzZEMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEE (&)
2023 2023 F
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
WRRBEFEREES
FAERREREE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated amortised
recognition as such cost Total
RS
i Ib7 ARG 2/
REETE @ HEE PREE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Amounts due from joint ventures EMEEDER - = 217,880 217,880
Financial assets at far value through ~ AR EFTE B HE
profit or loss FABENEREE 76,028 360,289 = 436,317
Loan receivables EME R - - 1,894,369 1,894,369
Trade receivables JE R X - - 6,362 6,362
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t ATBH 78~ E fh FEURZ K
other receivables and other assets EBEE EMERE = = 834,942 834,942
Amount due from an associate [EU— R & AR - = 416,542 416,542
Cash and bank balances ReERBFITEH - - 57,333 57,333
76,028 360,289 3,427,428 3,863,745
Financial liabilities kA=A -RE

All financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 were financial liabilities at amortised cost,
other than financial guarantee contracts are measured
at the higher of the ECL allowance and the amount
initially recognised less the cumulative amount of income
recognised.

R 2024 F K 2023%F 12 A31H » K&
EfEcmEBEYAKRBHEKNATE

MERAE -
REHREE

K BERE ORI B
EREGBRNEER S

WERHN R ASERERNRSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

33 Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of
trade receivables, financial assets included in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, amounts due from joint
ventures, loan receivables, restricted bank balances, cash
and bank balances, financial liabilities included in accrued
charges, rental deposits and other payables and the current
portion of borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the directors
of the Company is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance department reports directly to
the directors and the audit committee of the Company.
At each reporting date, the finance department of the
Group analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the directors of the Company. The valuation process and
results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year
for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

33 Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current portion of amount due from
an associate and borrowings have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
assessed to be insignificant. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, since their carrying amounts are not
significantly different from their respective fair values, no
disclosure of fair values of these financial instruments is
made.

The fair values of the listed equity investments are based
on their quoted market prices. The fair values of certain
club debentures have been valued based on historical
transaction price from the relevant institutions, which are
classified as Level 2. The fair values of unlisted securities
and certain unlisted funds are based on adjusted net
assets approach by adjusting the book value of assets and
liabilities of investees to their fair values, or estimated by
using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the
contractual disposal price of an unlisted security.

The fair value of the non-performing asset portfolio is
estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and the aggregate of the values of the underlying collateral
secured to the respective outstanding receivables owned
by the creditors. The Group’s own non-performance risk
for non-performing asset portfolio as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

3B TMIBEZARERLIAE

48

&

BRI RAERAAZ AR BRI L
LI

B — KRB & R B R REROIERE
B AARBEERFEREAAIHIT
BERzMERELUGER EREAR
N TEEE BMRTEEHRKIR SR
Mt E - N2024 4% K 2023412 A
A BAAREEAEEBERZTELR
Mol e AREEBETEALT
BER-ARAEERR BARHEEE
HEEANARETEFPREEZE &
WEFEZSSHRIANAAE:-

FHRAREZ AABETIERET S
WBEBE - ETEMEFZANET
RIEARBEEEZRHEBREEME
BOIRE2R - FFEMEHRRETIHE
MESZARBEIERRERRZE
ENAEREERABREEARE R
BRABFEELETE ARE—]A
FLEMEFZENLESHRERTR
RAenERA At -

TREEHEAEZARBNERAEEM
KRR ERARBRNTAEZBRE &
MEEAFMEE S REBRBKEIE
HERZBEERAR 2 REBRR
FEH R R & RS HEITHET - R 2024
FR2023F12A31H  AEERTR
BEMREGARX 2ENRBRETH AN
TRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

33 Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (Continuead)

The directors of the Company believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in
profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of unlisted equity securities, unlisted
funds and non-performing asset portfolio:

3B TMIBAZARERLIAE

/43 )

4

&

ARBEERR ABERXMASH
2t anE GEARE BN RK)
RAREHRRESR G ARD) BEE
ERMmEPRRZREEZEE-

TXHIFELTRAZS I LHE
R TREEMABENERTAE
R ARBHE

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs
HEF & EATTEERABE

™ 2023

Unlisted equity securities and ~ Adjusted net asset approach

unlisted funds

Book value of assets and liabilities 203 289
of the investees adjusted to their

fair value (HK$ million)

FEMRAEFRFLTES SRBOFEEL

RRERAZEERAENEE

ERREENAE(BEET)

Non-performing assets portfolio - Discounted cash flow approach  Aggregate of the valuation of the 24 140

individual underlying collateral

secured to the respective

outstanding receivables owned
by the creditors (HK$ million)

FREEAR FRASRER

HEEAMBEENREAEEE

PR ERIERER R
MtERE(BEET)

A 1% increase/decrease in the fair values of assets and
liabilities of the investees would result in an increase/
decrease in the fair value of the unlisted equity securities
and unlisted funds of HK$2,030,000 (2023: HK$2,890,000).

A 1% increase/decrease in the fair value of the collateral
for the respective non-performing assets would result in an
increase/decrease in the fair value of the non-performing
assets portfolio of HK$240,000 (2023: HK$1,400,000).

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

WERERAMNEEMABZ ALEE
Mm% B EBIE LT RAE
FRIFELETESHIAMBEENHD
2,030,0007% 7T (2023 £ : 2,890,000 %
)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B1 % 3R & M 5+

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
33 Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 33 SMIAZAABERAABER
Instruments (Continued) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy AREER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TERETASESMIAZ A RER
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: =255
Fair value measurement using
EATIREZAAERNE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
REBWE  EATEE EXTAEE
ZHE BABE BABE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
HK$'000 TR (FE14) ($24) (5E34)

Assets measured at fair value as at R2024F 12531 H
31 December 2024: BAABHEZRE -

Financial assets at far value through ~ A AR B EEEEH
profit or loss AARRNEREE 7,514 23,534 249,294 280,342

Assets measured at fair value as at Ro023%# 12/31H
31 December 2023: BARETEZEE -

Financial assets at fair value through AR LBzt 2 BEZEETA

profit o loss BafemEE 16,534 1,640 418,143 436,317
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there #H E£2024F K2023F 12 A31 B I F
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level B eREENSRHEBERERNFE IR
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both BE 2Rz MEB M ARBERE T
financial assets and financial liabilities. meE A\skE N EIH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
33 Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 33 SMIAZAABERAABER
Instruments (Continued) (4Z)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DAREER(E)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 TR FBIFAZ AR B EEFIT
during the year are as follows:
Financial
assets
CRMEE
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1 H 741,790
Disposals of financial assets at fair value through ~ HEZREIM AR BEFELHE BT A
profit or loss measured at fair value in Level 3 EalemEE (217,934)
Total loss recognised in profit or loss (#) RIBRERZEIBETE W) (96,912)
Exchange realignment ME H T (8,801)
At 31 December 2023 M 2023F 12 A 31 H 418,143
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of (#) B IEREHKIFEEEN KR ER
reporting period (96,912)
At 1 January 2024 72024F1 A1 8 418,143
Disposals of financial assets at fair value through ~ HEREIR A EFTE B EE BT A
profit or loss measured at fair value in Level 3 EaNemEE (83,272)
Total loss recognised in profit or loss (#) RIERERZEIBEEW (79,112)
Exchange realignment PE 3 A& (6,465)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12 A31H 249,294
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of (#) B &R G RIFH EEN
reporting period sk Eia (79,112)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE
34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
borrowings, amounts due from an associate and joint
ventures, restricted bank balances and bank balances and
cash. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The directors of the Company review and
agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost using
a mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of borrowings had
increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables held
constant, the loss before taxation of the Group, through the
impact on floating rate borrowings, would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$20,390,000 (2023:
HK$20,951,000).

Foreign currency risk

The major financial assets and liabilities of the Group are
denominated in the functional currency of the respective
group entities. Other than a loan receivable which is
denominated in United States dollars, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency exchange risk is insignificant as the majority of
the Group’s transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity.

SR BRRME

34 SREREEBEREE

AEBEZETESRTABREER &
W—RBERAREELENR  ZR
HRITERRBRITERLES - ZF
ETRMTAZEIZRAER/AKERH
LEREES AEEARUERSE
ZHEMEREENAE BEEXE
HEEE -

AEEeRMIAMEAZZRR AT
EEbs - JNERE - EERERRREE
TR ARNAESEHNIREEH
B PR IER R 2 BUR - WA o

MEE R

AEEEY 2T HNEEEER

Eﬁﬁé%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ2$ﬁ
EERER - AKEYEERITESRE
T AR EER - AEE XA E
ERATENRERESEREMEMRA -

R2024F 12 A31 8 » fEFTE E A& &
REFTEHNBERT  MERFE LA
Tk1% AR FEFIRERZZE
AEBKRBMAEEBEN DL
20,390,000 7T (20234 : 20,951,000
BT °

SN LB

AEETECHEERABASRE
ERMINEEHE BRUXITHE
ZEWERI RRREER/AE
EFEENINERRY K REAS
AEENAKBOIRGIUNEHBIEEE
BHREERETE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes
(2023: Nil).

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity
security price risk. The directors manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with difference risk
profiles.

Credit risk

The Group only trades with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise loans receivable, amounts due from joint ventures
and an associate, restricted bank balances and cash and
bank balance, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

For the Group’s trade receivables, since the Group only
trades with recognised and creditworthy third parties,
there is no requirement for collateral. Concentration
of credit risk is managed by counterparty. There is no
significant concentration of credit risk for the Group’s trade
receivables.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B1 % 3R & M 5+

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. The amounts represented gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the
financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2024

34

TREAREEBBEREEK @)

FERE (&)

REERRFREER

TERETERAEEFERRNEE
EzkeaEERR (EERaHER
B BRIEEM S ERBEAEMN LI
AN S ) - A R 2024 F K 2023
FI2ANBNFLEBES B -FTITe
BASHAEAEFABRERTBERE
AEBRZEERR

MR20245%12831H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
REFR 2HEAEEFR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 3 approach
HK$'000 T F-E& FER B A%
Trade receivables eI ER R - - - 9,486 9,486
Loan receivables EWER
- Doubtful* — g - 95,610 2,140,208 - 2,235,818
Financial assets included in FARS - BEH
deposits, prepayments and REMERTZ
other receivables CHEE
- Normal* - 60,349 - - - 60,349
- Doubtful* — g - 263,480 711,299 - 974,779
Amount due from an associate  JEM—REE DA
- Doubtful* — g - - 504,829 - 504,829
Amounts due from joint ventures JEMRA & E 3
- Normal* ——&* 212,545 - - - 212,545
Restricted bank deposits RRERTER
—Not yet past due — WRBEH 8,518 - - - 8,518
Cash and bank balances ReRRTEH
—Not yet past due —HRB 4,908 - - - 4,908
286,320 359,090 3,356,336 9,486 4,011,232
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Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

34 cREBEEEERBEE)

FERE (&)

REBEBRFEER(E)

72023412 A31 H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 AES
EEEE HEHEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

HK$'000 T FBe FRE FoRE BlehE @i
Trade receivables FEYeBRSR - - - 6,362 6,362
Loan receivables JERER

- Normal* —-—f* 95,610 - - - 95,610

- Doubtful* — g - 261,589 1,995,083 - 2,256,672
Financial assets included in FARS - BER

deposits, prepayments and REMERZ 2

other receivables PRAE

- Normal* -—K* 346,423 - - - 346,423

- Doubtful* — g - 42,164 645,671 - 687,835
Amount due from an associate  JEM— KB & A A

- Doubtfu* — A& - 515,742 - - 515,742
Amounts due from joint BUAELER

ventures

- Normal* - 222,313 - - - 222,313
Cash and bank balances Re RIS

~Not yet past due — KRB 57,333 = = = 57,333

721,679 819,495 2,640,754 6,362 4,188,290

* The credit quality of loan receivables, financial assets * MEWER  FTAKS  BAREE

included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables
and amounts due from an associate and joint ventures is

considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B1 % 3R & M 5+

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
borrowings. In addition, banking facilities have been put in
place for contingency purposes.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of
the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual

undiscounted payments.

As at 31 December 2024

34

TREAREEBBEREEK @)

RBETRERE

AEBEZBERRBNEBMBER
BRESFHEMEEBEEFRE o Lo
ERZRITRUE  WBTKRZE -

TRBARBASORBRNIRAEHE
TRABEZIHBER -

72024512 H31H

In the
Within one third to
year or In the fifth years, Beyond
on demand second year inclusive five years
R-FRz RE=ZFRE
REX RE-F (EREEWE) REFUL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T i Tz Tz
Accrued charges, rental g -GNl 3k
deposits and other REMER T
payables 668,105 - - - 668,105
Borrowings EFS 3,429,801 9,491 46,291 319 3,485,902
Lease liabilities HESRE 4,009 3,484 9,222 16,099 32,904
Financial guarantee contracts ~ EA IS ERA ) 1,596,748 - - - 1,596,748
5,698,753 12,975 55,513 16,418 5,783,659
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 34 SREMREEEERBEKE)
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESER(Z)
As at 31 December 2023 R 2023%F 12 A31 H
In the
Within one third to
year or Inthe fifth years, Beyond
on demand second year inclusive five years Total
R—F R REZZERF
REX RE_E (RRERME) REFHE e
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAT FAT FET TET TAT
Accrued charges, rental [EErER - HKEe
deposits and other REMERHK
payables 376,671 - - - 376,671
Borrowings & 4,054,940 43,644 55,275 - 4,153,859
Lease liabilties HERE 5214 5,507 16,913 32,744 60,398
Financial guarantee contracts ~ B1 5 ZRA ) 2,839,041 - - - 2,839,041
7,275,866 49171 72,188 32,744 7,429,969
Capital management BEARER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 1231 HIFFE
34 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 34

Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total borrowings over equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

TREAREEBBEREEK @)

EXEE(E)

AEERBEERBLREREL
BRALL XTI A B RABRER AKX R R H
BARMGEBRES L - REEHMER - K
SEZEERBHLEMAT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short-term borrowings %= HRfE 3K 3,411,554 3,485,049

Long-term borrowings RHEIER 34,166 66,887

Total borrowings BB 3,445,720 3,551,936
Equity attributable to owners of A B ARG AR HE

the Company 2,323,551 3,119,792

Gearing ratio BEAEHLE 148% 114%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
35 Statement of Financial Position of the Company 35

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AR AR T R

BRARANREMRNTHMRREK

ERIMT

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment properties TEMEE 22,006 24,001
Property, plant and equipment S E S 31,476 34,323
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RERIELETHE R A 84,827 84,827
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENGIEN 3,195,099 4,228,542
Amount due from an associate JEUR — Rt N B R 10,410 10,410
Financial assets at fair value through LAREAEAEEHTA
profit or loss Bl emEE 1,640 1,640
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 3,345,458 4,383,743
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other & BRI E M ERGK
receivables 51,873 49,843
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL B B A Bl R 143,660 143,795
Financial assets at fair value through LWAREAEAEEH:TA
profit or loss BEalemEE 12,544 21,522
Loan receivables JEURE 3K 304,180 365,935
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 1,244 2,831
Total current assets RBEELE 513,501 583,926
Total assets BERE 3,858,959 4,967,669
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Accrued charges, rental deposits and EsrEA ABiEe Rk
other payables H TR 41,691 40,024
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1~ BT BB A B 3K 1,494,227 1,526,528
Total current liabilities BB EEE 1,535,918 1,566,552
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

35 ARDQFBIRREKE)

35 Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(Continued)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BEREBEE (1,022,417) (982,626)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERABAE
LIABILITIES 2,323,041 3,401,117
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 8,863 8,863
Total non-current liabilities EREBEERE 8,863 8,863
Net assets FEE 2,314,178 3,392,254
EQUITY B RE
Share capital ;&S 3,626,781 3,626,781
Reserves (note) R (Ha) (1,312,603) (234,527)
2,314,178 3,392,254
Zhang Wenguang Weng Jian
RXE S
Director &% Director %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
35 Statement of Financial Position of the Company 35 AQTMBARREKE)
(Continued)
Note: Biat -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARFEBRRAOT -
Asset
revaluation Accumulated
reserve losses Total
BEESMMHE At BB st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 202341 A 18 96,960 (132,422) (35,462)
Loss for the year FANEBE - (197,784) (197,784)
Other comprehensive loss for the year A H th & [ &8 (1,281) - (1,281)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 A& [H &5 184258 (1,281) (197,784) (199,065)
Transfer to accumulated losses upon R HE ¥R EZ S
disposal of properties RitEE (58,023) 58,023 =
At 31 December 2023 and R2023% 12 A31 B
1 January 2024 202441 A 18 37,656 (272,183) (234,527)
Loss for the year FANEBE - (1,075,255) (1,075,255)
Other comprehensive loss for the year &R H b 2 @ EE (2,821) - (2,821)
Total comprehensive loss for the year G A2 E E 184258 (2,821) (1,075,255) (1,078,076)
At 31 December 2024 R2024% 12 A31H 34,835 (1,347,438) (1,312,603)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

36

Litigation

The Company has received a civil judgement (the
“Judgement”) dated 13 May 2024 issued by the
Intermediate People’s Court of Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province in relation to a litigation (the “Litigation”) brought by
a creditor of certain secured other borrowing (the “Plaintiff’),
against, among others, (a) the Company as guarantor; (b)
certain subsidiaries as guarantors and borrowers; and (c) a
substantial shareholder and two independent third parties
as chargors (the “Defendants”).

The Plaintiff demanded, among others, that (i) the borrowers
to repay the Plaintiff the Overdue Other Borrowing with
a principal amount of approximately RMB177 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$191 million): (i) the
borrowers to repay the Plaintiff the outstanding interests
with penalties amounting to RMB59 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$64 million) as of 30 April 2024, and from
30 April 2024, the default interests shall be calculated based
on the principal amount of the Overdue Other Borrowing of
approximately RMB177 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$191 million) at 24% per annum until the actual
settlement date; (jii) the Plaintiff is entitled to a priority right
to compensation from the proceeds of securities provided
by the chargors; (iv) the guarantors shall be jointly liable for
the claims; and (v) the legal fees incurred in relation to the
Litigation shall be borne jointly by the Defendants.

36

RAREEEEREBMNTHRBRAR
EBR 2024 F5 1B H 2 RE ¥
RAERD  AABE—EBETEER
REMERNERA (RS @ (HAH
B @A AB (ERERA) : 0)ET
MEAR (TERAERARERA) &)
—ZFERRRWNEBLE=H ({ER
EHA) (T4 ]) B2 FFR ([FFAD) °

REER(EFBE) ((BRARRSE
BEAHEMERASBENHNARE
177,000,000 7t (8 & 7 49 191,000,000
BIT) - ()E = 2024F4A30H - &
RARMFREEEREERN S IWE N
£ 3 A R #59,000,0007T (B E R4
64,000,000/ 7T) + B20244 4 430 H
B - HE R B AR HR 8 B E M S SRR
&R AR ¥177,000,0007T (FHE 7
#7191,000,000 7870 ) I & F 24% 51 & -
BEEZEWRBEERBAL: \REASF
BRBRTARBENELMEGRPES
BREE: (WERABZRREREE
HEAE: RVVHFREENEZRZEHR
B S A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12531 HIFF/E
36 Litigation (Continued)

37

Pursuant to the Judgement, taking effect immediately,
freeze (i) the bank deposits in the certain bank accounts of
the Group (note 22); (i) certain interests in associates (note
16); (iii) certain financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (note 18); and (iv) certain equity interests of subsidiaries
of the Group, and the total value of the assets frozen in
this Litigation is limited to approximately RMB236 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$255 million).

As at the reporting date, this case has been under the
jurisdiction of the Intermediate People’s Court of Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province. The directors of the Company
are of the view that provision for the outstanding interests
with penalties and default interests incurred thereon
have been recorded as accrued charges (note 23) in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024 after taking into account of the current
situation of the Litigation as stated above and the legal
advice from the legal adviser.

Other than the Litigation mentioned above, the Group has
no significant litigation during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Events After the Reporting Period

(i) On 24 February 2025, East Gate (Beijing) Property
Management Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party (the “Purchaser 1”), pursuant to which the
Purchaser 1 has agreed to purchase, and the Vendor
has agreed to sell, the investment property located
in Beijing at the consideration of RMB10,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,062,000). Details
of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 February 2025.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
REFBEZEREERFER QA

36

37

TE N /455 )
i NED),

BIEFHR  BIERENAEES TRTT
BREP/RITER (BT eE22) 5 (i) PO B
EARIME THEZ (MiE16) : (i)E T
UARBEFEBHEEHTABENE
MEE MFE18): RMATEWEA
A E TRAEZ M AFRRED
BEREBETBALN AR 236,000,000
7T (A8 & 7 49255,000,0007T) °

REBH HRGEHERE EM
FRARERERE - &5 Rk Ll FFR
MIRRRARBRAERZERE AR
AESRARKEENSERBZLM
EECZERRENFEELINEED
RAREBE 202412 A 31 BB B
RARANE AR BEFEA (F:E23) o

Br Bl SRFASN - REB R E =2024F
12A31 AL FEIWHME KFR -

BEHRER

() HR2025F2H248 AR REE
2EMBARIRE (R MES
BERAB([ER]) B—REL
E=H(EBEF—DIILEZE W
Bt - BEF—RAEBEE mMEAS
AELEMRILRNEEYE
KB A AR # 10,200,000 7T (4
ER#11,062,000787T) ° K55
BN ARXR B AE2025F2 A
24 B 7 R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bt I8 R &k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Bt FE2024F 1231 HIFFE

37 Events After the Reporting Period (Continued)

U

(i)

(Continued)

On 25 March 2025, the Vendor entered into two
sale and purchase agreements with an independent
third party (the “Purchaser 2”), pursuant to which the
Purchaser 2 has agreed to purchase, and the Vendor
has agreed to sell, the investment properties located
in Beijing at the total consideration of RMB27,049,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$29,288,000) which
shall be satisfied by setting off against the outstanding
interest payables from other borrowings. Details
of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 March 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company had entered into a memorandum of
understanding with Guangdong Zhuguang, pursuant
to which the Company intends to sell and Guangdong
Zhuguang intends to acquire all the Loans Interest,
whereas the consideration shall be settled by
Guangdong Zhuguang by way of assuming the
obligations of a subsidiary of the Company under the
Entrusted Loans and interest accrued thereon and
assignment of certain properties located in the PRC
by Guangdong Zhuguang to the Company.

Further details of the transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 18 March 2024, 27
June 2024 and 22 January 2025 and the Company’s
circular dated 12 February 2025. The transaction was
approved by a resolution of the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 28 February 2025.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the transaction has not been
completed and is still in progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & Bt 18 3R 3k Mt 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE

37 Events After the Reporting Period (Continuead)

(i)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Tai
Zhou Dong Thai Petrochemical Company Limited
(the “Tai Zhou Dong Thai”), a limited liability company
established in the PRC and an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, signed a division
agreement (the “Division Agreement”) with its minority
shareholders, which holds 31.02% equity interest
of Tai Zhou Dong Thai, to divide certain assets
and liabilities of Tai Zhou Dong Thai. Pursuant to
the Division Agreement, the completion date of Tai
Zhou Dong Thai’s division is 15 February 2025 (the
“Completion Date”), which is the effective date of
the business registration change. The key asset of
Tai Zhou Dong Thai is a 51% equity interest in a
joint venture, ZHYQ. Upon the Completion Date, the
Group’s effective equity interest in ZHYQ and Tai Zhou
Dong Thai are 35.18% and 98.69% respectively, and
the effective equity interest in ZHYQ owned by the
Group has not changed.

38 Approval of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 28
March 2025.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY B & #f =

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHZ2024F 12531 HIFF)E
Year ended 31 December
BZ12ABLEEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HKS Milion — HK$ Milion ~— HK$ Milion — HK$ Million |z L6201 211
BE#T BEBT BEET BE#T BEET
Results E
Revenue YA 89.1 87.4 96.9 97.0 89.4
Profit/(loss) for the year AARHEBAREER
attributable to owners of the w2/ (B18)
Company (317.6) (1,452.6) (734.6) (947.4) (756.7)
At 31 December
R12831H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HKS Million HK$ Million HKS Million A 63/ HKS Million
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Investment properties and REMERDE  BEX
property, plant and equipment & 2,875.2 3,001.7 2,547.3 2,187.8 2,067.5
Other intangible assets HbBvEE - 2.8 = = -
Right-of-use assets TRELE 54.2 51.8 437 395 25.6
Interests in associates YNl E 85.6 335.5 309.5 2741 257.7
Interests in joint ventures a %ﬁ%*& 3,033.4 1,568.4 1,506.3 1,402.9 1,263.0
Financial assets at fair value NEFEEEEY
though profit or loss nJrJ\T@ T EREE
- non-current e i 2.8 167.6 16 1.6 1.6
Amount due from an associate  fEI—FKEEL A FIE
- non-current i - 560.7 439.5 4165 409.5
Amount due from joint ventures  [EMA S ER
- non-current i 969.9 1,748.0 - 216.2 202.7
Loan receivables - non-current  JEWE R —3ER 8 231.9 = = = =
Net current assets/(iabilties) FROEE/(BF) 3,221.1 1,776.3 24264 (781.0) (1,391.9)
10,4741 9,212.8 7,274.3 3,757.6 2,835.7
Share capital A 3,626.8 3,626.8 3,626.8 3,626.8 3,626.8
Reserves i 2,933.0 1,604.6 395.6 (507.0) (1,303.2)
Equity attrbutable to owners of AR R BEA A JE(L R iE
the Company 6,559.8 5,231.4 4,022.4 3,119.8 2,323.6
Non-controlling interests JEE IR 824.2 486.9 472.1 366.6 311.2
Non-current liabilities FEnBAEE 3,090.1 3,494.6 2,779.8 271.2 200.9
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SUMMARY OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES IR E Y %=

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BtFE2024F 1231 HIFFE
The following is a list of the Group’s investment properties at 31 THAAREBER2024F12 A31 HHREY
December 2024: E L
Investment properties in the PRC NRPEZRENE
Location Lease term Purpose Gross area
i B THAHBR Ag BEEE
Sq. ft.
FR
1. Basement 1, Basement 2, Level O and Level 1 to 3 of Medium Commercial 700,427
East Gate Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng term lease EES
District, Beijing, The PRC FHIRE
B R R R SRR A 19T RIRE S MEE
WE2ME - REKR1EEIE
2. Level 4 to 31 of South Apartment Tower (including Long term lease Residential 31,171
401, 402, 403, 405, 406, 407, 408, 501, 502, 5083, RHESE FE
505, 506, 507, 508, 30/F and 31/F), East Gate Plaza
39 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing,
The PRC
PR AT RNERTP AR RRESHEHEASE
E£ 4% 31E (815401, 402, 403, 405, 4086, 407, 408,
501, 502, 503, 505, 506, 507, 508, 30#& & 311&)
3. Level 4 to 31, North Apartment Tower, East Gate Long term lease Residential 339,993
Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, RHAHE x=
Beijing, The PRC
FREEEATEBRERFHIORERRESILEATE
E4E31
4, Portion of Level 2-5, 6 and 8 of Hua Po Lou, No. 28 Medium Commercial 10,540
Dong Zhong Jie Jia, Dongcheng District, Beijing, The term lease [GES
PRC (Note) REIEE
REJE AT RKE R A28 ERIEE2ES - 6
N 8E&RS (H:t)

Note: The legal titles of the properties have not been passed to the Group
at 31 December 2024.

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited
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